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PROJECT MKULTRA, THE CTA’S PROGRAM OF
RESEARCH IN BEHAVIORAL MODIFICATION

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 1977

.8, SENATE,
Srrecr CoMMITTRE 0N INTFLLIGENCE,
AND STBCOMMITTEE ON HEALTH
AND SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH
or THE Coayirres ox JHunman RESOURCES,
. Waskington, D.C.

The comimittees met, pursuant to notice, at 9:07 am. In room 1202,
Dirlesen Senate Office Building, Senator Danicl XK. Inowye-{chairman
of the Select Committee on Intelligence) presiding.

Present : Senators Inouye (presiding), Kennedy, Goldwater, Bayh,
Hathaway, Huddleston, Hart, Schweiker, Case, Garn, Chafee, Lugar
and Wallop. |

Also present : William G. Miller, staff director, Select-Committee on
Tnielligence; Dr. Lawrence Tforowitz. staff director, Subcommittee
on Tlealth and Scientific Researeh; and professional staff members of
both committees. '

Senator Ixouye. The Senate Select Committee on Intelligence is
meeting today and is joined by the Subcommittee on Health and
Scientific Research chaired by Senator Edward Kennedy of Mas-
sachusetts and Senator Richard Schweiker of Pennsylvania. Senator
Hathaway and Senator Chafee are members of hoth committees. We
are to hear testimony from the Director of Central Intelligence, Adm.
Stansfield Turner, and from other Agency witnesses on lssues concern-
ing new documents supplied to the committee in the last week on drug
testing conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency.

Tt should be made clear from the outset that in general, we are
focusing on events that happened over 12 or as long as 25 years ago.
It should be emphasized that the programs that are of greatest con-
cern have stopped and that we are reviewing these past events in
order to better understand what statutes and other guidelines might be
necessary to prevent the recurrence of such abuses in the future. We
also need to know and understand what is now being done by the CTA
in the field of behavioral research to be certain that no current abuses
are OCCUrFIng.

T want to commend Admiral Turner for his full cooperation with,
this committee and with the Subcommittee on Health in recognizing
that this issue needed our attention. The CIA has assisted our com-
mittees and staffs in their investigative efforts and in arriving at
remedies which will serve the best interests of our country.

(1)
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The reappearance of reports of the abuses of the drug testing pro-
graim and veports of other previously unknown drug programs and
projects for behavioral control underline the necessity for effective
oversight procedures hoth in the executive branch and in the Con-
gress. The Select Committee on Intelligence has been working very:
closely with President Carter, the Vice President, and Admiral
Turner and his associates in developing basic concepts for statutory
guidelines which will govern all activities of the intelligence agencies
of the Tinited States.

Tn fact, it is my expectation that the President will soon annonnce
his decisions on how he has decided the intelligence agencies of the
United States shall be organized. This committee will be working
closely with the President and Admiral Turner in placing this new
structure under the law and to develop effective oversight procedures.

Tt is clear that cffective oversight requires that information must
be full and forthcoming. Full and timely information is obviously
necessary if the committee and the public is to be confident that any
{ransgressions can be dealt with quickly and forcefully.

One purpose of this hearing is to give the committee and the public
an understanding of what new information has been discovered that
adds to the knowledge already available from previous Church and
Kennedy inquiries, and to hear the reasons why these documents were
not available to the Church and Kennedy committees. It is also the
purpose of this hearing to address the issues raised hy any additional
illegal or improper activities that have cmerged from the files and to
develop remedics to prevent snch improper activities from occurring
again,

Finally, there is an obligation on the part of both this committee
and the CTA to make every effort to help those individuals or institu-
tions that may have been harmed by any of these improper or illegal
activities. I am certain that Admiral Turner will work with this com-
mittee to see that this will be done.

T would now like to welcome the most distinguished Senator from
Massachusetts, the chairman of the Iealth Subcommittee, Senator
Kennedy. :

Senator Kexxepy. Thank vou very much, Mr. Chairman, We are
delighted to join together in this very important area of public in-
gquiry and public interest.

Some 2 vears ago. the Senate Health Subcommittee heard chilling
testimony about the human experimentation activities of the Central
Iutelligence Agency. The Deputy Director of the CIA revealed that
over 30 wmiversities and institutions were involved in an “extensive
testing and experimentation” program whieh included covert drag
tests on unwitting eitizens “at all social levels, high and low, native
Americans and foreign.” Several of these tests involved the adminis-
tration of LI to “unwitting subijects in social situations.”

At least one death. that of Dy, Olsen, resulted from these activities,
The Acency itself acknowledged that these tests made little scientific
sense. The acents doing the monitoring were not qualified scientific
observers, The test. subjects were seldom accessible beyond the first
hours of the test. Tn a number of instances, the test subject became 11l
for hours or days, and effective followup was impossible.
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Other experiments were equally offensive. For example, heroin
addicts were enticed into participating in LSD experiments m order
to get a reward—lieroin,

Perhaps most. disturbing of all was the fact that the extent of ex-
perimentation on human subjects was unknown. The records of all
these nctivities were destroved in January 1973, at the instruction of
then CTA Director Richard Helms. In spite of persistent inquiries by
both the Health Subcommittee and the Intelligence Committee, no
additional records or information were forthcoming. And no one—
no single individual—could be found who remembered the details, not
the Director of the CTA. who ordered the documents destroyed, not
the official responsible for the program, nor any of his associates.

We believed that the record, incomplete as it was, was ag complete
as it was going to be. Then one individual, through a Freedom of In-
formation request, accomplished what two U.S. Senate committees
could not. He spurred the agency into finding additional records per-
taining to the CIA’s program of experimentation with human subjects,
These new records were discovered by the agency in March., Their
existence was not made lnown to the Clongress until July.

The tecords reveal a far more extensive series of experiments than
had previously been thought. Eighty-six universities or imstitutions
were involved, New instances of unethical behavior were revealed.

The intelligence commuuity of this Nation, which requires a shroud
of secrecy in order to operate, has a very sacred trust from the
American people. The CTA’ program of human experimentation of
the fifties and sivties violated that trust. It was violated again on the
day the bulk of the agency’s records were destroyed in 1973. It is
violated each time a responsible official refuses to recollect the details
of the program. The best safeguard against abuses in the future is a
complete public accounting of the abuses of the past.

T thinls this is illustrated, as Chairman Inouye pointed out. These
are issues, are questions that happened in the fifties and sixties, and
oo back some 15, 20 years ago, but they are front page news today, as
we see in the major newspapers and on the television and in the media
of this conntry; and the reason they are, I think, 1s because it just con-
tinuously begins to trickle out, sort of, month after month, and the
best way to put this period behind us, obviously, is to have the full
information, and I think that is the desire of Admiral Turner and of
the members of this committee.

The Central Intelligence Agency drugged American cifizens with-
out their knowledge or consent. It used university facilities and per-
sonnel without their knowledge. It funded leading researchers, offen
without their knowledge.

These institutes, these individuals, have a right to know who they
are and how and when they were used. As of today, the Agency itself
refuses to declassify the names of those institutions and individuals,
quite appropriately, T might say, with recard to the individuals under
the Privacy Act. Tt seems to me to be a fundamental responsibility to
notify those individuals or institutions, rather. I think many of them
were caucht np in an unwitting manner to do research for the
Acency. Many researchers, distinguished researchers, some of our
most outstanding members of our seientific community, involved in
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this network, now really do not know whether they were lnvoh’ed Or
not, and it seems to me that the whole health and climate in terms of
our university and our scientific and health facilities are entitled to
that response.

So, T infend to do all I can to persnade the Agency to, at the very
least, officially inform those Institutions and individuals involved.

Two vears ago, when these abuses were first. revealed, 1 infroduced
legislation, with Senator Schweiker and Senator Javits, designed to
minimize the potential for any simifar abuses in the future. That
legislation expanded the jurisdiction of the National Commission on
Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research to cover all
federally funded research involving human subjects. The research
initially was just directed toward HEW activities, but this legislation
covered DOD as well asthe CTA.

This Nation has a biomedical and behavioral research capability
second to none. It has had for subjects of HEW funded research for
the past 3 years a system for the protection of human subjects of bio-
medical and behavioral research second to none, and the Iuman Ex-
perimentation Commission has proven its value. Today’s hearings
and the record already established underscore the need to expand its
jurisdiction.

The CIA supported that legislation in 1975, and it passed the Senafe
unanimously last year. I behow it is needed in order to assure all
onr people that they will have the degree of protection in hmman ex-
perimentation that thev deserve and hm*o every right to expect.

Senator Ixvouve. Thank you ver v much, Now we will proceed with
the Learings. Admiral Turner?

[The prepared statement of Admiral Turner follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ADMIRAL STANSFIELD TURNER, IMRECTOR OF (JENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE

Mr. Chairman: In my lelter to you of July 15, 1977, I reporfed our recent dis-
covery of seven boxes of documents related to Project MEKULTRA, a closely held
CIA project conducted from 19531964, Asg you may recall, MEULTRA wag an
“umbrella project” under which certain sensitive subprojects were funded, in-
volving among other things research on drugs and behavioral modification. IDur-
ing the Rockefeller Commission and Church CGommittee investigations in 1975,
the cryptonym became publicly known when details of the drug-related death of
Dr. Frank Olson were publicized. In 1953 Dr. Olson, a civilian employee of the
Army at Fort Detrick, leaped to hig death from a hotel room window in New
York City about a week after having unwittingly consumed L8 administered to
him as an experiment at a meeting of L8D resgearehers called hy CILA.

Most of what was known about the Agency’s involvement with hehavioral
drugs during the investigations in 1975 was contained in a report on I'roject
MEULTRA prepared by the Inspector General's office in 1963, As a result of
that report’s recommendations, unwitting testing of drugs on U.8. citizens was
subsequently discontinued. The MEULTR A-related report was made availahle to
fhe Church Committee investigators and to the staff of Senator Kennedy's Sub-
committee on ITealth. Until the recent discovery, it was helieved that all of the
MEULTRA {files dealing with behavioral medification had been destroyed in
1978 on the orders of the then retiring Chief of the Office of Technical Serviee,
with the authorization of the then DCI, as has heen previously reporfed. Alnost
all of the people who Lad had any connection with the aspects of the project
which interested Senate investigators in 1975 were no longer with the Agency
at that time. Thus, there was little detailed knowledge of the MKTLTRA sub-
projects available to CTA during the Church Coramittee investigafions. This
lack of available details, moreover, was probably not wholly attributable to the
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destruction of MKULTRA files in 1973 ; the 19638 report on MEULTRA by the
Inspector General notes on page 14 “Present practice is to maintain no records
of the planning and approval of test programs.”’

When I reported to vou last on fhis matter, my staff had not yet had an
opportunity to review the newly located material in depth. This has now heen
accomplished, and I am in a position to give you a description of the confents of
the recovered material. I DLelieve you will e most interested in the following
aspects of the recent discovery :

How the material was discovered and why it was not previously found;

The nuture of this recently located material; .

Tow much new information there is in the matertal which may not have
been previcusly known and reporfted to Senate investigators; and

What we believe the most significant aspects of this find to be.

To begin, s to how we discovered these materials, The material had been
sent {o our Retired Records Center outside of Washington and wasg discovered
there as a result of the extensive search efforts of an employee cliarged with re-
sponsibility for maintaining our holdings on behavioral drugs and for responding
to Freedom of Information Act reguests on this subject. During the Church
Commitiee investigation in 1975, searches for MK ULTRA-related material were
made by examining both the active and retired records of all branches of CIA
considered at all likely to have had association with MEULTRA documents. The
retired records of the Budget and Fiscal Section of the Branch responsible for
giiech worle were not searched, however, This was because financial papers as-
socinted with sensitive projects such as METULTRA were normally maintained
by the Branch itself nnder the project file, not by the Budget and Fiseal Section.
In the case at hand, however, the newly located material wag sent to the Re-
tired Records Center in 1970 by the Dudget and Fiscal Section as part of its
own retired holdings. The reason for this departure from normal procedure is not
known. As a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval and destruction
in 1973 by the then-retiring Director of the Office as well as discovery in 1975
by CIA officials responding fo Senate investigators.

The employee wlho located this material did so by leaving no stone anturned
in his efforts to respond to FOIA requests. He reviewed all listings of material
of this Branch stored at the Retired Records Center, including those of the
Budget and Fiscal Section and, thus, discovered the MEULTRA-related decu-
ments which had been missed in the previous searches. In sum, the Ageney failed
to uncover these particular documents in 1975 in the process onf attempting to
destroy them ; it similarly failed to locate them in 1975 in response to the Church
Committee hearings. I am convinced that there was no attempt to conceal this
material during the earlier searches,

Next, as to the nature of the recently located material, it iz important to
realize that the recovered folders are finanee folders. Tle bulk of the material in
them eonsists of approvals for advance of funds, vouchers, accountings, and the
like—most of which are not very informative as to the nature of the activifies
that were undertaken. Ocecasional project proposals or memoranda comment-
ing on some aspect of a subproject are scattered thronghout this material.
In general, however, the recovered material does not include status reports or
other docnments relatiug to operational considerations or progress in the various
subprojects, though some elaboration of the activities eontemplated does appear,
The recovered docnments fall roughly into three categories:

First, there are 149 AIKUTLTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have
gome connection with research into behavieral modification, drug acquisition
and testing or adminisfering drugs surreptitiously.

Secoud, there are two boxes of miscellaneous METLTRA papers, including
awlit reports and finaueial statements from “ent-out™ {(lL.e. intermediary)
funding mechanisms used to conceal CIA’s spousorship of various research
projects.

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain intelligence
activities previously funded under MEKULTRA which have nothing to de
either with behavioral modification, drugs, and toxius or with any other re-
lated matters.

e have attempted to group the activities covered by the 149 subprojects info
categories under descriptive headings, In broad oufline, at least, this presents the
econtenty of these files. The activities are placed in the following 15 categories:
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1. Research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol

17 subprojects probably not involving human testing;

14 subprojects definitely involving tests on human volunteers ;

19 subprojects probably including tests on human volunteers, While not
known, some of these subprojects may have included tests on nunwitting sub-
jects ag well;

6 subprojects involving tests on unwitting subjects.

% Researclh on hypnosis ; 8 subprojeects, including 2 involving hrpnosis and drugs
in combination.-

3. Acquisition of chemicals or drugs: 7 subprojects.

4. Agpects of magicians' art useful in covert nperations: e.g., surreptifions de-
livery of drug-related materials : 4 subprojects.

5. Studies of human behavior, sleep research, and behavioral changes during
psrehotherapy : 9 subprojects,

6. Library searches and attendance at seminars and international conferences
on hehavioral madifieation ; § subprojects.

7. Motivational studies, studies of defectors, assessment, and training tech-
niques: 23 subprojects.

8. Polyeraph research @ 8 subprojects.

9. Funding mechanisms for MKULTRA external research activities: 3
subprojects,

10. Research an drugs, toxins, and hiologicalg in human tissue; provision of
exotic pathogens and the capability to incorporate them in effective delivery
systems : 6 subprojects.

11. Activities whose abjectives eannot be determined from available documen-
tation : 3 subprojects.

12. Subprojects invoiving funding support for unspecified activities connected
with the Army’s Special Operations Division at Ft. Detrick, Md. This getivity is
ontline in Book I of the Chureh Committee Report, pp. 383-389. {See Appendix A,
pp. 6869, Under CIA's Project MENAOMI, the Army Assisted CIA in develop-
ing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery systems for use
againgt humans as well as against animals and erops. The ohjectives of these
subprojects cannot be identified from the recovered material beyond the faet
that the maoney was to be used where normal funding channels wounld require
more written or oral justification than appeared desirable for security reasons
or where operational considerations dictated short lead times tor purchases, About
$11.000 was involved during this period 1933-1960 : 3 subprojects.

13. 8ingle subprojects in snch areas as eifects of electro-shock, harassment tech-
nigunes for eoffensive use, analysis of extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays
and aeresols, and four subprojects involving erop and material sabotage.

14. One or two subprojects on each of the following :

“Blood Grouping’ research, controlling the activity of animals, energy
storage and transfer in organic systems; and

gtimuing and response in biological gystems,

15. Three subprojects cancelled before any work was done on them having to
do with Iaboratory drug screening, research on brain concussion, and research
on Liologically active materials ta he fested through the skin on human volunteers.

Now, as to how much new the recovered material adds to what has previously
heen repnrted to the Church Commiftee and to Senator Kennedy's Subeommittee
on Health on these topics, the answer is additional detail, for the most part: e.g,
the names of previeusly nnidentified researchers and instifutions associated on
pither a witting or unwitting basis with MEULTRA activities, and the names of
(IA afficials who approved or monitored the various subprojects. Some new sub-
gtantive maferial is also present: e.g., defails concerning proposals for experi-
mentation and clinical testing associated with various research projects, and &
possibly improper contfribution by CIA tn a private institution. However, the
principal types of activities included have. for the most part, either heen outlined
to some extent or generally described in what was previously available fo CIA
in the way of documentation angd was supplied by CIA to Senate investigators.
For example:

Financial dishursement records for the period 1960-1964 for 76 of the 148
numbered MEULTRA subprojects had heen recovered from the Office of Financa
hy OTA and were made available to the Church Committee investigators in August
or September 1975, '

The 1963 Inspector General report on MKULTRA made available to hoth the
Church Committee and Senator Kennedy’s Subcommitfee mentions electro-shock
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z;nd hﬁal;asszgm}t ;gubs’ranees (pp. 4, 16) ; q{wert testing on unwitting U.&. citizens
{pp. 7, JD—.L) t.ue gearch for new materials through arrangements with special-
ls_;t.s .111 ulllVer.‘SltlE.‘R, Dharmacentical houses, hospitals, state and federal institu-
ti_ons, and _prn'a'te_» Jgesearch organiy:ations (pp. 7, 9) ; and the fact that the Tech-
nical Service D1}'151011 of CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the conirol
of human behavior between 1953-1963 (p. 21).

] Thc; J;e}evant section of a 1937 Inspector General report on the Technical Serv-
fce Division was also made available to the Church Committee staff, That report
dxscqssez_-:. technzques fgr hur_nz.in assessment and unorthodox methods of com-
mlln}CE_itlon (p. 201) ; discrediting and disabling materials which can be covertly
ad.mlmstered (Dp 201-2022) ; studies on magiciung’ arts as applied to eovert gper-
ations (p. 202) ; specific funding mechanisms for research performed outside of
CIA (pp. 202-203, 205) ; research being done on “K” (knockout) material, alcohol
tolerance, and hypnotism (p. 203) ; research on LSD (p. 204) ; anti-personne]
harassment and assassination delivery systems including aerosol generators and
other spray devices (pp. 206-208) ; the role of Fort Detrick in suppert of CIA's
Biotogical/Chemieal Warfare capability (p. 208) ; and material sahotage research
(p. 208). Mueh of this material is reflected in the Church Committee Report,
Book T, 1. 385-422, (See Appendix A, pp. 65-102).

The most significant new data discovered are, first, the names of regearchers
and institutions who participated in the MEKULTRA project and, secondly, a
possibly improper contrilrution by CIA to a private institution. We are now in
possession of the names of 185 non-government researchers and assistants who
are identified in the recovered malerial dealing with the 149 subprojects, The
names of 80 ingtitufions where work was dene or with which these people were
affiliated are alsc.mentioned.

The institutions include 44 colleges or universities, 15 research foundations or
chemical or pharmaceutical companies and the like, 12 hospitals or clinies (in ad-
dition to those associated with universities), and 8 penal institutions. While the
identities of some of these people and institutions were kuown previously, the
diseovery af the new identities adds to our knowledge of MEULTRA.

The faets as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are as follows:
Omne project involves a contribution of 3375,000 to a building fund of a private
medical institution. The faef that a contribution was made was previously
known; indeed it was mentioned in a 1957 Inspector General report on the
Technical Service Division of CIA, pertinent portions of which had been re-
viewed by the Church Committee staff. The newly dizcovered material, however,
makes it clear that this eontribution was made through an intermediary, which
made it appear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution
was then matched by federal funds. The institution was not made aware of the
true source of the gift. This project was approved by the then DCI, and coneurred
in by CIA's top management at the time, including the then General Counsel who
wrote an opinion supporting the legality of the contribution.

The recently disecovered documents give a greater insight into the scope of the
unwitting drug testing but contribute little more than that. We now have col-
Inborating information that some of the unwitting drug testing was earried on
in safehonses in San Francisco and New York (lity, and we have identified that
three individuals were involved in this undertaking as opposed to the previonsly
reported one persen. We also know now that some unwitting testing took place
on eriminal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital and that, additional-
Iy, research was dohe on a knock-out or “K”7 drug in parallel with research to
develop pain Killers for cancer patients.

These, then are the principal findings identified to date in our review of the
recovered material. As noted earlier, we believe the detail on the identities of
researcliers and institutions involved in CIA’s sponsorship of drugs and be-
havioral modification iz a new element and one which poses a considerable prob-
lem. Most of the people and institutions invelved are not aware of Agency
sponsorship, We should certainly assume that the researchers and institutions
which cooperated with CIA on a witting basix acted in good falth and in the
belief that they were aiding their government in a legitimate and proper purpose.
I believe we all have a moral obligation to these researchers and instifutions to
protect them from any unjustified embarrassment or damage to their reputafions
which revelation of their identities might bring. In addition, T have a legal
obligation under the Privacy Act nol to publicly disclose the names of the in-
dividual resenarchers without their congent. This is especially true, of course, for



8

those researchers and institutions which were unwitting participants in CIA-
sponsored activities.

Nevertheless, recognizing the right and the need of both the Senate Select
Committee on Intelligence and the Senate Subconuniftee on [ealth o investigaie
the vircumstances of these activities in whatever detnil they consider necessary.
I am providing your Committee with all of the names on a classified basis, 1
hope that this will facilitate your investigation while protecting the individuals
and instifutions involved. I.et me omphasize that the MEULTRA sveufs are 12
to 2 years in the past. I assure yvon that the ¢TA is in no way engaged in either
witting or unwitting testing of drngs today.

Finally, T am working closely with the Attorney General and with the Secre-
tary of Health, Education and Welfare on this matter. We are making availahle
to the Attorney General whatever materinls lie may deem necessary to any
investigation he may elect to undertake. We are working with hoth the Attorney
General and the Secretary of Health, Edneation and Welfare to defermine
whether it is practicable from this new evidence to attempt to jdentify any of
the persons to whom drugs may have been administered nawitiingly., No such
names are part of these records, hut we are working to determine if there are
adeguate clues to lead to their identification @ and if %0, how to go abowt Tulfilling
the Government’s responsibilities in the marter.

TESTIMONY OF ADM, STANSFIELD TURNER, DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE, ACCOMPANIED BY FRANK LAUBINGER, OFFICE
OF TECHNICAL SERVICES; AL BRODY, OFFICE OF INSPECTOR
GENERAL; ERNEST MAYERFIELD, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL;
AND GEORGE I. CARY, LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL

Admiral Tur~er. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. T would like to begin
by thanking vou and Senator Kennedy for having a joint hearing this
morning. I hope this will expedite and facilitate our getting all the
information that both of your committees need into the record quickly.

I would like also to thank you both for prefacing the remarks today
by reminding us all that the events about which we are here to talk
are 12- to 24-years old. They in no way represent the current activities
or policies of the Central Intellicence Agency.

‘What we are here to do is to give vou all the information that we
now have and which we did not previously have on a subject known
as Project MKULTRA, a project which took place from 1353 to 1964.
It was an umbrella project under which there were numerous sub-
projects for research, among other things, on drugs and behavioral
modification. What the new material that we offer today is a sup-
plement to the considerable material that was made available in 1975,
during the Church committee hearings. and alzo to the Scnate Sub-
committee on Health and Scientific Research.

At that time, the CTA offered up all of the information and docu-
ments it believed it had available. The principal one available at that
time that gave the greatest amount of information on this subject
- wasa report of the CTA s Inspector General written in 1963, and which
led directly to the termination of this activity in 1964, 12 years ago.

The information available in 1975 to the varions investigating
groups was Indeed sparse, first because of the destruction of material
that took place in 1973, as detailed by Senator Kennedv a minute ago.
with the concurrence of the then Director of Clentral Intellioence and
under the supervision of the Director of the Offien of Technical
Services that supervised Project MKTULTRA.
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The material in 1975 was also sparse because most of the CIA people
who had been involved in 1953 to 1964 in this activity had retired from
the Ageney. T wonld further add that T think the material wag sparse
in part because it was the practice at that time not to keep detailed
records in this category,

Tor instance, the 1963 report of the Inspector General notes:

Present practice is to maintain no records of the planning and approval of
test programs.

In brief, there were few records to hegin with and less after the
destruction of 1973, ,

What I would like to do now, thongh, is to proceed and Jet you know
what the new material adds to our knowledge of this topic, and I
will start by describing how the material was discovered and why it
was not previously discovered. The material in question, some seven
boxes. had been sent to our Retired Records Center outside of the
Washington area. Tt was discovered there as the result of an extensive
search by an employee charged with the responsibility for maintain-
ing our holdings on behavioral drugs and for responding to Freedom
of Information Act requests on this subject.

During the Church committee investigation of 1975, scarches for
MEULTRA-related material were made by examining hoth the active
and the retired records of ail of the branches of CTA considered likely
to have had an association with MKULTRA documents. The retived
records of the Budget and Fiscal Section of the branch that was respon-
sible for such work were not searched, however. This was because the
financial paper associated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA
were normally maintained by the brancli itself under the project title,
MEKULTRA, not by the Budget and Fiscal Section under a special
budgot file.

In the case at hand, however, this newly located material had heen
sent to the Retired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiscal
Seetion of this branch as part of its own retired holidings. In short, what
should have been filed by the branch itself was filed by the Budgel
and Fiscal Section, and what should have been filed under the project
title, MKULTRA, was filed under budget and fiscal matters, The rea-
son for this departure from the normal procedure of that time is simply
not known, and as a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval
and destruction in 1973, as well as discovery m 1975.

The employee who located this material did so by leaving no stone
mnturned in his efforts to respond fo a Freedom of Information Act
request, or several of them, in fact. He reviewed all of the listings of
material of this branch, stored at the Retired Records Center, including
those of the Budget and Fiscal Scetion, and thus discovered the
MEULTRA-related documents, which had been missed in the previous
searches. '

In sum, the ageney failed to uncover these particnlar documents in
1973, in the process of attempting to destroy them. It similarly failed
to locate them in 1975, in response to the Church committee hearings.
I am personally persuaded that there is no evidence of any attempt to
conceal thig material during the earlier searches. Moreover, as we will
discuss as we proceed, T do not believe the material itself is such that
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there would be a motive on the part of the CTA to withhold this, having
disclosed what it did in 1975,

Next, let me move to the nature of this recently located material.
It 1s important to remember what I have just noted, that these folders
that were discovered are finance folders. The bulk of the material in
them consists of approvals for the advance of funds, vouchers, and
accountings and such. most of which are not very informative as to
the nature of the activities that they were supporting. Qccasional proj-
ect proposals or memoranda commenting on soine aspect of a subproject
are scattered throughout this material. In general, however, the re-
covered material does not include overall status reports or other docu-
ments relating to operational considerations, or to the progress on

~various subprajects, though some elaboration of the activities contem-
plated does appear from time to time.

There are roughly three categories of projects. First, there are 149
MEULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have some connec-
tion with research into behavioral modification, drug acquisition and
testing, or administering drngs surreptitionsly. Second, there ave two
boxes of miscellaneous MKULTRA papers, including audit reports
and financial statements from intermediary funding mechanisms used
to conceal CIA sponsorship of various research projects.

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain in-
telligence activities previously funded under MKULTRA but which
have nothing to do either with behavioral modifications, drugs and
toxins. or any closely related matter.

We have attempted to group the activitics covered by the 149 sub-
projects into categories under descriptive headings. In broad outline,
at least, this presents the contents of these files. The following 15
categories are the ones we have divided these into.

First, research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or aleohol.
Within this, there are 17 projects probably not involving human test-
ing. There are 14 subprojects definitely involving testing on human
volunteers. There are 19 subprojects probably ineluding tests on human
volunteers and 6 subprojects involving tests on unwitting
human beings.

Second, there is research on hypnosis, eight subprojects, including
two involving hypnosis and drugs in combination. '

Third, there are seven projects on the acquisition of chemicals or
drugs.

Fourth, four subprojects on the aspeets of the magician’s art, useful
in covert operations., for instance, the surreptitious delivery of drug-
related materials.

Fifth, there are nine projects on studies of human behavior, sleep
research, and behavioral change during psychotherapy.

Sixth, there are projects on library searches and attendants at semi-
nars and infernational conferences on behavioral modifications,

Seventh, there are 23 projects on motivational studics, studies of
defectors, assessments of behavior and training techniques.

Eighth, there are three subprojects on polyeraph research.

Ninth, there are three snbprojects on funding mechanisms for
MEKUILTRAs external research activities.
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Tenth, there are six subprojects on research on drugs, toxins, and
biologicals in human tissue, provision of exotic pathogens, and the
capability to incorporate them in effective delivery systems.

_Eleventh, there are three subprojects on activities whose nature
simply cannot be determined.

Twelfth. there are subprojects involving funding support for un-
specified activities condncted with the Army Special Operations Divi-
sion at Fort Detrich, Md. This activity is outlined in Book I of the
gghurc)h committee report, pages 388 to 389, (See Appendix 4, pp-

—69).

Under CIA’s Project MKNAOMI, the Army assisted the CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biclogical agents and delivery
systems for use against humans as well as against animals and crops.

Thirteenth, there are single subprojects in such areas as the effects
of electroshock, harassment techniques for offensive use, analysis of
extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays and aerosols, and four
subprojects involving erop and material sabotage,

Fourteenth, one or two subprojects on each of the following : blood
grouping research; controlling the activities of animals; energy stor-
age and transfer in organic systems; and stimulus and response in
biological systems.

Finally, 15th, there are three subprojects canceled before any work
was done on them having to do with laboratory drug screening, re-
search on brain concussion, and research on biologically active
materials.

Now. let me address how much this newly discovered material adds
to what has previously been reported to the Church committee and
to Senator Kennedy’s Subcommittee on Health. The answer Is basi-
eally additional detail. The principal types of activities included n
these documents have for the most part been outlined or to some
extent, generally described in what was previously available in the
way of documentation and which was supplied by the CIA to the
Senate Investigators.

For example, financial disbursement records for the period of 1960
to 1964 for 76 of these 149 subprojects had been recovered by the
Office of Finance at CIA and were made available to the Chureh
committee investigators. For example, the 1963 Inspector General
report on MKULTRA made available to both the Church committee
and the Subcommittee on Health mentions electroshock and harass-
ment substances, covert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens, the search
for new materials throngh arrangements with specialists in hospitals
and universities, and the fact that the Technical Service Division of
CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control of human
behavior.

For instance also, the relevant section of a 1957 Inspector General
report was also made available to the Church committee staff, and
that report discusses the techniques for human assessment and un-
orthodox methods of communication, discrediting and disabling ma-
terials which can be covertly administered, studies on magiecians’ arts
as applied to covert operations, and other similar topics.

The most significant new data that has been discovered are, first, .
the names of researchers and institutions who participated in
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MEULTRA projects. and second, a possibly improper contribution
by the CIA to a private institution. We are now in the posses-
sion of the names of 185 nongovernment researchers and assistants
who are identified in the recovered material dealing with these 149
subprojects.

There are also names of 80 institutions where work was done or
with which these people were affiliated. The institutions include 44
colleges or universities, 15 research foundation or chemical or pharma-
ceutical companics or the like, 12 hospitals or clinies, in addition to
those associated with the universities, and 3 penal institutions.

While the identities of some of these people and institutions were
known previously, the discovery of the new identities adds to our
knowledge of MKULTRA.

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribufion are
as follows. One project involves a contribution of $375,000 to a biuld-
ing fund of a private medical institution. The fact that that con-
tribution was made was previously known. Indeed, it was mentioned
in the 1957 report of the Inspector General on the Technical Service
Division of CIA that supervised MICULTRA, and pertinent portions
of this had been reviewed by the Church committee staff.

The newly discovered material, however, makes it clear that this
contribution was made through an intermediary, which made 1t ap-
pear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution
was then matehed by Federal funds. The institution was not made
aware of the true sonrce of the gift. This project was approved b
the then Director of Central Intelligence and concurred in by ('TA's
top management including the then General Counsel, who wrote an
opinion supporting the legality of the contribution.

The recently discovered documents also give greater insight into
the scape of the unwitting nature of the drug testing, but contribute
little more than that. We now do hiave corroborating information that
some of the unwitting drug testing was carried out in what is known
in the intelligence trade as safe houses in San Francisco and In New
York City, and we have identified that three individuals were in-
volved in this undertaking, whereas we previously reported there was
only one person. B

We also know now that some uniwitting testing took place on erimi-
nal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital, and that addi-
tionally research was done on a knockout or K drug in parallel with
research to develop painkillers for cancer patients.

These. then, are the principal findings 1dentified to date In our ve-
view of this recovered material. As noted carlier, we believe the de-
tail on the identities of researchers and institutions involved m CTA
sponsorship of drug and behavioral modification research is a new
element and one which poses a considerable problem. Most of the peo-
ple and institutions involved were not aware of CTA sponsorship. We
should certainly assume that the researchers and institutions which
cooperated with CIA on a witting basis acted in good faith and in
the belief that they were aiding their Government in a legitimate and
proper purpose.

T believe that we all have a moral obligation to these researchers
and institutions to protect them from any unjustified embarrassment
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or damage to their reputations which revelation of their identities
might bring. In addition, T have a {egal obligation under the Privacy
Act not to publicly disclose the names of the individual researchers
withowut their consent.

This is especially true, of course, for those researchers and institu-
tions which were unwitting participants in CTA sponsored activities.

Nonetheless, Mr. Chairman, T certainly recognize the right and the
need of loth the Scnate Select Committee on Intelligence and the
Senate Subcommittee on Health and Seientific Rescarch to investigate
the circumstances of these activities in whatever detail you consider
necessary. I am providing your committee with all of the documenta-
tion, including all of the names, on a classified basis. T hope that this
will facilitate your investigation while still protecting the individuals
and the institutions involved.

Let me cmphasize again that the MKULTRA events are 12 to 24
years in the past, and I assure you that CTA is in no way engaged in
either witting or unwitting testing of drugs today.

Finally, T am working closely with the Attorney General on this
matter. We are making available to the Attorney General whatever
materials he may deem necessary to any investigations that he may
elect to undertake. Bevond that, we are also working with the Attorney
(Feneral to determine whether it is practicable from this new evidence
to identify any of the persons to whom drugs may have been admin-
istered unwittingly. No such names are part of these records. We have
not identified the individuals to whom drugs were administered, but
we are trying now to determine if there are adequate clues to lead to
their identification, and if so how best to go abount fulfilling the Gov-
ernment’s responsibilities in this matter.

Mr. Chairman, as we proceed with that process of attempting to
identify the individuals and then determining what is our proper re-
sponsihility to them. T will keep both of these committees fully ad-
vised. I thank you, sir.

Senator Ixouve. Thank you very much, Adral Turner. Your
spirit of cooperation is much appreciated. I would like to announce to
the cominittee that in order to give every member an opportunity to
participate in this hearing, that we would set a time limit of 10 minutes
per Henator,

Admiral Turner, please give this committee the genesls of MKUL
TRA. Who or what committee or commission or agency was responsi-
ble for dreaming up this grandiose and sinister project, and why was
it necessary? What is the rationale or justification for such a project
and was the President of the United States aware of this?

Admiral Turyer. Mr. Chairman. T am going to ask Mr. Brody on
my right, who is a long-time member of the CIA to address that in
more detail. T believe everything that we know about the genesis was
turned over fo the Church committee and 18 contained in that ma-
terial. Basically, it was a CTA-initiated project. It started out of a
concern of our heing taken advantage of by other powers who would
nge drugs against our personnel, and it was approved in the Ageney. 1
have asked the question you just asked me, and have been assured that
there is no evidence within the Agency of any involvement at higher
echelons, the White House, for instance, or specific approval. That
does not say there was not, but we have no such evidence.

aE-408 O - 77 - 2
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Mr. Brody, would you amplify on my comments there, please?

Mr. Bropy. Mr. Chairman, I really have very little to add to that.
To my knowledge, there was no Presidential knowledge of this proj-
ect at the time. It was a CIA project, and as the admiral said, it was
a project designed to attempt to counteract what was then thought to
be a serious threat by our cnemies of nsing drugs against us. Most of
what else we know about it is in the Senate Church committee report.

Senator Inouye. Were the authorized members of the Congress
made aware of this project through the budgetary process?

Mr. Bropy. We have no knowledge of that, sir.

Senator INoUYE. Are you suggesting that it was intentionally kept
away from the Congress and the President of the United States?

Admiral Turxer. No, sir. We are only saying that we have no evi-
dence one way or the other as to whether the Congress was informed
of this particular project. There are no records to indicate.

Senator Inouye. Admiral Turner, are you personally satisfied by
actual Investigation that this newly discovered information was not
infentionally kept away from the Senate of the United States?

Admiral Tor~er. T have no way to prove that, sir. That is my con-
vietion from everything I have scen of it.

Senator Inouys, Now, we have been advised that these documents
were Initially discovered in March of this vear, and vou were notified
in July of this year, or June of this year, and the committee was noti-
fied in July. Can you tell ng why the Director of Central Intelligence
was notified 3 months after its initial discovery, why the delay?

Admiral Turxer, Yes, siv. All this started with several Freedom of
Information Aet requests, and Mr. Laubinger on my left was the in-
dividual who took it upon himself to pursue these requests with great
diligence. and got permission to go to the Retired Records Center, and
then made the decision to look not only under what would be the ex-
pected subject files, but through every file with which the branch that
conducted this type of activity had anv conceivable connection.

Very late in March, he discovered these seven boxes. He arranged
to have them shipped from the Retired Records Center to Washing-
ton, to our headqnarters, They arrived in early April. He advised his
appropriate superiors, who asked him how long he thought it would
take him to go through these and screen them appropriately, clear
them for I'reedom of Information Act release.

There are, we originally estimated, 5,000 pages here. We now think
that was an underestimation, and it may be closer to 8,000 pages. e
estimated it would take about 45 days or into the middle of May to
do that. Ile was told to proceed, and as he did so there was nothing
uncovered in the beginning of these 149 cases that appeared particu-
larly startling or particularly additive to the knowledge that had al-
ready been given to the Church eomimittee, some details, but no major
revelations,

He and his associates proceeded with deliberateness, but not a great
sense of urgency. There were other interfering activities that came
and demanded his time also. TTe was not able to put 100 percent of hig
time on it, and there did not appear to be cause for a great rush here.
We were trying to be responsive to the Freedom of Information Act
request within the limits of onr manpower and our priorities.
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In early June, however, he discovered two projects, the one related
to K drags and the one related to the funding af the institntion, and
realized immediately that he had substantial new information, and
he immediately reported this to his superiors.

Two actions were taken. One was to notify the Jawyers of the prin-
cipal Freedom of Information Act requestor that we would have sub-
stantial new material and that it would be fortheoming as rapidly as
possible, and the sccond was to start a memorandun up the chain
that indicated his belief that we should notify the Senate Select Com-
mittee on Intelligence of this discovery hecause of the character at least
of these two documents.

As that proceeded up from the 13th of .June, at each echelon we had
to go through the legal office, the legislative linison office and at. each
echelon about the same question was asked of him: Have you gone
through all of this, so that when we notify the Senate Select Com.
mittee e do not notify half of the important relevations and not tho
other half? The last thing 1 want, Mr. Chairman. is in any way to
be onany topie, give the appearauce on any topie of being recalcitrant,
reluctant, or having to have you drag things out of me, and my sub-
ordinates, much to my pleasure, had each asked, have yvou really gone
through these 8000 pages enough to know that e are not going to
uncover & hombshell down at the bottom ?

By late June, about the 28th, this process reached my deputy. He
notified me after his review of it on the 7th of July, which is the first
1 knew of it. I began reading into it. T asked the came probing ques-
tion directly. I then notified my superiors, and on the 15th delivered
to you my letter letting you know that we had this, and we have been
working, many people, many hours since then. to be sure that what. we
are tethng vou today does include all the relevant material.

Senator Ixouye. 1 would like to commend M. Laubinger for his
diligence and expertise, but was this diligence the result of the Free-
dom of Information Act or could this diligence have been exercised
during the Chnrch hearings? Why was it not exercised 2

Admiral Turvyer. There is no question that theoretically this dili-
gence could have heen exercised at any time, and it may well be that
the Freedom of Information Act has made us more aware of this.
Would vou speak for yourself, please.

My, Lavmixaer, T really don’t attribute it, Senator, to diligence so
much as thoroughness. Tf vou can imagine the pressures under an
organlzaftion tryving to respond, which T think the CTA did at the time
of the Church commitiee hearings, the hallways of the floor T am on
were full of boxes from our records center. Every box that anyone
thought could possibly contain anything was called up for search. It
was one of a frantic effort to comply.

When the pressure of that situation cools down, and you can start
looking at things systematically, vou are apt to hndt things that vou
wonldn't under the heat of a crash prograny, and that is what happened
here. .

Senator Ixvotve, Thank you very much. Senatar Kennedy ? '

Senator Nex~eny. Admiral Turner, this is an enormously clistress-
ing report that you give to the American Cfongress and to the American
people today. Granted, 1t happened many vears ago, but what we are
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basically talking about is an activity which took place in the country
that invelved the perversion and the corruption of many of our out-
standing research centers in this country, with CTA funds, where some
of our top researchers were unwittingly involved in research spon-
sored by the Agency in which they had no knowledge of the back-
ground or the support for.

Much of it was done with American citizens who were completely
unknowing in terms of taking various drugs, and there are perhaps
any number of Americans who are walking around today on the east
coast or west coast who were given drugs, with all the kinds of physical
and psychological damage that can be caused. We have gone over that
in very careful detail, and it is significant and severe indeed.

I do not know what could be done in a less democratic country
that would be more alien to our own traditions than was really done
in this narrow area, and as you give this report to the committee, I
would like to get some sense of your own concern about this type of
activity, and how vou react, having assumed this important responsibil-
ity with the confidence of President Carter and the overwhelming
support, obviously, of the, Congress, under this set of circumstances.

I did not get much of a feeling in reviewing your statement here this
morning of the kind of abhorrence to this type of past activity which
1 think the American people would certainty deplore and which I
believe that vou do, but conld you eomment upon that question, and also
perhaps give us what ideas you have to insure that it cannot happen
again?

Admiral Torxer. Scnator Kemedy, it is totally abhorrent to me to
think of using a human being as a guinea pigand in any way jeopardiz-
ing his life and his health, no matter how great the cause. I am not
here to pass judgment on my predecessors, but I can assure you that
this is totally beyond the pale of my contemplation of activities that
the CTA or any other of our intelligence agencies should undertake.

I am taking and have taken what I believe are adequate steps to
insure that such things are not continuing today.

Senator Kuxxeny, Could vou tell us a little bit about that?

Admiral Turxez. I have asked for a special report assuring me that
there are no drng activities extant, that 1s, drug activities that invelve
experimentation. Obviously, we collect infelligence about drugs and
drug use in other countries, but there are no experimentations being
conducted by the Central Tntelligence Agency, and I have had a special
check made because of another incident that was uneovered some years
ago about the unauthorized retention of some toxie materials at the
CTA. T have had an aetual inspection made of the storage places and
the certification from the people in charge of those that there are no
aich chemical biological materials present in our keeping, and I have
jssued express orders that that shall not be the case.

Beyond that, I have to rely in large measure on my sense of com-
mand and direction of the people and thelr knowledge of the attitude
T have just expressed to you in this regard.

Senator Kexxepy. I think that is very commendable.

Admiral Tur~xzer. Thank you, sir.

Senator Kexxepy. I think it is important that the Ameriecan people
nnderstand that.
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You know, much of the research which is our area of interest that
was being done by the Agency and the whole invalved sequence of ac-
tivities done by the Ageney, I am convinced could have been done 1n a
legitimate way through the research programs of the National Insti-
tutes of Mental ITealth, other spensored activities. T mean, that is some
cther question, but I think you went to an awful lot of trouble, where
these things conld have been.

T.et me ask vou specifieally, on the followup of MEKULTRA, are
there now—I think you have angwered, but I want to get a camplete
answer about any experimentations that ave being done on human be-
ings, whether it is drugs or behavioral alterations or patterns or any
support. either directly or indirectly, being provided by the Agency in
terms of any experimentation on human beings.

Admiral Tenrxer. There is no experimentation with drugs on human
beings, witting or unwitting, being conducted in any way. -

Senator Kexwxepy., All right. Or being supported indirectly # I mean,
are you contracted ont?

Admiral Toryer. Or being in any way supported.

Qenator Kunxepy. All rieht, ITow about the nondrug experimenta-
tion our Committee has seen—psychosurgery, for example, or psy-
chological rescarch?

Admiral Turyer. We nre continually involved in what we call as-
sessment of behavior. For instance, we are trying to continually im-
prove our polygraph provedures to, you know, assess whether a person
is lying or not. This does not involve any tampering with the individ-
ual body. This involves studying records of people’s hehavior under
different, circumstances, and so on, but it is not an experimental thing.
Have T described that accurately, Al?

AMr. Bropy, Yes. . _

Senator Kexxepy. Well, it 1s limited to those areas?

Admiral TUrRNER. Yes; it does not involve attempting to modify be-
havior. It only involves studying hehavier conditions. but not trving
to actively modify it, as was one of the objectives of MEULTRA.

Senator KuexxEpy. Well, we are searce on time, but I am interested
in the other areas hesides polygraph where you are doing it. Maybe
you can either respond now or submit it for the record, if you would do
that, Would you provide that for the record ?

Admiral TorxEeR. Yes.

[ The material on psychological assessments follows:]

Psychological assessments are performed as a service to officers In the opera-
tiong directorate who reeruit and/or handle agents. Excepl for people involved
in training courses, the subjects of the assessinents are foreign nationals. The
assessments are generally done to determine the most successful tactic to persuadce
the subject to accept covert employmuent by the CIA, and to malke an appraisal of
his reliability and truthfnlness. )

A majority of the work is done by a staff of trained psychologists, some of
whom are stationed overseas. The assessments they do may be either direct or
indirect. Direct assessments involve a personal interview of the subject by the
psvchologist, When possible the subject is asked to complete a formal “intelli-
gence test” which is actually a disguised psychological test. Individuals being
asseszed are not given drugs, nor are they subjected o physical harassment or
torture. When operating conditions are such that a fuce-to-face interview is not
possible, the psychologist may do an indirect assessment, using as source ma-
terials descriptions of fhe subject by others, inferviews with people who know
him, specimens of his writings, ete.
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The other psychological assessments involve handwriting analysis or grapho-
logical assessment. The work is done by a pair of trained graphologists, assisted
by a small number of measurement technicians, They generally require at least
2 page of handwritten seript by the subject. Measurements are made of about
30 different writing characteristics, and these are charted and turnished to the
graphologist for assessments,

The psycholegists also give courses in psychological assessment to group of
operations officers, to sharpen their own capabilities to size up people. As part of
the training courge, the instructor does g psychological assessment of each
student. The students are witting participants, and results are discussed with
them.

It is important to reiterate that psychological assessments are only a service
to the operations officers. In the final analysis, it is the responsibility of the
operations officer to decide how a potential agent should be approached, or to
make a judgement as tu whether auy agent is telling the truth.

Admiral TurNer. The kind of thing we are interested in is, what
will motivate a man to become an agent of the United States in a difii-
cult situation. We have to be familiar with that kind of attitudinal
response that we can expect, from people we approach to for one reason
or another become our spies, but 1 will be happy to submit a very
specific listing of these.

Senator Kennepy. Would you do that for the committee ?

- In the followups, in the MKSEARCH, in the OFTEN, and the
CHICKWIT, could you give us also a report on those particular
programs?

Admiral TurNer. Yes, sir,

Senator Kennevy. Did they involve experimentation, human
experimentation ?

Admiral Turner. No, sir.

Senator Kenxepny. None of them?

Admiral Tur~er. Let me say this, that CHICKWIT program is the
code name for the CIA participation in what was basically a Depart-
ment of Defense program. This program was summarized and re-
ported to the Church committee, to the Congress, and I have since they
have been rementioned in the press in the last 2 days here, I have not
had time to go through and personally review them. T have ascertained
that all of the files that we had and made available before are intact,
and I have put a special order out that nobody will enter those files
Or in any way touch them without my permission at this point, but
they are in the Retired Records Center outside of Washington, and
they are available.

1 am not prepared to give you full details on it, because I simply
haven’t read into that part of our history, but in addition I would sug-
gest when we want to get into that we should get the Department of
Defense in with us.

Senator Kexxepy. Well, vou will supply that information to the
Intelligence Committee, the relevant, I mean, the health aspects, obvi-
ously, and the research we are interested in ?

Admiral Tor~er, Yes, sir.

Senator Krx~epy. Will vou let us know, Admiral Turner?

Admiral Turwer. T will be happy to.

[See p. 169 for the material referred to.]

Senator Kexxepy. Thank you. I am running out of time. Do you
support the extension of the protection of human subjects legislation
to inclnde the CIA and the DOD? You commented favorably on that
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before, and I am hopeful we can get that on the calendar early in
September, and that is our strong interest.

Admiral Tur~xer. The CIA certainly has no objection to that pro-
posed legislation, sir, It is not my role in the administration to be the
supporter of it or the endorser of it.

Senator Kexxepy. As a personal matter, since you have reviewed
these subjects, would you comment? I know it is maybe unusual, but
you can understand what we are attempting to do.

Admiral TurNer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexneny. From vour own experience in the agency, you
can understand the value of it.

Just finally, in your own testimony now with this additional infor-
mation, it seems quite apparent to me that you can reconstruct in very
carefu] detail this whole project in terms of the responsible CIA
officials for the program. You have so indicated in your testimony.
Now with the additional information, and the people, that have been
revealed in the examination of the documents, it seems to be pretty
clear that you can track that whole program in very careful detail,
and I would hope, you know, that vou would want to get to the bottom
of it, as the Congress does as well. T will come back to that in my next
round. Thank you very much.

Senator INouye. Senator Goldwater ¢

Senator Gorowater. I have no questions.

Senator INnouyr. Senator Schweiker ?

Senator ScEWEIKER. Thank you, My, Chairman. _

Admiral Turner, I would like to go back to your testimony on page
12, where you discuss the contribution to the building fund of a
private medical institution. You state, “Indeed, it was mentioned in a
1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Service Division of
CTA, pertinent portions of which had been reviewed by the Church
committee staff.” T would like to have you consider this question very
carefully. T served as a member of the original Church committee.
My staffer did a lot of the work that you are referring to here. He
made notes on the IG’s report. My question to you is, are you saying
that the section that specifically delineates an improper contribution
was in fact given to the Church committee staff to see?

Admiral Ttrxer. The answer to your question is “Yes.” The infor-
mation that a contribution had been made was made available, to the
best of my knowledge.

Senator SCHWEIKER. Only certain sections of the report were made
available. The report had to be reviewed out at Langley; it was not
reviewed here, and coples were not given to us here, I just want you to
carefully consider what you are saying, because the only record we
have are the notes that the staff took on anything that was of
significance.

Admiral TorNer. My understanding was that Mr. Maxwell was
shown the relevant portion of this report that disclosed that the eon-
tribution had been made.

Senator ScEWEIKER. To follow this np further, T’d like to say that,
I think there was a serious flaw in the way that the IG report was
handled and the Church committee was limited. T am not making any
accusations, but because of limited access to the report, we have a situ-
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ation where it is not even clear whether we actually saw that material
or not, simply because we could not keep a copy of the report under
the procedures we had to follow. We were limited by notetaking, and
g0 it 1s rather ambipguous as to just what was seen and what was not
seen. I certainly hope that the new Intelligence Committee will not
be bound by procedures that so restrict its ability to exercise effective
oversight.

I have a second question. Does it concern you, Admiral, that we used
a subteringe which resulted in the use of Federal construciion grant
funds to finance facilities for these sorts of experiments on cur own
people? Because as T understand what you are saying, while the CTA
maybe only put up $375,000, this triggered a response on the part of
the Federal Government to provide on a good faith basis matching
hospital funds at the same level. We put up more than $1 million of
matching funds, some based on an allegedly private donation which
was really CTA money.

Isn’t there something basically wrong with that ?

Admiral Torxer. I certainly believe there is. As T stated, the Gen-
eral Counsel of the CIA at that time rendered a legal opinion that
this was a legal undertaking, and again T am hesitant to go back and
revisit the atmosphere, the laws, the attitudes at that time, so whether
the counsel was on good legal ground or not, I am not enough of a
lawyer to be sure, but it certainly would oceur to me if it happened
today as a very questionable activity.

Senator Scnwriser. Well, T think those of ug who worked on and
alnended the Hill-Burton Act and other hospital construction as-
sistance laws over the years, would have a rather different opinion on
the legal intent or object of Congress in passing laws to provide hos-
pital construction project money. These funds weren't intended for
this.

It remninds me a little bit of the shellfish toxin situation which turned
up when I was on the Church committee. The Public Health Service
was used to produce a deadly poison with Public Health money. ITere
we are using general hospital construction money to carry on a serieg of
drug experiments,

Admiral TerxER. Excuse me, sir, If T could just be, T think, ac-
curate, T don’t think any of this $375,000 or the matching funds were
usged to conduct drug experiments. They were used to build the hos-
pital. Now, the CIA then put more money into a foundation that was
conducting research on the CTA’s behalf supposedly in that hospital, so
the intent was certainly there, but the money was not used for
experimentation.

Senator Scuwrerkegr. Well, T understand it was nsed for bricks and
mortar, but the bricks were used to build the facility where the experi-
ments were carrled on; were they not.?

Admiral Terxer. We do not have positive evidence that they were.
It certainly would seem that that was the intent, but T do not want to
draw inferences here

Senator Scuwrser. Well, why else would they give this money for
the building fund if the building was not used for a purpose that
benefited the CTA program

Admiral Treyer. 1 certainly draw the inference that the CTA.
expected to benefit from it, and some of the wording says the General
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Counsel’s opinion was that this was legal only if the CIA was going
to derive adequate benefit from it, but, sir, there ig no evidence of what
Lenefit was derived.

Senator Sc1rwEiKER, There must have been some pretty good benefits
at stake. The Atomic Energy Commission was to bear a shave of the
cost, and when they backed out for some reason or another, the CTA
picked up part of their tab. So, at two different points there were
Thdications that CLA decisionmalkers thought there was great benefit
to be derived from whatever happened within the brick and mortar
walls of that facility.

Admiral Trrser, You are absolutely right. I am only taking the
position that I cannot substantiate that there was benefit derived.

Senator Scnwrrseg. The agreement documents say that the CIA
would have aceess to one-sixth of the space involved in the construction
of the wing, so how would you enter into an agreement that specifically
says that you wiil have access to and use of one-sixth of the space and
not. perform something in that space? T cannot believe it was emplty.

Admiral Trryer. Sir, T amn not disputing vou at all, but both of us
are saying that the inference is that one-sixth of the space was used,
that experimentation was done, and so on, but there is no factual evi-
dence of what went on as a result of that payment or what went on in
that hospital. It is just missing. It is not that it didn’t happen.

Senator Sciwerker, Admiral Turner, one other

Senator Kexxeny. Would the Senator yield on that point?

Senator Scruweiker. 1 understand that in the agency’s documents
on the agreement it was explicitly stated that one-sixth of the facility
would be designated for CIA use and made available for CIA re-
search. Are you familiar

Mr. Brooy. Senator, as I reeall, you are right in that there 1s a men-
tion of one-sixth, but any mention at all has to do with planning. There
are no subsequent reports as to what happened after the construection
took place.

Senator Scuweiker. Admiral Turner, I read in the New York Times
that part of this series of MKULTRA experiments involved an ar-
rangement with the Federal Bureau of Narcoties to test LST) sur-
reptitiously on unwitting patrons in bars in New York and San
Francisco. Some of the subjects became violently ill and were hos-
pitalized. T wonder if you would just briefly describe what we were
doing there and how it was carried out? I assume 1t was through a safe
house operation. T don’t believe your statement went into much detail.

Admiral Torxer. I did mention the safe house operation in my
statement, sir, and that is how these were carried out. What we have
learned from the new documentation is the locafion and the dates at
which the safe houses were run by the CIA and the identification of
three individuals who were associated with running those safe houses.
We know something about the construction work that was done in
them because theve were contracts for this. Beyond that, we are pretty
much drawing inferences as to the things that went on as to what vou
are saying here. )
~ Senator Scniwriker. Well, the subjects were unwitting, You can
infer that much, right ? T :

Admiral Toryer. Right.
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Senator ScEWEIKER. IT you happened to be at the wrong bar at the
wrong place and time, you got it.

Mr. Brovy. Senator, that would be—contacts were made, as we
understand it, in bars, et cetera, and then the people may have been
invited to these safe houses. There really isn’t any indication as to
the fact that this took place in the bars, _

Admiral Tur~er. We are trying to be very precise with you, sir, and
not draw an inference here. There are 6 cases of these 149 where we
have enough evidence in this new documentation to substantiate that
there was unwitting testing and some of that involves these safe
houses. There are other cases where it is ambiguous as to whether the
testing was witting or voluntary. There are others where it was clearly
voluntary. .

Senator Scuweiker. Of course, after a few drinks, it is questionable
whether informed consent means anything to a person in a bar
ANYWAY.

Admiral Torwer. Well, we don’t have any indication that all these
cases where it is ambiguous involved drinking of any kind. There are
cases in penal institutions where it is not cleay whether the prisoner
was given a choice or not. T don’t know that he wasn’t given a choice,
but I don’t positively know that he was, and I classify that as an
ambiguous incident.

Senator Inouye. Your time is up, Senator.

Senator Huddleston ?

Senator Hoppreston, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, you stated in your testimony that you are con-
vinced there was no attempt to conceal this recently discovered docu-
mentation during the earlier searches. Did you question the individ-
uals connected with the earlier search before you made that judgment.?

Admiral Turxer. Yes; T haven’t, I don’t think, questioned every-
body who looked in the files or is still on our payrol} who looked m
the files back in 1975, but Mr. Laubinger on my left is the best author-
ity on this. and T have gone over it with him in some detail.

Senator Hunnrestox. But you have inquired, you think, sufficiently
to assure yourself that there was no intent on the part of any person
to conceal these records from the previous committee ?

Admiral Torver. I am persuaded of that both by my questioning
of people and by the circumstances and the way in which these docu-
ments were filed, by the fact which I did not and should have men-
tioned in my testimony, that these were not the official files. The ones
that we have received or retrieved were copies of files that were work-
ing files that somebody had used, and therefore were slipped into a
different location, and agan I say to you, sir, I can’t imagine their
deliberately concealing these particular files and revealing the other
things that they did reveal in 1975. I don’t see the mative for that,
because these are not that damning compared with the overall material
that was provided.

Senator Hupprestox. Is this the kind of operation that if it were
continuing now or 1f there were anyvthing similar to it, that you would
feel compelled to report to the Select Committee on Intelligence ?

Admiral Turner. Yes, sir. You mean, if T discovered that some-
thing like this were going on without my knowledge? Yes, T would
feel absolutely the requirement to - |
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Senator Hopprestrox. But if it were going on with your knowledge,
would you report it to the committee ? T agsume you would.

Admiral Torner. Yes. Well, it would not be going on with my
knowledge, but theoretically the answer ig yes, sir.

Senator HuppresTon. Well, then, what suggestions would you have
as we devise charters for the various intelligence agencies? What
provision would you suggest to prohibit this kind of activity from
taking place? Would you suggest that it ought to be specifically out-
lined in a statutory charter sctting out the parameters of the per-
missible operation of the various agencies?

Admiral Toener. I think that certainly is something we must con-
sider as we look at the legislation for charters. T am not on the face
of it opposed to it. I think we would have to look at the particular
wording as we are going to have to deal with the whole charter issue
as to exactly how precise you want to be in delineating restraints and
curbs on the intelligence activities.

Senator Hupprestox. In the case of sensitive type operations, which
this certainly was, which might be going on today, is the oversight
activity of the agency more intensive now than it was at that time?

Admiral Turxer. Much more so. I mean, I have briefed you, sir,
and the committee on our sensitive operations. We have the Intel-
ligence Oversight Board. We have a procedure in the National Se-
curity Council for approval of very sensitive operations. I think the
amount of spotlight focused on these activities is many, manyfold
what it was in these 12 to 24 years ago. '

Senator Hroorestox. How about the record keeping ¢

Admiral TurxER. Yes; I can’t imagine anyone having the gall to
think that he can just blithely destroy records today with all of the
attention that has come to this, and certainly we are emphasizing that
that 13 not the case.

Senator HupnLesrox, Admiral, T was particularly interested in the
activity that took place at the .8, Public Health Service Hospital at
Lexington, Ky., in which a Dr. Harris Ishell conducted experiments
on people who were presumably patients there. There was a narcotics
institution, I take it, and Dr. Ishell was, according to the New York
Times story, carrying on a secret series of correspondence with an
individual af the agency by the name of Ray. Have you identified who
that person 15

Admiral Turxer. Sir, T find myself in a difficult position here at
a public hearing to confirm or deny these names in view of my legal
responsibilities under the Privacy Act not to disclose the names of
individuals here.

Senator Huopieston. T am just asking yvou if you have identified
the person referred to in that article as Ray. I am not asking you who
he was. I just want to know if you know who he is.

Admiral TcrxEr. No, I am sorry, wag this W-r-a-v or R-a-y?

Senator Hupprestox. It is listed in the news article ag R-a-y, in
quotations.

Admiral TrrreR. No, sir, we have not identified him.

Senator Hoppreston. So you have no knowledge of whether or
not he is still a member of vour staff or connected with the Agency in
any way. Have you attempted to identify him?
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na?ngrig%i TgriNER' ,S;:najco}r;, T’{'Fe- have a former employec whose first

Semator JIT{ UDDC; ;:2?% lm—; ad some connection with these activities,

that. at this time, or 2 ou suspect that but you have not veritled
$ time, or at least you are not in a position to indicate that
you have verified it?

Admiral TurNer. That is correct,

Senator Hupprestox. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Inouye. Senator Wallop?

Sena,@or Warror. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, not all of the—and in no way trying to excuse
you of the hideous nature of some of these projects, but not all of the
projects under MKULTRA. are of a sinister or even 2 moral nature.
Is that a fair statement? '

Admiral Turner. That is correct.

Senator Warror. Looking down through some of these 17 projects
not involving human testing, aspects of the magician’s art, it doesn't
seem as though there is anything very sinister about that. Studies of
human behavior and sleep research, library searches. Now, those
things in their way are still of interest, are they not, to the process
of intelligence gathering? '

_Admiral Turner. Yes, sir. T have not tried to indicate that we
either are not deing or would not do any of the things that were
involved in MKULTRA, but when it comes to the witting or unwitting
testing of people with drugs, that is certainly verboten, but there are
other things.

Senator Warror. Even with volunteer patients? T mean, T am not
trying to put you on the spot to say whether it is going on. but T mean,
It is not an uncommon thing, js it, in the prisons of the United States
for the Public Health Service to conduet various kinds of experiments
with vaccines and, say, sunburn creams? I know in Arizona they have
done so.

Admiral Toryer. My understanding is, lots of that is anthorized.
but T am not of the opinion that this is not the CTA’s business, and
that 1f weé nced some information in that category, T would prefer
to go to the other approprate authorities of the Government and ask
them to get it for us rather than to in any way.

Senator Warror. Well, vou know. you have library searches and at-
tendants at the national seminars. This is why T wanted to ask you if
the bulk of these projects were in any way the kinds of things that the
Agency might not do now. A President would not have been horrificd
by the list of the legitimate types of things. Isn’t that probably the
case ?

Admiral Torver. Yes, sir.

Senator Warror. And if it did in fact appear in the IG report, is
there any reason to suppose that the President did not know of this
project? You said there was no reason to suppose that he did, but let
me reverse that. Is there any reason to suppose that they did not?

Admiral Tor~er. No.

Senator Warroe, Well, vou know. T just cannot imagine you or
literally anybody undertaking projects of the magnitude of dollars
here and just not knowing about it, not informing vour superior that
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these were going on, especially when certain items of it appear in the
Inspector General’s report on budget matters.

‘Admiral Torxer., Well, T find it difficult when it is that far back to
hypothesize what the procedures that the Director was using in terms
of informing his superiors were. It is quite a different climate from
today, and I think we do a lot more informing today than they did
baclk then, but 1 find it very difficult to guess what the level of knowl-
edge was.

Senator Warrop. T am really not asking you to second-guess it, but
it just seems to me that, while the past is past, and thank goodness we
are operating under different sets of circumstances, I think it is naive
for us to suppose that these things were conducted entirely without the
knowledge of the Presidents of the United States during those tumes.
Tt is just the kinds of research information that was being sought was
vitalto the United States, not the means, but the information that they
were trying to find.

Admiral Torxer. T am sorry. Your question is, was this vital? Did
we view it as vital?

Qenator Warror. Well, your implication at the beginning was that
it was a response to the kinds of behavior that were seen in Cardinal
Mindszenty’s trial and other things. I mean, somebody must have
thought that this was an important defensive reaction, if nothing else,
on the part of the United States.

Admiral Terxer. Yes, sir, I am sure they did, but again T just don’t
know how high that permeated the executive branch.

Qenator WaLLor. But the kinds of information are still important
to you. I mean. T am not suggesting that anyone go back and do that
kind of thing again, but I'm certain it would be of use to you to know
what was going to happen to one of your agents assuming someone had
put one of these things into his bloodstream, or tried to modify his
behavior.

Admiral Treyer. Absolutely, and you know, we would be very con-
gerned if we thought there were things like truth sernms or other
things that our agents or others could be subjected to by use or im-
proper use of drugs by other powers against our peaple or agents,

Senator WarLor. ATe there? I don’t ask you to name them, but are
there such serums?

Admiral Turner. I don’t know of them if there are. I wounld have to
answer that for the record, sir. :

Senator Warrop. I would appreciate that.

[The material referred to follows:]

“TruTH” DRIGES IN INTERROGATION

The search for effective aids fo interrogation is probably as old as man's need
to ohtain informafion from an unccoperative source aund as persistent as his
impatience to shorteut any tertuous path, In the annnls of police investigation,
physical coercion has at times heen substituted for painstaking and time-con-
suming inquiry in the helief that direct methods produce quick results. Sir Tames
Stephens, writing in 1883, rationalizes a grisly example of “third degree’ prac-
tices by the police of Tndia: “It is far pleasanter to sit comfortably in the shade
rubbing red pepper in a poor devil’'s eyes than to go abont in the sun hunting up
evidence.” '

More recently, police officials in some countries have turned to drugs for assist-
ance in extracting confessions from acensed persons, drugs which ara esumed
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to relax the individnal's defenses fo the point that he nnknowingly reveals_tru-ths
he has heen trying to eonceal. This investigative technique, however humanitarian

as an alternative to physical torfure, siill raises serious quea_v.tions of 1nd1mdual
rights and Iibertics. In this country, where drugs h_m'e gained only _margu_lal
aceeptance in police work, their use has provoked eries of “paychological third
degree” and has precipitated medico-legal controversies that after a quarter of

a century stitl occasionally flare into the operl. L ] _
The use of so-called “truth” drugs in police work iz similar to the aceppted

psychiatric practice of narco-analysis; the gilference in the two prpeedure:'s. lhes
in their different nbjectives. The nolice investigator is concerned with empuqffal
truth that may be used against the suspect, and therefore almost s_olely with
probative truth ; the usefnlness of the suspect’s revelations depends uitimately on
their aeceptance in evidence by a court of law. The psychiatist, on the other 1'1&1151,
using the same “truth’™ drugs in diagnosis and treatment of the gnentall,v ill, is
primarily concerned with psychological truth or psychological real_lty rather than
empirical faét. A patient’s aberrations are reality for him at the time they oceur,
and an aceurate account of these fantasies and delusions, rather than reliable
recollection of past events. ean be the key to recovery.

The notion of drugs capable of illuminating hidden recesses of the mind, 11911}-
ing to heal the mentally ill and preventing or reversing the miscarriage of jusfice,
has provided an exceedingly durable theme for the precs and popular literature.
While acknowledging that “truth serum” is a misnomer twice over—the drngs
are not sera and they do not necessarily bring forth probative truth—journalistic
acceounts continue to exploit the appeal of the term. The formula is to play up
a few spectacular “truth” drug successess and to imply that the drugs are more
maligned than need be and more widely employed in eriminal investigation than
can officially be admitted.

Any technique that promises an inerement of sneccess in extracting information
from an uncompliant source is ipso Faeto of interest in intelligence operations.
If the ethical considerations which in Western enuntries inhibit the use of narco-
interrogation in police work are felt also in intelligence, the Western services
must at least he prepared against its possible employment by the adversary. An
understanding of “truth” drugs, their characteristic actions, and their potentiali-
ties, positive and negative, for eliciting useful information is fundamental to an
adequate defense against them. )

This discussion, meant to help toward such an anderstanding, draws primarily
upon openly piblished materials, It has the limitations of projecting from crimi-
nal investigative practices and from the permissive atmosphere of drug psycho-
therapy.

SCOPCLAMINE A8 “TRUTH SERUM'

Karly in this century physiciansg began to employ scopolamine, along with
morphine and chloroforin, to induce a state of “iwilight sleep” during childbirih.
A constituent of henbane, geopolamine wasg known to produce sedation and drowsi-
ness, confusion and disorientation, incoordinatlion, and amnesia for events ex-
perienced during intoxication. Yet physicians noted that women in twilight sleep
answered questiong accourately and often volunteered exceedingly candid remarks.

In 1922 it occurred to Robert House, a Dallas, Texas cbstetrician, that a similar
technique might he employed in the interrogation of suspected criminals, and he
arranged (o interview munder scopolamine iwo prizsoners in the Dallas county
jail whose guilt seemed cleariy confirmed. Under the drug, both men denied the
charges on which they were held ; and hoth, upen trial, were found net guilty.
Enthusiastic at this success, House conrcluded that a patient under the influence
of spopolamine “ecannot create a lie . . . and there is no power to think or rea-
son.” [14] His experiment and this conclusion atiracted wide attention, and the
idea of a “fruth” drug was thus launched upon the public consciousness.

The phrase “truth serum” is believed to have appeared first in a news report
of House's experiment in the Los Angeles Fecord, sometime in 1922, House resisted
the term for a while bt eventually came to employ it regnlariy himself. He pub-
lished =sowne eleven articles on scopolamine in the vears 1921-1920, with a notice-
able increase in polemical zeal as time went on. What had begun as something
of a scientific statement turned finally into a dedicated crusade hy the “father of
truth serum” on behalf of his offspring, wherein he was “grossly indulgent of its
wayward behavior and stubbornly proud of its minor achievements.''[11]
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Only a handfnl of cases in which seopolamine was used for police interroga-
tion eame to publie notice, though there is evidence suggesting that some police
forces may have used it extensively. [2, 16] One police writer claims that the
threat of scopolamine interrogation has been effective in extracting confessions
from criminal suspeets, who are told they will first be rendered unconscious by
ehloral hydrate placed covertly in their coffee or drinking water,[16] )

Because of 1 number of undesirable side effects, scopolamine wag shortly dis-
qualified as a “truth” drug. Among the most disabling of the side effects are
hallucinations, disturbed perception, somnolence, and physiolegical phencmena
such as headache, rapid heart, and blurred vision, which distract the subject from
the central purpose of the interview. Furthermeore, the physieal action is long, far
outlasting the psychological effects. Scopolamine continues, in some cases, to make
anesthesia and surgery safer by drying the mouth and throat and reducing secre-
tions that might ohstruct the air passages. But the fantastically, almost painfully,
dry *‘desert” mouth brought on by the drug is hardly conducive to free talking,
even in a tractable subject.

THE BAREITURATES

The first suggestion that drugs might facilitate communication with emo-
tionally disturbed patients came quite by accident in 1916. Arthur 8. Lovenhart
and his associates at the University of Wisconsin, experimenting with respiratory
stimulants, were surprised when, after an injection of sodinm cyanide, a catatonic
patient who had long been mute and rigid suddenly relaxed, opened his eves, and
even answered a few questions, By the early 1930’s a number of psychiatrists
were experimenting wirh drugs as an adjunct to established methods of therapy.

At about this time police officials, still atiracted by the possibility that drugs
migh help in the interrogation of suspects and witnesses, turned to a class of
depressant drugs known as the barbiturates. By 1935 Clarence W, AMuechtherger,
head of the Michigan Crime Detection Laboratory at Fast Lansing, was using
barbiturates on reluctant suspeets, though police work continued to be hampered
by the courts’ rejection of drug-induced confessions except in a few carefully
cireumseribed instances. :

The barbiturates, first synthesized in 1903, are among the oldest of modern
drugs and the most versatile of all depressants. Tn this half-century some 2,500
have been prepared, and about two dozen of these have won an important place
in medicine. An estimated three to fonr billion doses of barbiturates are pre-
scribed by phrsiciang in the United States each year, and they have come o be
known hy a variety of commercial names and colorful slang expressions: “goof-
balls,” Luminal, Nembutal, “red devils,” “yellow jackets™ “pink ladies.” efc.
Three of them which are used in narcoanalysis and have seen service as “truth”
drugs are sodium amytal {(amobarbital), pentothal sodium (thiopental), and to a
lesser extent seconal (secobarbital).

Ag one pharmacologist explaing it, a subject coming under the influence of a
barhiturate injected infravenocusiy goes through all the stages of progre:sgive
drunkenness, but the time scale is on the order of minutes instead of hours.
Outwardly the sedation effect is dramatie, eapecially if the subject is a psychiatrie
patient in tension. Hig features slacken, his body relaxes. Some people are
momentarily excited; a few beocme gilly and giggly. This usually passes, and
most subjects fall asleepn, emerging later in disoriented semi-wakefulness.

The descent into narcosiz and bevond with progressively larger doges can be
divided as follows:

1. Sedative stage.

II. T'neonscionsness, with exaggerated reflexes (hyperactive stage).

ITI. Unconsciousness, without reflex even to painful stimuli.

IV. Death.
Whether all these stages can he distinguished in any given subject depends
largely on the dose and the rapidity with which the drug is induced. In
anesthegia, stages T and IT may last only two or three seconds,

The firgt or sedative stage can be further divided :

Plane 1. No evident effect, or slight sedative effect.

Plane 2. (loudiness, ealmness, amnesia. (Upon recovery, the subject will
not remember what happened at this or “lower" planes or stages.}

Tlane 3. Siurred speech, old thought patterns disrupted, inability to inte-
grate or learn new patterns. Poor coordination. Subject becomes unaware
of paniful stimuli.
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Plane 2 is the psychiatric “work” stage. It may last only a fow minutes, but
it can be extended by further slow injection of drug. The usual practice is to
bring the subject guickly to Stage IT and to conduct the interview as he passes
back into the sedative stage on the way to full consciousness.

CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES

The general abhorrence in Western countries for the use of chemical agents
“to make people do things against their will” has precluded serious systematic
study (at least as published openly) of the potentialities of drugs for interroga-
titon. Louis A. (Gotisehalk, surveying their use in information-seeking inter-
views,[13] cites 136 references; but only two touch upon the exiraetion of
intelligence information, and one of these concludes merely that Russian tech-
nigues in interrogation and indoctrination are derived from sage-old police
methods and do not depend on the use of drugs. On the validity of eonfessions
obtained with drugs, Gottschalk found only three published experimental studies
that he deemed worth reporting.

One of these reported experiments by D. P. Morris in which intravenous sodium
amytal was helpful in detecting malingerers.[12] The subjects, soldiers, were
at first sullen, negativistic, and non-productive under amxvtal, but as the inter-
view proceeded they revealed the fact of and causes for their malingering. Usually
the interviews turned up a neurotic or psychotic basis for the deception.

The other two confesgion studies, being more relevant to the highly special-
ized, untouched area of drugs in intelligence interrogation, deserve more detailed
review.

Gerson and Vietoroff{12] conducted amytal interviews with 17 neuropsychiatric
patients, soldiers who had charges against them, at Tilten General Hospital,
Fort Dix. First they were interviewed without amytal by a psychiatrist, who,
neither ignoring nor stressing their situation as prisoners or suspects under
scrutiny, urged each of them to discuss his social and family background, his
army career, and hig version of the charges pending against him.

The patients were told only a few minutes in advance that narcoanalysis would
be performed. The doctor was considerate, but positive and forthright, He indi-
cated that they had no choice but to submit to the procedure. Their attitudes
varied from unquestioning compliance to downright refusal.

Each patient was brought to complete narcosis and permitied to sleep. As he
became semiconscious and could be stimulated to speak, he wag held in this stage
with additional amytal while the questioning proceeded, He was paestioned
first mbout innocuous matters from his background that he had discussed before
receiving the drug. Whenever possible, he was manipulated into bringing up
himself the charges pending against him before being questioned about themn.
If he did this ir a too fully conscious state, it proved more effective to ask him
to “talk about that later” and to interpose a topic that would diminish suspicion,
delaying the inferrogation on his criminal activity uutil he was back in the
proper stage of narcosis.

The procedure differed from therapeutic narcoanalysis in several ways: the
setting, the type of patients, and the kind of “truth” sought, Also, the subjects
were kept in twilight conscicusness longer than usual. This state proved richest
in yield of admissions prejudicial to the subject. In it his speech was thick,
mumbling, and disconnected, but his discretion was markediy reduced. This val-
uable interrogation period, lasting only five to ten minutes at a time, could be
reinduced by injecting more amytal and putting the patient back to sleep.

The interrogation technique varied from case to case aceording to ackground
information about the patient, the seriousness of the charges, the patient’s atti-
tude under narcosis, and his rapport with the doctor. Sometimes it was useful to
pretend, as the patient grew more fully conscions, that he had already confessed
during the amnestic period of the interrogation, and to urge him, while his mem-
ory and sense of self-protection were still limited, to continue to elaborate the
details of what he had “already described.” When it was obvious that a subject
was withholding the truth, his denials were quickly passed over and ignored,
and the key guestions wounld e rewaorded in a new approach.

Several patients revealed fantasies, fears, and delusions approaching delirium,
much of which could readily be distinguished from reality, Bul sometimes there
Wwas no way for the examiner to distinguish truth from fantasy except by refer-
ence to other sources. One subject claimed to have a child that did not exist,
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anocther threatened to kill on sight a stepfather who had been dead a year, and
yet another confessed to participating in a robbery when in fact he had only
purchased goods from the participants. Testimony concerning dates and specific
places was untrustywortlly and often contradietory because of the patient’s loss
of time-sense, His veracity in citing names and evenis proved questionahble. Be-
cause of his eonfusion ahout actual events and what he thought or feared had
bappened, the patient at times managed to conceal the truth wunintentionally.

As the subject revived, he would become aware that he was being questioned
about his secrets and, depending upon his persenality, his fear of discovery, or
the degree of his disillusionment with the doector, grow negativistic, hostile, or
phrysically aggressive. Occasionally patients had to be foreibly restrained during
this period to prevent injury to themselves or others ag the doctor continued fo
interrugate. Some patients, moved by flerce and diffuse anger, the assumption
that they had already been tricked into confessing, and a still Hmited sense of
diseretion, defiantly acknowledged their guitt and challenged the observer to
“do something about it.” As the excitement passed, some fell back on their orig-
inal stories and others verified the confessed material. During the follow-up
interview nine of the 17 admitted the validity of their confessions; eight re-
pudiated their confessions and reaffirmed their earlier accounts.

With respect to the relinhility of the results of such interrogation, Gerson
and Victoroff econclude that persistent, careful questioning can reduce ambigui-
ties in drug interrogation, but cannot eliminate them altogecher.

At least one experiment has shown that subjects are capable of maintaining a
lie while under the influence of a barbiturate. Redlich and his associates at
Yale[25] administered sodinm amytal to nine volunteers, students and profes-
gionals, who had previously, for purposes of the experiment, revealed shameful
and guilt-produving episodes of their past and then invented false aelf-protective
stories to cover them, In nearly every case the cover story retained some ele-
ments of the guilt inherent in the true story.

Under the influence of the drug, the subjects were crossexamined on their
cover stories by a second investigator. The results, though not definitive, showed
that normal individuals who had good defenses and no overt pathological traits
could stick to their invented stories and refuse confession. Neurotic individuals
with strong unconscious self-punitive tendencies, on the other hand, both con-
fessed more easily and were inclined to substitute fantasy for the trufh, con-
fessing to offenses never actually committed.

In recent years drug therapy has made some nuse of stimulants, most notably
amphetamine (Benzedrine) and its relative methamphetamine (Methedrine).
These drugs, nsed either alone or following intravenous harbiturates, produce
an outponring of ideas, emotions, and memorieg which has been of help in diag-
noging mental disorders. The potential of stimulants in interrogation has re-
ceived litiéle attention, unless in unpublished work. In one study of their psychi-
atric use Brussel et af. [T] maintain that methedrine gives the liar no time to
think or to organize hig deceptions. Once the drug takes hold, they say, an in-
surmountable urge to pour ont speech traps the malingerer. Gottschallk, on
the other hand, says that this claim iz extravagant, asserting without elabora-
tion that the study lacked proper controls.{18] It is evident that the combined
use of barbiturates and stimulants, perhaps along with ataraxies (tranguailizersy,
should be farther explored.

OBSERVATIONS FROM FPRACTICE

J. M. MacDonald, who as a peychiatrist for the District Courts of Denver
has had extensive experience with narcoanalysis, says that drug interrogation
i of doubtful value in obtaining confessions to crimes. Criminal suspects under
the influence of barbiturates may deliberately withhold information, persist in
giving untruthful answers, or falsely confess to crimes they did not commit.
The psychopathic personality, in particnlar, appears to resist guecessfully the
influence of drugs.

MaeDonald tells of a criminal psyehopath who, having agreed to narco-inter-
rogation, received 1.5 grams of sodinm amytal over a period of five hours. This
man feigned amnesia and gave a Talse account of a murder. “Ile displayed little
or no remorse as he (falsely) deseribed the crime, including burial of the body.
Indeed he wag very self-possessed and he appeared almost to enjoy the examina-
tion. From time fo time he would request that more amytal be Injected.”[21]

MacDonald concludes that o pergon who gives folse information prior to re-
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ceiving drugs is likely to give false information aizp under narcosis, that the
drugs are of little value for revealing deceptions, and that they are more effective
in releasing uncounsciously repressed maferial than in evoking conscicusly sup-
pressed information.

Another psychiatrist known for his work with criminals, L. %4, Freedman,
gave sodinm amytal to mmen aceused of varions eivil and military antisocial acts.
The subjects were mentally unstable, their conditions ranging from character
disorders 10 neuroses and psychoses. The drug interviews proved psyehiatrically
beneficial to the patients, but Freedman found that his view of objective reality
wags seldom improved by their revelations. He was unahle to say on the basis of
the narco-interrogation whether a given act had or had not occurred, Like Mac-
Dionald, he found that psychopathic individuals can deny to the point of uneon-
sciousness crimes that every objective sign indicates they have committed.[10]

I'. G. Imbau, Professor of Law at Northwestern University, who has had con-
siderable experience observing and participating ic “fruth” drug {ests, claims
that they are occasionally effective on persons who would have diselosed the
Iruth anyway had they heen properly interrogated, but that a persan deter-
mined to lie will usnally be able to eontinue the deception under drugs.

The two military psychiatrists who made the most extensive use of narcoanal-
¥sis during the war years, Roy R. Grinker and John ¢, Spiegel, concluded that
in almost all ecases they could obtain from their patients essentially the same
material and give them the same emotional releage by therapy without the use
of drugs, provided they had sufficient time.

The essence of these comments from professionals of long experience is that
drugs provide rapid access to iuformation that is psychiatrically useful but of
doubtful validity as empirical truth. The same Dsychological information and a
less adnlterated ewmpirical truth can be obtained from fully eonscious subjects
through non-drug psychotherapy and skiliful police interrogation.

APPLICATION TO CI INTERROGATION

The almost total absence of controlled experimental studies of “truth™ drops
and the spotty and anecdotal nature of Dsychiatrie and police evidence require
that extrapolations to intelligence operations be made with eare. S1ill, enough
is known about the drugs' action to Suggest certain considerations affecting the
possibilities for their use in interrogarions. :

It shonld be clear from the foregoing that at best a drug can only serve as
an aid to an interrogator who has a sure understanding of the psychology and
techuiques of normal interrogation. In some respects, indeed, the demands on his
£kill will be increased by the bafiling mixture of fruth and fantasy in drug-induced
output. And the tendeney against which he must guard in the interrogate to give
the responses that seem to be wanted without regard for facts will be heightened
by drugs: the literature abounds with warnings that a subject in narcosis is
extremely suggestible.

It seems possible that this suggestibility and the lowered guard of the nareotic
state might be put to advantage in the case of a subject felgning ignorance of a
language or some other skill that had become automatic with him, Lipton!20]
found sodinm amytal helpful in determining whether a foreign subject was merely
pretending not to understand English. By extension, one ¢an guegs that a drugged
inferrogatee might have difficulty maintaining the pretense that he did not eom-
prehend the idiom of a profession he was trying to hide.

There is the further problent of hestility in the interrogator’s relationship to
a resistance source. The accumulated knowledege abonut “truth” drug reaction
has cone largely from patient-physician relationships of trust and confidence.
The subject in narcoanalysis is usually motivated e priovi to cooperate with the
hsychiatrist, either to obtain relief from meuntal suffering or £o contribute to a
scientific study. Even in police work, where an atmosplere of anxiety and threat
may he dominant, a relationship of trust frequently asserts itself - the drug is
administered by a medical man hound by a strict code of ethics; the suspect
agreeing to nmndergo narcoanalysis in a desperate bid for corroboration of his
testimony trusts lioth drug and psyebiatrist, however apprehensively ; and finally,
as Freedman and MaceDonald have indicated, the police psyehiatrist frequently
deals with a “sick™ criminal, and some order of patient-physieian relationship
necessarily evolves.



31

Rarely has a drug interrogation involved “normal” individuals in a hostile
or genuinely threatening milieu. It was from a non-threutening experimental
setting that Eric Lindemann could szay that his “normal” subjects '‘reported a
general sense of euphoria, ease and cenfidence, and they exhibited a marked in-
crease in talkativeness and communicability.”[ 18] Gerson and Vietoroff list poor
doctor-patient rapport as one factor interfering with the completeness and au-
thenticity of confessions by the Thort IMx soldiers, caught as they were in a
commaind performance and told they had no choice hut to submit to narco-
interrogation,

From all indications, subject-interrogator rapport is wsually erueial to obtain-
ing the psychological relefise which may lead to unguarded disclogures, Role-play-
ing on the part of the inferrogator might be a possible solution to the problem
of establishing rapport with a drugged subject. In therapy, the British narco-
analyst William Sargent recommends that the therapist deliberately distort the
facts of the patient’s life-experience to achieve heightened emotional responge
and abreaction.[27] In the drunken state of narcoanalysis patients are prone to
aceept the therapist's false constructions. There ig reason to expect that a drugged
gubject would eommunicate freely with an inferroguator playing the role of rela-
tive, colleague, physician, immediate superior, or any other persoun to whom his
background indicated he would be responsgive. :

Even when rapport is poor, however, there remaing one facet of drug action
eminently exploitable in inferrogation—the fact that subjects emerge from
narecosis feeling they have revealed a great deal. even when they have not. As
Gerson and Victoroff demonstrated at Fort Dix, this psychological set provides a
major opening for obtaining genuine confessions.

POSSIBLE VARIATIONS

In studies by Beecher and his associates,[3-6] one-third to one-half the
individuals tested proved to he placebo reactors, subjects who respond with
gymptomatic relief to the administration of any syringe, pill, or capsule, regard-
less of what it contains. Although no studies are known to have been made of the
placebo phenomenon a8 applied to narco-interrogation, it seems reasonable that
when g subjeef’s sense of guilt interferes with productive interrogation, a placebo
for pseudo-narcosis could have the effect of absolving him of the responsibility
for his acts and thug clear the way for free communication. It ig notable that
placebos are most likely to be effective in situations of stress. The individuals
most likely to react to placebos are the more anxious, more self-centered, more
dependent on ontside stimulation, those who express their needs more freely
goeially, falkers who drain off anxiety by conversing with others. The non-
reactors are those clinically more rigid and with better than average emotional
control. No sex or 1.Q. differences between reactors and non-reactors have been
found,

Another possibility might be the combined use of drugs with hypnetic trance
and post-hypunotic suggestion : hypnnszig could presumably prevent any recollee-
tion of the drug experience. Whether a subject can be brought io trance against
his will or unaware, however, is a matter of some dizsagreement. Orne, in a survey
of the potential uses of 11\’1}110&1“, in interrogation,[23] asserts that it is douht-
ful, despite many apparent indications to the contrary, that trance can be induced
in resistant subjects. It may be possible, he adds, to hypnotize & subject unaware,
but this would regquire a positive relationship with the hypnotist not likely to
e found In the interrogation setting.

In medieal hypnosis, pentothal sodium is sometimes emploved when only hght
trance has been induced and deeper narcosis is desired. This procedure is a
poasibility for intervogation, but if a satisfactory level of narcosis conld be
achieved through hypnotic trance there would appear to be no need for drugs.

DEFENSIVE MEASURES

There is no known way of building tolerance for a “truth” drug without creat-
ing a disabling addiction, o1 of arresting the action of a harbiturate once indiced.
The only full safeguard against narce-interrogarion is to prevent the adminis-
tration of the drug. Short of this, the best defense is to make use of the same
knowledge that suggests drugs for offensive operations: if a stubject knows that
on emerging from narcesis he will have an exaggerated notion of how miuch he
has revealed he can better resolve to deny he has said anything,
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The disadvantages and shortcomings of drugs in offensive operations become
positive features of the defense posture. A snabject in nareo-interrogation is
intoxicated, wavering between deep sleep and semi-wakefulness, His speech is
garbled and irrational. the amount of output drastically diminished. Drugs
disrupt established thought patterns, including the will to resist, but they do so
indiscriminately and thus alzo interfere with the patierng of suhstantive infor-
mation the interrogator seelks. Hven under the conditions moest favorable for
the interrogator, output will be contaminated by fantasy, distortion, and untruth.

Possibly the most effective way to arm oneself against narce-interrogation
would be to undergo a “dry run.” A irial drug interrogation with output taped
for playhack would familiarize an individual with his own reactions to “trafh”
drngs. and thig familiarity would help to reduce the effects of harassment by
the interrogator hefore and after the drug has been adminisiered. From the view-
point of the intellizence service, the tfrial exposure of a particular eperative to
drugs might provide g rough benchmark for assessing the kind and amount of
information he wonld divulge in narcosis,

There may he coucern over the possibility of drug addietion intentionally or
accidentally induced hy an adversary service. Maost drugs will cnuse addiction
with prolonged use, and the barhiturates are 1o exeeption. In recent studies at
the TI.8. Public Health Service Flospital for addicts in Lexington, Ky., subjecis
received large doses of barbiturafex vver a perind of months. Upon removal of
the drug, they experienced acute withdrawal symptoms and behaved in every
respect like chronic aleoholics,

Because their action is extremely short, however, and because there ig little
likelihood that they would e administered regularly over a prolonged period,
harbifurate “truth’ drugs present slight risk of operational addictfion. 1T the
adversary service were intent on ecreating addiction in order to exploit with-
dravral, it wonld have other, maore rapid means of producing states as unpleasant
as withdrawal symptoms,

The hallucinatory and psychotomnimetic drugs such ag mescaline, marihnuana,
LA8D-25, and microtine are sometimes mistakenly associated with narcoanalytic
interrogation. These drugs distort the perception and interpretation of the sen-
sory input to the cenfral nervous system aund affect vision, audition, smell, the
gensation of the size of body parts and their position in space, efe, Mescaline and
LED-25 huve heenr used to create experimental “psychotie states,” and in a
minor way as aids in psychotherapy.

Since information obtained from a person in a psychotie drug state would he
unrealistie, bizarre, and exiremely difficult to assess, the self-administration of
L8D-25, which ig effective in minute dosages, might in special circamstances
offer an operative temporary protection against interrogation, Conceivably, on
the other hand, an adversary service eould nge such drugs to produce anxiety or
terror in medically unsophisticated subjects unahble to distinguish drug-induaced
psychosig from actual insanity. An enlightened operative could not be thus
frightened, however, knowing that the effect of thege hallucinogenic agents is
transient in uormal individuals.

Mast hroadly, there is evidence that drugs have least effect on well-adjusted
individuals with good defenses and good emotional control, and that anyone who
can withstand the stress of competent inferrogation in the waking state can do
g0 in narcosis. The essential resoarces for resistance thus appear to lie within
the individual

CONCLUSIONS

The salient points that emerge from this discussion are the following, No such
magic brew asg the popular notion of truth serum exists. The harbiturates, by
disrupting defensive patferns, may sometimes be helpful in interrogation, but
even under the hest eonditions they will elieit an oniput contaminated by decep-
tion, fantasy, garbled speech, ete. A major vulnerahility they produce in the sub-
ject is a tendency to believe he has revealed more than he has, I is possible, how-
ever, for both normal individuals and psychepaths to resist drug interrogation;
it seems likely that any individual who can withstand ordingry intensive inter-
rogation can hold ouf in narcosis. The hest aid to a defense against narco-inler-
rogation is foreknowledge of the process and its limitations. There is an acute
need for controlled experimental stmdies of drug reaefion. not only to depressants
but alse to stimulants and to combinations of depressants, stimulants, and
ataraxies.
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Senator Warrop. If they are, I would assume that you would still
try to find from either theirs or somebody else’s information how to
protect our people from that kind of activity.

Admiral Torxer. Yes. '

Senator Warror. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Iwovuye. Senator Chafee?

Senator Caaree. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Admiral Turner, I appreciate that these tawdry activities were tak-
ing place long before vour watch, and I think you have correctly
labeled them as abhorrent, but not only were they abhorrent, it seems
to me they were rather bungled, amatenrish experiments that don’t
seem to have been handied in a very scientific way, at least from the
scanty evidence we have.

It seems to me that there were the minimum of reports and the
Agency didn’t have the ability to call it quits. Tt went on for some 12
years, as you mentioned. What T would like to get to is, are you con-
vinced now in your Agency that those scientific experiments, legiti-
mate ones that you were condueting with polygraph and so forth, were
being conducted in a scientific manner and that you are handling it in
A correct manner to get the best information that you are seeking in
the end ?

Admiral Turser. Yes, T am, and T also have a sense of confidence
that we are limiting ourselves to the areas where we need to be in-
volved as opposed to areas where we can rely on others.

Senator Craree. T am convinced of that from yaur report, I just do
hope that you have people who are trained in not only handling this
type of experiment, but in preparing the proper reports and drawing
the proper data from the reports. You are convineed that you have
this {ype of people?

Admiral Turxsr. Yes, sir.

Senator Cuarer. The second point T am interested in was the final
lines in your testimony here, which T believe are very important, and
that 1s that the Agency is doing all it can in cooperation with other
branches of the Government to go about tracking down the identity of
‘those who were in some way adversely affected, and see what can be
done to fulfill the government’s responsibilities in that respect. I might
add that I commend you in that, and I hope you will pursue it
vigorously.

A hospital in my State was involved in these proceedings, and it is
unclear exaetly what did tale place, so I have both a parochial interest
in this and a national interest as well, and I do hope you will press on
with it. It involves not only you, I appreciate, but also HEW and per-
haps the Attorney General. '

Admiral Tur~er. Thank vou, sir. We will,

Senator Crarer. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Inovye. Thank you very niuch.

Admiral Tarner, MKULTRA subproject 8 was a projeet involving
the surreptitious administration of LSD on unwitting persons, was it
not?

Admiral Terxer. Yes, sir.

Senator Ixovyr. In IFebruary 1954, and this was in the very early
stages of MKTULTRA, the Director of Central Intelligence wrote to
the technical services staff officials eriticizing their judgment becanse
they had participated in an experiment involving the administration
of 1.SI) on an unwitting basis to Dr, Frank (lson, who later committed
suicide. Now, the individuals eriticized were the same mdividuals who
were responsible for this subproject 3, involving exactly the same prac-
tices. Even though these individuals were clearly aware of the dangers
of surreptitious administration and had been eriticized by the Director
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of Central Intelligence, subproject 3 was not terminated immediately
after Dr. Olson’s death.

In fact, according to documents. it continued for a number of years.
Can you provide this committee with any explanation of how such
testing could have continuned under these circumstances? '

Admiral Turxer. No, sir. I really can’t,

Senator Ixoryr. Are the individuals in the technieal services who
carried on subproject 3 still on the CIA payroll?

Admiral Terner. I am sorry. Are you asking, are they today?

Senator Inouvye. Yes.

Admiral TurNER. No, SIT.

Senator Inovye. What would you do if you criticized officials of the
technical services staff and they continued to carry on experimenta-
tion for a number of years?

Admiral Toryzr. 1 would do two things, sir. One 18, T would he sure
at the beginning that I was explicit enough that they knew that I
didn’t want that to be continued anywhere else, and two, 1f I found 1t
being continued, I would roll some heads.

Senator Ixovye. Could vou provide this committee with informa-
tion as to whether the individuals invelved had their heads rolled?

Admiral Trryer. 1 don’t believe there is any evidence they did, but
I will double check that.

[See p. 170 for material referred to.]

Senator Inouve. As you know, Senator Huddleston and his subcom-
mittee are deeply involved in the drafting of charters and guidelines
for the intelligence community. We will be meeting with the President
tomorrow. OQur concern is, I think, a basic one. Can anything like this
oceur again ? '

Admiral Turxer. I think it would be very, very unlikely, first, be-
cause we are all much more conscious of these 1ssues than we were back
in the fifties, second, becanse we have such thorough oversight proce-
dures. I cannot imagine that this kind of activity could take place
today without some member of the CIA itself bypassing me, 1f 1 were
authorizing this, and writing to the Intelligence Oversight Board, and
blowing the whistle on this kind of activity. |

T am also doing my very best, sir, to encourage an openness with
myself and a free communication in the Agency, so that I am the one
who finds these things 1f they should happen. The fact is that we must
keep you and your committee and now the new committee in the House
informed of our sensitive activities. I think all of these add up to a
degree of scrutiny such that this kind of extensive and flagrant activity
could not happen today without it coming to the attention of the proper
authorities to stop it.

Senator Inovyr. A sad aspect of the MKULTRA project was that
it naturally involved the people who unwittingly or wittingly got in-
volved in experimentation. I would appreciate it if you would report
back to this committee in 3 months on what the Agency has done to
notify these individuals and these institutions, and furthermore, to
notify us as to what steps have been taken to identify vietims, and if
identified, what you have done to assist them, monetarily or otherwise.

Admiral Torxer. All nght, sir. T will be happy to.

Senator Gorowatrkr. Will the Senator yield ¢
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Senator InoUye. Yes, sir.

Senator Gorpwater. I wonder if he could include in that report for
our information only a complete listing of the individuals and the
experiments done on them, and whether they were witting ov unwitting,
volunteer or nonvolunteer, and what has been the result in each case.
I'think that would be interesting,

Admiral Toryer. Fine, Yes, sir.

Senator Ixorye. Senator Kennedy? .

Senator Kexvepy. Thank you, It is your intention to notify the in-
dividuals who have been the subjects of the research, is that right,
Admiral Turner? Do you intend to notify those individuals?

Admiral Toryer. Yes.

Senator Kex~eoy., If you can identify them. vou intend to notify
them ?

Admiral Torxgr. Yes.

Senator Kexxepy. And vou intend to notify the universities or re-
search centers ag well ?

Admiral Ttryer. Senator, I am torn on that. T understand vour
opening statement. I put myself in the position of the president of one
of those universities, let’s say. If he were witting—if his university
had been witting of this activity with us, he has access to all that in.-
formation today. Tf he were not witting, I wonder if the process of
informing him might put his institution's reputation in more jeopards
than letting them go on the way they are today, not knowing. I realtly
don’t know the equities here. '

Senator Kexxwpy. Well, the problem is. all you have to do is pick up
the newspapers and you see these universities mentioned. In many in-
stances, I think you ave putting the university people at an extraordi-
nary disadvantage, where there is a complete change of administra-
tion, and they may for one reason or another not have information
that they are under suspicion. There is innuendo; there is rumor. T
cannot help but believe that it will just get smeared all ovor the news-
bapers In spite of all the security steps that have been faken,

It seems to me that those universities should be entitled to that infor-
mation, so that the ones with other acdiministrations can adapt proce-
dures to protect those universities. The importance of preserving the
independence of our research areas and the communities scemms to me to
be a very fundamental kind of question about. the protection of the
integrity of our universities and our research centers,

Admiral Torxer. You are saying that you feel that if we identify
them privately to themselves, we can benefit them in an adequate way to
cover the risk that this will lead to a more public disclosure ? There are
lots of the 80 who have not been identified publicly at this point.

Senator Kexxepy. I think the universities therselves should be noti-
fied. I think then the universities can take whatever steps in terms of
their setting up the procedures to protect their own kindg of integrity
m terms of the future, I would certainly hope that they wonld feel
that they could make a public comment or g public statement on it.
I think it is of general public interest, particularly for the people that
are involved in those universities, to have some kind of awareness of
whether they were used or were not used and how they were used.

I think they are entitled to it, and quite frankly, if there is a public
official or an official of the university that you notify and he wants
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for his own partienlar reasons not to have it publie, I don’t see why
those 1n & lesser echelon or lower echelon who have been effectively used
by 1t <hould not have the information as well.

So, I would hope that you would notify the universities and then
also Indicate to the public. T can’t conceive that this information will
not be put out in the newspapers, and it puts the university people at
an extraordinary disadvantage, and of course some of it is wrong,
which 1s the fact of the matter, and T think some university official
saying, well. it isn’t so, is a lot <lifferent than if they know it is con-
firmed or it is not confirmed in terms of the Agency itself, X think that
there 1s a responsibility there.

Admiral Ttrxsx. I have great sympathy with what you are saying.
I have already notified one institution because the involvement was so
extensive that T thought they really nceded to protect themselves, and
I am most anxious to do this in whatever way will help all of the
seople who were perhaps unwitting participants in this, and the diffi-
culty I will have'is, T can’t quite do, I think, what you suggested, in
that I may not be able to tell an institution of the extent and nature of
its participation.

Senator Kexwrpy. Well, you can tell them to the best of your in-
formation, and it scems to me that just because the university or an
individual is going to be embarrassed is not a reason for classifying
the information. So, I would hope—1I mean, I obviously speak as an
individual Senator, but I feel that that is an incredible disservice to
the innoecent individuals and, I think, a disservice to the integrity of
the universities unless they are notified, to be able to develop pro-
cedures you are developing with regards to your own institution and
we are trying to in terms of the Congresg, Certainly the universities
are entitled to the same.

Admiral Tor~Ner. Yes. Not all of these, of course, were unwitting.

Senator Kexxepy, That's right.

Admiral Tuener. Many of them were witfing, and therefore they
can take all those precautionary steps on their own, but I am perfectly
open to doing this, T am only interested in doing it in & way that when
identifying a university it will not lead to the public disclosure of the
individuals, whom I am not allowed to disclose, and so on.

Senator Kuxxrpy. That could be done, it scems to me,

Admiral Toryer. So, we will sec if we can devise a way of notifying
these institutions on a private hasis so that they can then make their
own decision whether their equities are best served by their announe-
ing it publicly or their attempting to maintain it

Senator Kexnepy. Or you. I wonder. What 1f they were to ask you
to announce or indicate ?

Admiral Turxer. My personal conscience, sir, at this time, is that I
would be doing a disserve to these universities it T notified the public.

Senator Kexyrpy, Would vou meet with some university officials
and ask what their views are or whether they feel that the preserva-
tion of the integrity of the universities would be better served or not?
T think that would be useful to find out from small, large, private, and
public universities’ officials how they view the integrity

Admiral Trrxrr, Fine. I will phone several aniversity presidents
today who are my friends and who are not invelved in this, and ask
them what they think the equities would be.
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Senator Kenweny, All vight, You let us know, too.

Admiral Tvrxer. But T am not sure that T sce that there is any great
beriefit in my notifying the public as opposed to the university notify-
ing them, Let him have his cheice whether he wants—each institution
wants to have it made public.

Senator KENxepT. Yes. The fact would remain that the institution’s
credibility would be better served if the institution's president were to
deny it and the university indicated that it did not participate in that
program than if the university swere to deny 1t and the Agency says
nothing. It seems to me that that would be the strongest, and the only
way that that is going to be credible. Iwould valne it if vou would get
some input from universities as to what they believe is the fairest way
in terms of the preservation of the integrity of the universities.

Let me, if I counld. ask on the guestion of the uses of these safe
houses, as I understand from information that was provided to us in
the course of our last committee, the testing of various drugs on in-
dividuals happened at alt social levels. high and low, it happened on
native Americans and also on foreign nationals. That is what I under-
stand was the nature of the project itself.

Now, I am just wondering whether those tests were conducted at the
two locations on the east coast and the west coast. which were known
as safe houses. To your knowledge, is that correct?

Admiral Turxer. Yes.

Senator Kexxepy, In terms of the research in this particular pro-
gram, it did not go beyond the safe houses located on the east coast and
the west coast? I believe T am correct on that.

Admiral Trrxer. That type of unwitting testing of sort of ran-
domly selected individuals, ves.

Senator Kexxrpy, It was just located in these two places?

Admiral Ttrxer. To the best of our knowledge, there were only two
Jocations.

Senator Kexxeny, Well. how do we inferpret randomly selected ?

Admiral Trryur. Well, as opposed to prisoners in a prison who were
somehow selected.

Senator Krxxeny. All right. Do you know from this information
how many people were recruited during this period ?

Admiral Torxer. Noidea.

Senator Kexxeny. Do vou know approximately ?

Admiral Turxer. I asked that question the other day, and we just
don’t have—apparently we are veryv—well, either there were no
records kept of the actual numbers and types of people tested or they
were destroyed.

Senator INoUTE. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Sciiwriker, Thank vou, Mr, Chairman,

Admiral Turner, I would like to come back to the experiments
which may have been conducted at the hospital research facilities
which the CTA helped to finance. Tt wasn’t clear to me from your pre-
vious answers what kind of work was done there. T gather vou are un-
clear aon that, too, from yvour remarks, yvet I find in the CIA docu-
mentation which you have supplied us. a list describing some of the
advantages the Agency hoped to gain. It says:

() Ome-sixth of the total space in the new hospital wing will be available to the
Chemical Divigion of TS8S * * * ; (b} Ageney sponsorship of sensitive research
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projects will be completely deniable; (¢) Fuil professional cover will be provided
for up to three biochemical employees of the Chemical Division; (¢} Human
patients and volunfeers for experimental use will be available under controlled
elinical conditions with the full supervision of

and there is a blank, comething has been deleted.

It seems pretty clear to me what they intended to do in that par-
ticular wing. Doesn’t it to vou? W hv would vou go to zuch elaborate
pr olmahons to buy part of the wing, bring three of your own per-
sonnel there, give them a cover, and rive them access to patients?
Why would vou g0 to such trouble and ¢ expense to arrange all that, if
you weren't phnmn(r to experiment on people in the 7[1051)1&1,1g

Admiral Tvrxnenr I agree with you 100 percent, sir. Those were
clearly the intentions. I Tiave no evidence that it was carried out in
that way. I am not trying to be efensive, Senator. I am only trying
to he absolutely precise here.

Senator Scuwriker. Well, then, as to the nature of what was done
there, the last paragraph on the same page of the document says,
“The facilitics of the hospital and the ability to conduet controlled
experimentations under safe clinical conditions nsing materials with
which any ageney conneetion must be completely denlable will aug-
ment anﬁ Complement other programs recently taken over by TSS
such as.” and then there’s another deletion.

Now, the words following “such as” have been deleted. That is still
classified, or at least it was removed when this document was sanitized
anc released, It seems to be that whatever was deleted right there would
give you a pretty good clne as to what they were doing, since it says
that the activities would “augment and complement other progzrams
undertaken by TSS. So, 1 have trouble understanding why yon don’t
know what wasg {ontemp]ated Just the fact that simmilar programs are
referred to in the document, though what they are is still deleted,
should enable you to check it out.

You could lnok at w 11‘1‘5 went on in the similar programs mentioned
following the “such as™ in the classified version of this document.

Admiral TrrNsR, Senator, I have not said that we don’t know what
was contemplated being done there. We do not know what was done
there,

Senator Scuwelker. Why did you delete that reference? Why 13
that still classified, that particular project of whatever 1t 1s%

Admiral Trrxer. I don’t know this particular case. We will get you
the exact answer to that one and inform you about if, but it is quite
probable that that other case is unrelated to this n the—w ell, not un-
related, but that that was a project that still deserves to he classified.

[The material referred to follows:]

Comnstruction of the Gorman Annex was begun in 1957 and the Annex was
dedicated in March 1939, Of the geveral MEKULTRA projects ¢onducted at
renrgetown only one invilving human testing covered @ tlme span subsequent
to Alarch 1959, Subproject 45 ran from 1955 to 1963, thus it is possible that
the final four years {(1959-1963) of the subproject could have been spent in
the Gorman Annex, However, there is no reference to the Gorman Annex or a
“new Annex” in Subproject 4._1 papers, neither is there any mention of the sub-
project moving to a new location in 1959 or later years.

Aunthorization to contribute CIA funds toward construetion of the Gorman
Annex is contained in Subproject 35 of MEKULTRA. Recently discovered material
indicated that Dr. Gegehickter continued his research for sleep- and amnesia-
producing drugs uuder Project MEKSEARCH thrrough July 1987 at Gecsrgetown
Tuiversity Hospifal. But it is imposgible to determine if the facilities of the
Gorman Annex were involved.
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Senator Scriweirzer. I think that would give us a pretty good clue
as to what was going to be done in the wing the CTA helped to finance.

Was there any indication at all in the records yvou found that the
project ultimately used cancer patients or terminally ill patients in
connection with this facility?

Admiral Torwer. I'm sorry. I missed your question because I was
trying to get the data on the last one. T will read vou the blank.

Senator ScHEWEIKER. (o ahead. i _

Admiral Torver. QEKHILLTOP. It doesn’t help vou, but——

Senator Scuwerker., Can you tell us what that is, or is it still
classified ?

Admniral Trrxer, T don’t know, and T assume from the fact that
we deleted 1it, it 1s still elassified. har I will get vou that answer, sir.

Senator Scawriker. Thank you. I’d like to see that information.

[ See . 171 for material referred to. ]

Now my next question was: Is there any indication, Admiral, that
projects in that particular center involved experimentation on ter-
minally ill cancer patients?

Admiral Tur~er, T missed the first part of your question, sir. T am
Very sorry.

Senator Sciwrrxer. Do you have any indication that some experi-
ments in the facility used terminally ill cancer patients as subjects?
You do acknowledge in your statement and it is elar from other docu-
ments that these kinds of experiments were at some point being done
somewhere. My question is, is there any indication that cancer patients
or terminally ill patients were experimented with in this wing?

Admiral Turxer, Yes, it does appear there is a connection here, sir.

Senator Scuwerxer. The other question I had relates to the de-
velopment of something which has been ealled the perfect concussion.
A series of experiments toward that end were deseribed in the CTA
documents, T wonder if you would just tell us what your understanding
of perfect concussion is.

Admiral Torxer. Is that in my testimony, sir, or in some other
document. ¢

Senator Scawrikkr., Subproject 54, MKULTRA, which involved
examination of techniques to canse brain concussions and amnesia by
using weapons or sound waves to strike individuals without giving
warning and without leaving any clear physical marks. Someone
dubbed it “perfect concussion™ —maybe that was poetic license on the
part of our staff rather than your poets over there. T wonder if you
could just tell us what brain concussion experiments were ahout ?

Admiral Turzer. This project, No. 54, was canceled, and never
carried out.

Senator Scawrrrker. Well. T do believe the first year of the project
in 1955 was carried out by the Office of Naval Research, according to
the information that you supplied us. The CTA seems to have been par-
ticipating in some way at that point, because the records go on to say
that the experimenter at ONR found out about CIA’s role, discovered
that it was a cover, and then the project was transferred to
MEKULTRA in 1956. Again, this is all from the backup material Vou
have given us. So, it was canceled at some time. T am not. dizagreeing
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with that, but apparently for at least a year or two, somebody was
investigating the produefion of brain concussions with special black-
jacks, sound waves, and other methods as detailed in the backup
material.

Admiral Tor~er, The data available to me is that this project was
never funded by the CTA, but T wiil dyuble-check that and furnish the
information for the record for you as to whether there was ever any
connection here and if so, what the nature of the work was.

[ The material referred to follows:]

Mr. Laubinger corrected his tesfimony regarding Subproject 54 during the
September 21, 1977 bearings before the Subecommittee on Health and Scientific
Research of the Human Resources Committee. The relevant portion is reproduced
helow :

Ar. LAUBINGER. On project 34, it bas got a rather sensational proposal in there,
in terms of the work that they propose to do, and you asked about the proposal
and I said, in fact, it was never funded under MEULTRA. Now, I overlooked—at
least, my memory did not serve me correctly when I went through that file folder
to see one memorandum dated Jannary 10, 1956, which makes it quite clear, as a
matter of fact, that that proposal was based on prior work that was funded by
the Agency. .

Senator SCHWEIKER. By what?

Ar. LAUBINGER. By the CIA. So, that information was in their file folder. It
did not happen to be in my head when 1 testified.

Senator SCIWEIKER. I think I might have read you that, and that is why I
argued at the time with you, because I 1think I had in front of me, as I vecall,
some indicarion that it was funded there. I did read that fo you. 8o, you did
supply it to ns; there is no argument about that information.

Mr. LaupINcEr. Perhaps I am sort of headstrong, myself, and in my own view,
I am reading under the ULTRA praject, that if it had been funded under
UI/TRA, it would bave had a projeet number and identified as such. The thing
that threw me was that it was funded, apparently, outside of any MEULTRA
activity and it was under the normal contracting process, su that it was not
inelnded in MRXULTRA as any work done under that funding umbrella.

The file folder that yon have and I have, right here, makes it guife clear,
however, that a yvear's work was done through navy funding—a navy funding
mechanisimm—on which fhe proposal was based that ultimately came info the
MEKULTRA program. That second proposal was never funded. 8o, there was
confiict and I, personally, I think, introduced a little bit of confusion in that in
my testimony.

Yenatnr SCHWEIKER. Well, do you agree or not agree with DOD’s statement
here that even though the initial funding was navy, it was really a conduit for
the CIAY

Mr. Lavrincer. I think that is correct.

Senator Scawerkxer. Yes; I wonld appreciate that. T would like to
know how it went front ONR to ('TA after a year. Somebody made a
decision to make that transfer, and to make this an MXULTRA sub-
ject. Theve had to be some sort of review that led to n decision fo
continue that kind of concussion—total blackout, maximum amnesia,
and whatever else it was you were interested in—study and testing.

Mr. Latsixcer. Senator, if T may try to say a few words on that,
the files that were available to us for inspection, which are limited,
indicated that there was a project being carried on by the Navy having
to do with the e(fects of brain concussion. The CTA developed an inter-
est in that, and considered funding it, but actually never did, and as
the admiral testified, the MKULTRA is merely a funding mechanism,
a place they go for money to do such things, but there 1s no evidence
that I know of that that project was ever funded.
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Senator Scawrikrr, Well, 1 am confused, beeause here again is an-
other quote from a document that se have seen, which you have re-
leased and supplied to ns:

Following is the technical progresg made under the current [deleted] coutract:
{a) Specialized instrumentation and numerous testing teehniques have been
developed to obtain the desired drnamic data; () considerable data has now
heen obhtained supporting the resonance-cavilation theory of brain concussion : and
(c) preliminary acceleration threshold dats hasg been obtained for a fluid-filled
glass simulated sknll,

It goes on to talk about a hlast range and a 2,500-square-foot labora-
tory. The document notes that “Three blast test series have been run
to date.” It describes a special blackjack device, “a pancalke-type hlack-
Jack giving a high peak impact force with a low unit surface pressure.”

I agree the records are inconclusive as to the results of this work,
but it certainly seems that some testing was cone.

- Mr. Lavmiverr. Senator, you are putting us in the same position
I'think you were stating that vou were in earlier in referring to docu-
ments not before us, but T believe you are quoting from a proposal . .
that someone sent. to the Agency to fund this work, and he is referring
to past work. The past work would have encompassed a lot of things
like that, but CTA was not involved with that.

Senator Scuwemer. What do you mean, Admiral, on page 6 of your
testimony when you mention projects using magician’s art? How do
magiciang get into the spook business?

Admiral Torwer. T have interpreted this as to how to slip the mickey
mto the finn, but I would like to ask my advisers here to comment.

Mr. Bropy. I think that is essentially if, Senator. It is surreptitious
adninistration of material to someone, deceptive practices, how to
distract someone’s attention while you are doing something else, as
I understand it. Tt wag also some type of a covert commmunication
project involved with the study of how magicians and their assistants
perhaps connnunicate information to one another without having other
people know it. This is the type of thing that was invelved, sir.

Senator Sciwerker, Thank vou, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Ixotvyr. Senator Huddleston ¢

Senator Huoprestox, Thank yvou, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral, In your checking these newly discovered docuinents and
interviewing members of the CTA staff, did vou find information that
would confirm the contention deseribed by the reporters for the New
York Times-that this type of experimentation was begun ont of a
fear at the Agency that foreign powers might have had drugs which
would allow them to alter the behavior of American citizens or agents
or members of the Armed Forces who were taken into custody, and
which would have resulted in false confesgions and the like? Is my
question clear? | _

Admiral Trexer. Yes. sir. T haven’t personally read the documen-
tation on that. In my discussions with the people who are well in-
formed in this arvea at the Agency, T am told that that is the case.

Senator Hrooreston. Was there any evidence or any indication that
there were other motives that the Agency might also be looking for
drugs that could be applied for other purposes, such as debilitating an
individual or even killing another person? Was this part of this kind
of experimentation ?
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Admiral Turyer. Yes; I think there is. I have not, seen in this series
of documentation evidence of desire to kill, but I think the project
turned its character from a defensive to an offensive one as it went
along, and there certainly was an intention here to develop drugs that
could be of use.

Senator HupprestoN. The project continued for some time after it
wag learned that, in fact, foreign powers did not have such a drug as
was at first feared, didn’tit?

Admiral Tvraer. That is my understanding. Yes, sir.

Senator Huopresrox. Is there any indication that knowledge gained
as a result of these experiments has been useful or is being applied in
any way to present operations ' _

Mr. Bropy. Senator, I am not sure if there is any body of knowledge.
A great deal of what there was, I gather, was destroyed in 1973. I
would like to defer to Frank here. Do you know of any ? .

Mz, Laverxeer. T know of no drugs or anything like that developed
under this program that ever reached operational use or are in use
today. - R o e _

Senator Hupprrstox, So apparently any information that was
gathered was apparently useless and not worth continuing, not worth
further development on the part of the Agency.

Mr. Lausinger. T am having difficulty hearing your questions,

Senator Hupprestox. I can hardly hear myself.

Admiral Turner. I think the answer to your question is that we have
no evidence of great usefulness on this, and yet T think we should
remermhber——

Senator HuppLestox, Well, 1s it accurate to say that this experimen-
tation produced few useful results or had little application at all to the
operations of the Agency or anybody else as far as we know?

Admiral Tuvryer. I think that i basically correct. At the same time,
I would point cut that we had two CIA prisoners in China and one in
the Soviet Union at this time, and we were concerned as to what kinds
of things might be done to them, but I am not saying that

Senator Honpuestox., Have you detected any sign that any other na-
tion 1s continuing or has in the past conducted experiments similar to
this or with a similar objective ?

Admiral Torxer. T am not prepared to answer that one off the top
of my head, sir, but T will get it to you.

' The material referred to follows:]

We maintain no files of up-to-date information on the testing of drugs in
foreign countries. Some years ago we occasionally would review foreign research
on antibiotics and pharmacenticals in connection with public health and civil
defense assesments. For a few years bheginning in 1944 we assessed foreign
research on LSD under Project ARTICHOKFE because of concern that such
drugs might be employed gainst Agency and other U.8, personnel. Information
relative to this work has already been provided fo relevant Committees. In this
early work we alzo oecasionally looked at foreign human experimentation; we
Iong ago eliminated our holdings on this subject and no collection reguirements
are any longer served. As consumer interest in this area has dropped off
anid higher priority areas need attention, we have virtually no present coverage
with the poasible exception of an occasional scanning of the literature for a

gpecific program. To the best of our knowledge no other unit in the Intelligence
Community is tracking this subject now.
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Senator Huopresros. You don’t know whether any of vour agents
anywhere in the world have been subjected to any kind of procedure
like this?

Admiral Trryer, We certainly know of other powers conducting
research in these areas, yes.

Senator Huppresrox. Do you know how they go about that research?

Admiral Turnzr. It is pretty sketchy, the information we have.

Senator ITuvoresTox, Do you know of any other organization in this
country or any institution that has conducted extensive research on
unwitting individuals and through unwitting institutions?

Admiral Turxer. Well, T have read something in the newspapers
about this, but T have not familiarized myself with it in specifics.

Senator Hubprestox. Tt is not a normal mode of operation for hu-
man research, is it ?

Admiral Tor~er. No, sir.

Senator Hooprestox, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INOUYE. Senator Wallop?

Senator Warror. Mr, Chairman, T only have one to follow up on
Senator Iuddleston’s questions and my earlier ones. You are not really
saying, are vou, Admiral Turner, that there are no mind-altering
drugs or behavior modification procedurves which have been used by
foreign powers?

Admiral Tur~vxr. No, sir, T am not.

Senator Warrop. I drew that inference partly in answer to my ques-
tion that you knew of no truth serum. Mavbe that is a misnomer, but
surcly there are relaxants that make tongues looser than they would
otherwise be, Isn’t that true?

Admiral Turxer. Yes.

Senator Warror. So I think it is fair to say, too, that the experience
of many American prisoners of war in the Korean conflict would
indicate that there are hehavior modification procedures in use by
foreign powers of a fairly advanced degree of sophistication.

Admiral Torwer, Yes, sir.

Senator Warror. Again, T will just go back and say I think this
must have been part of the motivation. I don’t think you would have
mentioned Cardinal Mindszenty had vou thought his behavior was
normal at the time or had anybody clse. So, T would just again say
I think it is a little bit scapegoating. T don’t think the object of this
hearing is in any way to lay blame on those passed or those dead or
otherwise, but T think it is a little bit scapegoating to say that it
stopped with the directors of the CTA or the DCT’s of the time. Also
I think it is a little bit scapegoating to say they didn’t even know it,
hut that it was some lower echelon acting alone.

I think this was a behavior pattern that was prevalent in those
vears, and I think the object lesson is that we have discovered, we
think and we hope, throngh vour assurances and other activities of
the Congress, means of avoiding future incidents of that kind. T thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Ixouve. Senator Chafee ?

Senator Criarer. No questions.

Senator Ixouye. Senator Kennedy, I think vou have another
question,
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Senator Iex~eoy. Just talking about. the two safe houses on the
east and west coast as being the sonrees for the unwitting trials, now,
the importance of this and the magnitude of it, I think, is of signifi-
cance, because we have seen from your records that these were used
over a period of § or § vears. and the nambers could have been con-
siderable. You are unable to determine, at least in your own research,
what the numbers would be and what the drugs were, how many people
swere involved, but it could have been considerable during this period
of time.

Tt would certainly appear to me in examining the documents and
the flow charts of cash slips that were expended in these areas that it
was considerable, but that is a judgmental factor on it, but I think
it is important to try and find out what the Agency is attempting to
do to get to the bottom of 1t.

Now, the principal agent that was involved as I understand it 18
deceased and has been deceased for 2 yvears, The overall agent, Mr.
Gottlieb, has indicated a fuzzy memory about this whole area. He
has testified before the Intelligence Committee. Yet he was respon-
sible for the whole program. Then, the Director had indicated the
destruction of the various materials and unfamiliarity with the
project.

Now, you have indicated in your testimony today that there are two
additional agents on page 9 of vour lestimony, you indicated there
are two additional agents which yon have uncovered at the bottom of
it. and vou say, the names of CIA officials who approved or monitored
the various projects. You talk about the two additional agents in your
testimony.

Now, 1 am just wondering if you intend to interview those agents
to find out exactly what is being done. I suppose, first of all, shonldn’t
the project manager know what was being done?

Admiral Terxer, Our first problem, Senator, is that we have been
unable to associate an individual with those names at this point. We
are still burrowing to find out who these people are. We haven't identi-
fied them as having been CTA employees, and we don’t know whether
these were false names.

Senator KuxxEpy. You are tracking that down, as T nnderstand it

Admiral Turxer. Yes, sir. '

Senator KexxEny. You are tracking that down, and you have every
intention of interviewing those people to find out whatever you can
about the program and project '

Admiral Torxer. My only hesitation here is whether I will do this
or the Justice Department.

Senator Kxx~eny. Tt will be pursued, though, I understand?

Admiral TurNER. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexnepy. Either through the Agency or through the Jus-
tice Department ? '

Admiral Tor~xer. [ Nods in the affirmative.]

Senator Kren~epy. Is it plausible that the director of the program
would not understand or know about the details of the program?
1s it plausible that Dr. Gottlieb would not understand the full range
of activities in those particular safe houses?
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Admiral TeryEer. Let me say it is unlikely. I don’t know Mr, Gott-
lieb.

Senator Kexnepy. Has anybody in the Agency talked with M.
Gottlieb to find ont about this?

Admiral TrrNer, Not since this revelation has come out,

Senator Kexwepy, Not sinee this revelation ? Well, why not?

Armiral TurNer, He has left our em ploy, Senator.

Senator Kexwepy. Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you
know, covered for lifetime ?

Admiral Turyer. No, sir.

Senator Ken~xevy. Why wouldn't vou talk with him and find out?
You have new information about this program. It has been a matter
of considerable interest both to our committee and fo the Intelligence
Committee. Why wouldn’t you talk to Mr. (ottlich?

Admiral Torwer. Well. again, I think the issue is whether this
should be done by the Justice Department or ourselves.

Senator Kex~Nepy. Well, are we wrestling around because vou and
Attorney General Bell can’t agree

Admiral Tuexer. No, sir.

Senator Kex~yzepy [continuing]. On who ought to do it.?

Admiral Tur~er. We are proceeding together in complete agreement
as to how to go. T have, in connection with trying to find all of these
Americans or others who were unwittingly tested, I have some con-
siderable concern about the CTA running arounl this country inter-
viewing and interrogating people, becanse T don't want to give any
impression that we are doing domestic intelligence.

Senator Kenvepy. I am just talking about one, in this case, That
was the man who was responsible for the whole program, and to
find out whether anvone within the Apgency since you have had this
new material has talked to Gottlieb since 1975, and if the answer is
no, I want to know why not.

Admiral Torxer. The reason he was not interviewed in connection
with the 1975 hearings was that he had left the employ of the CTA
and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear
to the investigators that the CIA +was in some way trying to influence
him and influence his testimony before the committee. If these
committees have no objection, we would be happy to contact Dr.
Gottlieb and see if he can augment anything here in this new infor-
mation, though I don’t think there is much in this new information
that he can add to as opposed to what was available in 1975,

Senator Kenxrpy, Well, you see, Admiral Turner, you come to the
two committecs this morning and indicate that now at last we have the
information., We don’t have to be concerned about anything in the
future on it. Now, I don’t know how veu can give those assurances to
the members of these committees as well as to the American people
when you haven’t since 1975 even talked to the principal person that
was in charge of the program, and the records were destroved. He is
the fellow that was running the program, and the Agency has not
talked fo him since the development of this new material.

Admiral TurNer. Our only concern here is the proprieties involved,
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Department on
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who, if either of us, should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improper.

Qenator Kexwrvy. Well, do T understand you have not contacted the
Justice Department about this particular case since the development
of this new material about Gottlieb?

Admiral TUgNER, Not about Gottlich specifically. We have contacted
him,

SQenator Kex~epy. Well, it is amazing to me. I mean, can you under-
stand the difficulty that any of us might have in terms of comprehend-
ing that when you develop a whole new series of materials that are on
the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele-
vision. T mean, that means sorfiething, but it does not mean nearly as
much as the interest that we have in the fact about the testing of un-
witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews
has Mr. Gottlieb’s name on it and you come up to tell us that we don’t
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and Mr. Gott-
lieh has not been talked to?

Admiral Trrxer. Sir, I am not saying that these are in any way the
final facts. T am saying these are all the facts we have available,

Senator Kex~epy. And you have not talked to the person who was
in charge of the program, so what kind of value or what kind of weight
can we give it? )

Admiral Torxer. We are happy to talk to him. I think the lssue
here again is one of propriety and how to go about this. We have not,
1 believe, enough new information about Gottlieb’s participation here
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than
what was revealed in 1975.

Senator Kexxepy. The importance of it, T think, from our point
of view, ig, he would know the drugs that were administered, the vol-
ume of drugs, how it was administered, and in terms of vour ability
to follow up to protect these people and their health, to the extent that
it ean be done. that opportunity is being lost.

T want to get on to some others, but will you give us the assurance
that von will get ahold of Gottlieb or that you will talk to Attorney
General Bell and talk with Gottlieb? i

Admiral Tourxer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexveoy. And let us know as to the extent of it. T don’t
see how we can fufill our responsibility in this area on the drug test-
ing without our hearing from Gottlieb as well, but I think it is im-
portant that you do so, particularly since all of the materials have
heen destroved.

These other two agents, have they talked to them?

Admiral Toryer. We don’t know who they arve, sir. We are trying
to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anyhody.

Senator Kexxroy. That is under active investigation by the Ageney?

Admiral TorxER, Yes, sir. ) -

Senator KExxepy. And vou have the intention of talking to those
people when you locate them. Ts that correct ?

Admiral TerNER. Yes. sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb,

Senator Kexxeny. And you have people working on it?

Admiral TvrxER. Yes, sir,
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Senator Kenxrpy. With regards to the activities that took place in
these safe houses, as T understand from the records, two-way mirrors
were used. Is that your understanding ?

Admiral Turner. Yes, siv. We have records that construction was
done to put in two-way mirrous.

Senator Kexweny, And they were placed in the bedroom, as I
understand.

[Pause. |

Senator Kexneny. Well, we have documents

Admiral Tuvrxrr. T believe that was in the Church record, bnt T
don’t have the details, ,

Senator Kexxeny. And rather elaborate decorations were added, as
I understand, at least, to the one in San Francisco, in the bedroom,
which are French can-can dancers, floral pictures, drapery, including
installation of bedroom mirrors, three framed Tonlouse Lautrec post-
ers with black silk mats, and a2 number of other—red bedroom cur-
tains and recording equipment, and then a series of documents which
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide proliferation
of different eash for $100, generally in the S100 range over any period
of time on the particular checks. Iiven the names are blocked out, as
to the person who is receiving it. Cash for undercover agents, operat-
ing expenses, drinks, entertainment while administering, and then 1t
is dashed out, and then the other documents, that would suggest, at
Jeast with the signature of your principal agent out there, that—
“called to the operation, midnight, and climax.”

What can you tell us that it might suggest to yon about what tech-
niques were being used by the Agency in terms of reaching that sort
of broad-based group of Americans that were being evidently enticed
for testing in terms of drugs and others? Do you draw any kind of
conclusion about what might have been going on out there in these
safe houses?

Admiral Tour~er. No, sir.

[ General laughter.]

Senator Kexxepy, There is a light side to it, but there is also an
enormously serious side. And that is that at least the techniques which
are used or were used in terms of testing, and trving to find out ex-
actly the range of drugs used and the numbers of people involved and
exactly what that operation was about, as well as the constant reitera-
tion of the usc of small sums of cash at irregular intervals. A variety
of different techniques were employed but there is an awful lot of
documentation putting these matters together.

When vou look at the faet that it is a broad range population that
has been tested, tested in these two arens, with the kind of cash shHps
that were used in this, payment mechanisms and decorations and all
of the rest, we are not able to put a hottom line on it but one thing is
for sure, and that is, Gottlieb knows. That is one thing for sure, be-
cause his name appears on just about every one of these documents,
and it is, T think, very important to find ont what his understanding
is of the nature of that. So, we will hear more about that.

Admiral Trrver. T believe Gottlieb has been interviewed by the
Congress,

Senator Kexxepy. That’s right, he has, and in reviewing the record.
it is not very satisfactory, and it just seems with the new information
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and the new documentation and the new memoranda—and he did not
have the cheeks at that time—and with the wide variety of different
memoranda with his name on it, his memory could be stimulated on
that.

Thank you.

Senator Ixoorr. I would like to thank the admiral and his staff for
participating in this hearing. I believe the record should show that this
liearing was held at the request of the Agency and the admiral. It was
not held because we insisted upon it. It was a volunteer effort on the
part of the Agency. T think the record should also indicate that Ad-
miral Turner has forwarded to this committee a classified file inciuding
all of the names of the institutions and the persons involved as the
experimentors.

T should also indicate that this hearing is just one step involved in
the comnmittee’s investigation of drug abuse. Just as you have baid much
work in geing over the 8,000 pages, the stafl of this committee has had
eqnal problems, but I swould like the record to show that vou have
made these papers and documents available to the committee, T thank
vou for that.

As part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon
many dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge, and
one of those will be Dr. GGottlieb.

Tn thanking you, I would like to say this to the American people,
that what we have experienced this morning in this committee room
is not being duplicated in any other committee room in any other part
of the world, T doubt that very much. Qur Agency and our intelligence
community has been under much crificism and has been subjected to
mueh abuse, in many cases justified, but this is the most open soctety
that T can think of. For example, in Great Britain there arve about six
people who are aware of the identity of the man in charge of intelli-
gence. In other conntries, similar conditions exist. Here 1n the United
States we not onty know Admiral Turner. we have had open hearings
with him, such as this. The confirration hearings were all open.

Tn a few weeks, the Senate of the United States will debate a resolu-
tion to decide upon whether we shonld disclose the amounts and funds
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. T would
hope that in presenting this issue to the public, the media will take note
that the Agency has cooperated and will continue to. The abuse that
we have learned about this morning is one I hope will never happen
again, but without constant oversight on the part of the Execntive
Office, on the part of the Congress, 1t could happen again. It 1s impor-
tant therefore that we continue in this oversight activity.

So, once again, Admiral, I thank vou very much for helping us. We
will continue to call upon vou for vour assistance, We would like to
submit to you several questions that the members and stafl have pre-
pared. TWe hope vou will Took them over carefully and prepare ve-
sponses for the record, sir.

Senator Kex~yepy. Mr. Chairman?

Senator Inouve. Yes. sir?

Senator Krxxeny. L too. want to thank Admiral Turner for his
responsiveness. T have had meetings with him in the committees and
also conversations, telephone conversations, and private meetings, and
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I have fornd him personally to he extremely responsive, and it is a
very difficult challenge which he has accepted 1n heading this Agency.
I want you to know, personally, 1, too, wauld like to see this put behind
us. I don’t think we are quite there vet in terms of this particular area
that we are interested in. T think the Intelligence Committee has
special responsibilities in this area of the testing. so we look forward
to working with you in expediting the time that we can put it behind,
but it does seem to me that we have to dig in and finish the chapter.
S0, I want to personally express my appreciation to you, Admiral
Turner, and thank you for your cooperation and your help, and T look
forward to working with you

Admiral Teryer, Thank you.

Senator Heoprrstox. My, Chairman, T am not sure you emphasized
this enough, but T think the record ought to show that Admiral Turner
informed the Select Committee on his own mitiative when the new
documentation was found. The documentation has been made avail-
able to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation.

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that
existed prior to the formation at least of the Church committee, and
a difference that is very helpful.

Senator Ixovye. Thank vou very much. Thank you very much,
Admiral.

We would now like to call upon Mr, Philip Goldman and Mr. John
Gittinger.

Mr. Goldman and Mr. (rittinger, will you please rise and take the
oath.

Do you solemly swear that the testimony you are about to give is
the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help vou, God?

Mr. Gouoarax. T do.

Mr. Grrrixger. T do.

Senator INovys. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, and after that, Mr.
Gittinger,

Senator Kexxepy. Before we start m, we had a third witness, Mr.
Chairman, Mr. Pasternac, who planned to testify, traveled to Wash-
ington—he lives in Washington, and was contacted recently—with
the intention of testifying this morning. And something— he called
us late this morning and indicated that he wanted fo get a counsel
before he would wish to testify.

Senator Txvorye. Mr. Goldman.,

Mr. Goldman, will you identify vourself, sir.

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY :

Mr. Gorpyax. T am Philip Goldman.

Senator Ixovyr. And vou are a former employee of the Central
Intelligence Agency? :

My, (Gormarax. Over 10 vears ago.

Senator Ixorye. And vou were employed at the time when
MEULTRA was in operation ?

Mr. Gorparax. There were some MEKULTRA in operation at the
time T was there,
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Senator Ixorye. And Mr. John Gittinger, are you a former em-
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency?

TESTIMONY OF JOHN GITTINGER, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Mr. GrrTINGER. I am. .
Senator INooyYE. Are you still an employee?
Mr. Grrrixcer. No.

Senator Inovys. Were you a member of the Agency at the time
MKULTRA vas in operation?
Mr. GITTINGER. Yes.
Senator Inouye. Thank you. Senator Kennedy.
Senator Kexnwepy. I want to welcome both of you to the committee.
If we could start with Mr. Goldman. Were you the project engineer
for the safe houses in either San Francisco or New York!?
“Mr. Goromax. T know of no safe house in San Franelsco.
Senator Kexxepy. How about in New York?
Mr. Gorpmax. I knew of one facility that was established there,
but I didn’t know anything of its operation.
Senator Kennroy. Were you a moniter on any testing of drugs on
unwitting persons in San Francisco?
Mr. Gorpaax. No.
Senator Kexxepy. Well, we have a clagsified document here that was
provided by the Agency that lists your name as a monitor of the pro-
gram and I would appreciate it 1 you would look

Mr. Gorpymax, I think the misunderstanding arises because I was
project officer.

Senator Kexxeny. Well, would you take a look at that?

[Mr. Goldman inspected the document.]

Mr. Gorpmaxn. This document as 1t states is correct. However,

my
Senator Kexxeny. That document is correct ?

Mr. Goroyan. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But

my
Senator Kenxery. Well, could I get it back, please.
That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program.

My, Gorpmax. I was in charge of disbursing the moneys to Morgan
Hall.

Senator KexweEny. To whom was that ¢

Mr. Goromax. To the individual whose name was listed at the top
of that document.

Senator Kex~epY. And vou knew that he was running the project
in San Francisco?

Mr. Gomnmax. I knew he was the person who was in charge out
there.

Senator Kenxeoy. All right.

Mr. Gorpman. But T had no knowledge nor did T seek knowledee of

actually what he was doing, because there would be other things
involved.

I did receive
Senator Kenvepy. What were vou doing?
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Mr. Goromax. I was collecting—1 had to be sure that all the re-
ceipts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were
paid out to sec that everything was run all right, There was no illegal
use of funds as far as we could determine by the recelpts and cash.

Senator Kennepy. So even though the Agency document indicates
that you were a monitor for the program, one of the fow monitors of
that particular program which you mentioned for San Francisco and
Mill Valley, Calif., you described your responsibility only as a carrier
of money, 1s that correct?

Mr. Gorpman. I would say as a disburser or carTying out—seeing
that the moneys were handled properly. There was within that—I
don’t know what’s done or what he did do in conjunction with other
people.

Senator Kex~¥epY. Were vou responsible for the disbursement of
all the funds?

M. Gowoman. I was responsible for turning over the check to him.

Senator Kexxepy. And what did yon know of the program itself?

Myr. Gorpatan. The only thing T knew of the program was what he
furnished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. T didn’t in-
dulge or concern myself in that.

Senator KExxepY. You still wrote, and Tl let you examine it—
it’s a classified document—but you wrote a rather substantive review
of the program in May of 1963, talking about the expernments, the
factual data that had heen collected, covert and realistic field trials,
about the necessity of those particular—and talked about the effec-
tiveness of the various programs, the efficiency of various delivery
systems. That doesn’t sound to me like someone who ig only

Mr. Gorparaw. Well, if you would refresh my memory, 1f T could
read this I would certainly agree with whatever is said there, if it was
written.

Senator Kex~xrny. [ am trying to gather what your role was. You've
indicated first of all that you didn’t know about vou knew about a
safe house in New York: now we find out that vou're the carrier for
the resources as well and the agent in San Francisco. We find out now
that the C'TA put you ag a monitor, You're testifying that you only were
the courier, and Lere we have just one document, and there are many
others that talk about the substance of that program with your name
on it and I am just trying to find out exactly what role you were
plaving. _

Mr, Goromax. The only thing T can tell you about this and T am
drawing completely on my memory is that this individual who was
in charge out there conducted these things and reported them back to
the Acency. I didn’t participate in any of them. Al T know was that he
furnished me with receipts for things that were done and told of the
work that they had done.

Senator Kixxeny, Well, that document covers more than reccipts.

Mr. Gorparaw. Yes, it tells of what—they had conducted work out
there.

Senator Kexxeny. Tt describes, does it not? Read the paragraph 2.

Mr. Gorpaax, “A number of covert” _

Senator Kenveny., Well, vou can’t read it. it's a classified docnment,
and I don’t know why, quite frankly, but it relates to the substance




53

of those programs and your name is signed fo the memorandums on
it. T am not interested in vou trying to review for us now what is in the
Jocument. but I think it swould be unfortunate if we were left with the
opinion that all you were was a courler of resources when we sce a
document with your name on it, signed, that talks about the gubstance
of the program. And what we're interested in is the substance of the
program. We have the recent documents that werc provided by the
Agency, which do indicate that you were at least mvelved in the
substance, and I'm just trying to find out whether you're willing to
tell us about that.

Mr. Gorparax. T am perfectly willing to teil you everything that
I can remember.

Senator Ken~epy. But yon can’t remember anything.

AMr, Gorpaax. I can’t’ remember the substantive parts of these
things, T really can’t.

Senator Kex~Epy. Of the program that was taking place.

Do you have any greater familiarity with what was happening in
New York?

Mr. (Gor.oMaN. No, O,

Qenator Kex~mor. And yon have the same function with regards
to New York? '

Mr. Gorparax. The same function with regard to New York.

Senator Kexxepy. Did you ever go to San Francisco?

Mr. Gorparax. Yes.

Senator Kexxepy. Did you meet with the agent in charge?

Mr. Goupaax. Yes.

Senator Kexyeny. And why did you meet with him?

Mr. Gorpaan. To diseuss some of the receipts and things that were
there to find ont if these were indeed true expenditures and to find out
if everything was going along all right for the work that was being
done.

Senator Kexveny, What work was being done?

Mr. Gorpaay. No. the reports of these things and whatever was
being done., T don’t know who he reported to but he did report to
somebody.

Senator Kexxepy. You travel out there to find out about the work
that’s being done, and what does he tell you, that the work is being
done well and

My, Gorpaaxy. He told me that the work that they were doing was
going along, progressing satisfactorily, but to be very frank with
vou

Senator Kex~epy. But he didn’t tell you what the work was?

Mr. Gorpaax. To be very frank with you, Senator, I cannot re-
member the things that happened back in those days. T've been away
from the company—from the Agency for over 10 years, and that 18
even farther back than that, and thaf was just about the time when I
first engaged in this. so it was my first '

Sepator Kenweny. Did they disburse a series of 100 checks, to
your recollection ?

Mr. Goroaax. I don’t recollect it, but if you have it there, then
they did.

Senator Kexweny. Did you know Dr. Gottlieb?

Mr. Gorpyax. Yes.
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Senator Kenxepy, How did you know Dr. Gottlieh?

Mr. Goupman. He had been head of the division when T was re-
cruited. _

Senator Kennepy. Did you talk to him about these programs ? Did
you have anything to do with him during this period of time?

Mr. Gorpsaw. I didn’t have anything to do with him until T would
say probably in the sixties.

Senator Kexnepy. And can you tell us what you had to do with
him then? ,

Mr. (Gorparax. Just what you see there on the papers.

Senator Kexwepy. Well, that is the request for the money and he
approves it.

Mr. Gorpman. That is the request for money and he approves it,
and T am quite sure that I probably discussed with him whether the
work was going along all right, whether his reports were being turned
in, and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going
and did he have any complaints about the way other people were
requesting him, but I did not engage myself in anything he was doing.

Senator Kexxeoy. Well, did you get the impression that Gottlieb
knew what was going on

Mr. Gorpmax. T didn’t ask.

Senator KenNepy. But you told him that your Impression that what
was going on even though you didn’t know what was going on, was go-
ing on well, T guess? [Langhter.]

Mr. Gowomax. T told Gottlieb what you saw in there was that the
things appeared to be going along all right. I was repeating and par-
roting back the words that were given to me while T was there,

Sen;ttor Kexneoy. What was the money being spent for, do you
know?

Mr. GoLpman. No; I can’t recall that, sir,

Senator Kexxepy. Would you remember if we told you it was red
curtains and can-can pictures——

Mr. GoLpman. No, sir.

Senator Ken~epy. Floral pictures and the rest,

Mr. Goromax. No, sir.

Senator Kenweny. Recorders.

Mr. Gowparan. No, sir, : _

Senator Kexwepy. Recorders and two-way mirrors.

Mr. Goromax. Wait, hold on. You're slipping a word in there now.

Senator Kexnrpy. But you would have authorized those funds,
would yon not, since you were the

Mr. Goromax. Did you say two-way mirrors ?

Senator Kennepy. Yes.

Mr. GoLprean, Where ?

Senator Kennrny. In the safe houses,

Mr. Garomax. Where ?

Senator Kenneny. San Franeisco,

Mr. Gorpmax. No.

Senator Ken~epy, How about New York?

Mr. GoLomax. Yes.

Senator Kenvepy. You remember now that you approved expendi-
tures for New York?
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Mr. GoLpmAN. Yes.

Senator Ken~epy. What were those expenditures for?

Mr. Gorparax. That was a transfer of money over for the use in
an apartment in New York by the Bureau of Narcotics. Tt was for
their use.

Senator Kenxepy. Do you have any knowledge of what was going
on in the apartment ?

Mr. Gorpyax. No, sir, other than I know that it had been used, ac-
cording to the information that I have been given, it was used by the
Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were
interested 1n with regard to pu%hlncr dope—not pushing dope, but sell-
ing narcotics and that sort of thing,

Senator KenNEDY. Well, T am sure you had many responsibilities and
1t’s a long time ago, but the Agency does indicate that you were project
monitor for that partlculdr program.

Alr. Goroayan, That’s correct.

Senator Kex~epy. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re-
view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being
wisely used, that you came back and talked to the project director, Mr.
Gottlieb, to give him a progress report about what was going on out
there.

Mr. Gorpaax. Yes,sir, I did.

Senator Kux~epy. All those things are true, and yet you draw a
complete blank in terms of what was the project itself. That's where
the record is now.

Mr. Gorpaax. T did not go out there to review the projects nor did
I come back and talk with Mr. Gottlieb and review what I had observed
in terms of any projects that they—that is, other parts of the Agency
might have in operation there. I simply reported back those things
which were told to me by the individual out there who-—and I carried
them back and they are contained in the report that you have in front
of vou, word for word. just as it was given to me.

Senator Xexxepy. The report that you examined here is a substan-
tive report on the partienlar program and project. And I don’t think
anyone who wasn’t familiar with the pr0]ect—th15 18 a personal evalu-
ation—could write a report on the substance of it without knowing
about it. Now, that’s mine. Maybe vou can’t remember and recollect,
and that’s

Mr. Goromax, Noj; everything T put down in there is things that I
was told while I was out there, and if there was any ancillary imforma-
tion involved in there I can tell you I just don’t remember that. I really
don’t.

At the time—that was some years ago, At the time—a lot of time has
passed since then and I have made quite sure that 1f T could recollect it
at all, T would do it. If you have some papers and yon want me to cer-
tify whether yes, this is so or that is so, I can do that, but I can’t recall
it mentally.

Senator Kexnzeny. You just certified the principal. There are others
up here.

T would like to go to Dr. Gittinger.

Mr. Grrrrxcer. It's Mr. Gittinger.

Senator Xex~epy. How long did you serve with the Agency?
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Mr. Grrmincer. Twenty-six vears.

Senator KexNept. Excuse me?

Mzr. Grrrineer, Twenty-six years,,

Senator Kuzxxepy. Twenty-six years.

And at some point you moved into the operational support side, 18
that correct ? '

Mr. GirTiNeer. Yes.

Senator Kexwepy. And did you know Sidney Gottlieb?

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, SiT.

Senator Kenxepy. And did he inform you about. the research proj-
ects involving ISDY?

Mr. GrrriNGER. Y es, SIT.

Senator Kex~epy. It is my understanding that you were also aware
of some of the drug testing projects conducted on unwitting subjects
on the west coast using the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation.
Is that true?

Mr. Grrrixeer. I was.

Senator Ixouye. Excuse me, Would you speak into the microphone?
I cannot hear you. -

Mr. GiTrINGER. Sorry.

Senator Kexxepy. Do you know which drugs were involved in those
tests?

Mr. Gurrizeer. LSD. And 1 can’t remember for sure much of the
others. What is the substance of marihuana, cannabis, is that right, that
can be delivered by other than smoking ?

Senator Kenxeny. Cannabis?

Mr. Girrincer. There had been some discussion of that; yes.

Senator Kex~Epy. And was heroin also used ¢

Mr. Grrrixeer. Heroin used by CIA?

Senator Kex~Nepy. No. In the west coast operation.

Mr. Grrringer. Absolutely not.

Senator Kexnxmpy. Now, to your knowledge, how were the drugs ad-
ministered to theunwitting subjects?

Mr. Girrivcer. I have no direct knowledge.

Senator Kexxepy, Why did you go to the safe houses?

Mr. Grrrrncer. It's a very complicated story. Just in justification of
myself, this came up just day before yesterday. I have not really had
enough time to get it all straightened in my mind, so T ramble.

Senator Kexwepy., Well, vou take your time and tell us in your own
words. We've got some time here,

Mr. Grrrixaer. My responsibilitics which would involve any of the
period of time that you were talking about really was not directly
related to drugs at all. T was a psychologist charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to develop as much information as I could on various
cultures, overseas cultures, anthropological type data, if you follow
what T mean. I was also engaged in tryving to work ont ways and means
of assessing people and understanding people.

I originally became involved in this through working on Chinese
cuiture, and over a series of time I was introduced to the prablem of
brainwashing, which is the thing that really was the most compelling
thing in relationship fo this, and became charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to find out a little hit about interrogation techniques.
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And among other things, we decided or I decided that one of the best
sources of inferrogation techniques wonld be trying to locate and inter-
view and become involved with experienced police interrogators in
the country and experienced people who had real practical knowledge
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty well
convinced after the experience of the brainwashing problems coming
out of China, that it was the technigues of the interrogators that were
cansing the individnals to make confessions and so forth in relationship
to this. rather than any kind of drugging and so forth. So we were
very much interested in interrogation techniques, and this led to me
being introduced to the agent in the west coast, and I began to talk to
him in connection with these interrogation techniques.

Senator Kexxenpy. OK. Now, that is the agent that ran the tests
on the west coast on the unwitting peaple. That's where vou come in,
correct?

Mr. Grrrixveer. 1 T understand—would you say that again

Senator Kexxroy. The name Morgan Hall has been—that is the
name that hag been used.

Mr, Grrringer. Yes.

Senator Kex~epy. And that is the agent that you met with.

Mr. Gyrrixger. That is right.

Senator Kexxeny. And you met at the safe house.

Mr. GirTiNGER. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexxeny. Whom did you meet with in the safe house?

Mr. Grrringer. This is the part that is hard for me to say, and I am
sorry that I have to. In connection with some work that we were
doing, we needed to have some information on sexual habits, Morgan
Hall provided informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex
habits that T was interested in trying to find information. During one
period of time the safe house, as far as I was concerned, was used for
just these particular type of interviews. And I didn’t see the red
curtains.

Senator Kex~epy. Those were prostitutes, were they ?

Mr. GITTINGER. Y es, 81T,

Senator Kenweny. How many different times were you there that
vou had similar

Mr. Grrrizeer. 1 couldn’t possibly say with any certainty on that.
Four or five times.

Senator Kexxepy. Four or five times.

Mr, Grrriseer. Over—you remember now, the period that T'm talk-
ing about when I wonld have any involvement in this is from about
1956 to 1961. So it’s about a 4- or 5-yvear period which 1s the only time
that T know anvthing about what you are talking about here today.

Senator Kexxepy. Did Morgan Hall make the arrangements for
the prostitutes to meet with vou?

Mr. Grrrinaer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexxepy. Did the interviews that vou had have anything to
do with drugs?

Mr. Girrixcer. Well, as I tried to explain earlier when this was
being discussed a little bit beforchand, again I think it is pretty hard
for most people now to recognize how little there was Imown about
drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the
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drug age or the drug culture comes later on. Consequently, those of
us who had any responsibility in this area wore Interested in trying to
get as much information as we could on the subculture, the subculture
drug groups, and obviously the Bureauy of N arcotics represented a
means of doing this, Consequently, other Lypes of things that were
involved in diseussions at that time would have to do with the under-
ground use of drugs. When I am talking about this I am talking about
the folkways in termns of unwitting use of drugs. Did these people that
I was talking to have any information about this and on rarve Instances
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would
largely turn out to be a Mickey IMinn or something of that sort rather
than anything esoterie.

I also was very much interested hecauge we had relatively litile
information, believe it or not, at that time, in terms of the various
reactions that people were having to drugs. Therefore, these people
were very informative in terms of they knew a great deal of informa.
tion about reactions,

Senator Kex~eny. At least you gathered—or am I correct in assum-
ing that you gathered the Impression that the prostitutes that you had
talked to were able to slip the drugs to people as I understand ir, Did
you form any impression on that ?

Mr. Grrroveer. I certainly did not form the impression that they
did this as a rule or

Senator Kex~eny. But they had the knowledge.

Mr. Grrrrxeer. They had the knowledge or some of them had had
knowledge of this being done. But again, as it turned out, it was la rgely
in this area of knockout drops.

Senator KexNepy. Looking back now did you form any impression
about how the Agency was actually testing the broad spectrum of social
classes in these safe houses? With the large disbursal of cash in
small quantities, $100 bills and the kinds of elaborate decorations and
two-way mirrors in the bedrooms and all the rest, is there any question
in your own mind what was going on in the safe houses, or the tech-
niques that were being used to administer these drugs? .

Mr. Grrrizeer. T find it very diffieuit to anewer that uestion, sir. I
had absolutely no direct knowledge there wus a large number of this, T
had no knowledge that anyone other than—than Morgan Hall was in
any way involved in the unwitting administration of drugs.

Senator Kexxeny. But Gottlich would know, would he not ?

Mr. Garrixeer. T believe 80, Yo, 81T,

Senator Kex~xeny. Could we go nto the Iuman Feology Founda-
tion and tall about that and how it was used as an instrwment in terms
of the support of research?

Mr. GrroiNeer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kenxepy., Could you describe it to us? Could you describe
the Human Ecology Foundation, how it functioned and how it worked ?

Mr. Grrriveer, Mav T tell something about how it evolved, which I
think is important ?

Senator Kex~epy. Sure.

Mr. Grrrixeer. The Society for the Investigation of Human Ecol-
0gy, so-called, was actually a—1I am confused here now as to whether
I should name you names.
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Senator Kenxepy. Well, we're not Interested in names or institu-
tions, so we prefer that you do not. That has to be worked out 1n
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the
Institutions.

Bus we're interested in what the Foundation really was and how it
functioned and what its purpose was.

My, Grrrineri. Well, it was established to undertake research in the
oeneral area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no
focus or interest in, say, drug-related type of activities except in a very
minor way, because it was largely set up to attempt to gain a certain
amount of information and to fund projects which were psychological,
sociological, anthiropological in character. It was established in the
sense of u period of time that a Jot of us who are in it wish we could
do it over again, but we were interested in trying to get together a panel
of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to
oversee and help in terms of developing the Society for the Investiga-
tlon of Human Ecology type of program.

The Agency in effect provided the money. They did not direct the
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is, there are a 1ot of innocent peo-
ple who received the Society for the Investigation of Human Ecology
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything
for the CIA but they did get through this indireetly. They had no
knowledge that they were getting CIA money. '

Senator Kennepy. Over what period of time did this take place?

Mr. Grrrivaer. As far as 1 was concerned, it was the period of time
ending in 1961, T believe the Human Ecology fund finally phased out
in 1965, hut T was not involved in this phasing out.

Senator Ken~epy. Can yvou give the range of the different sort of
individual projects of the universities in which it was active?

Mr. Girrincer, Well, it would have as many as—I am very fuzzy
on my memory on the number of projects. It is over 10, 20, 30.

Senator Kexwepy. After it made the grants, what was the relation-
ship of the Agency with the results of the studies? The Foundation
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it
made the grants to these various research programs,

Mr. GrrriNger. Yes, sir.

Senator Kenwepy. And that included eight universities as well as
individual researchers?

Mr. Greriveer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexwepy. Then what follow-up was there to that, sir

Mr. Grrerxeer. Well, in every sense of the word. the organization
was run exactly like any other foundation, and it carried with it the
same thing in terms of making certain that the people that they had
oiven money to used it for the purpose for which it had heen granted,
that they had access to any of the reports that they had put out. but
there were no strings attached to anvbody. There wasn’t any reason
thev couldr’t publish anvthing that thev put out.

Senator Kex~epy. What sort of budget are we talking about here?

Mr. Grrrrverr. T honestly do not remember. T would ouess we are
talking in the realm of about $150.000 a vear, but don’t hold me to that,
hecause I don’t know.
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Senator Kenvepy. What is your view about such funding as a pro-
fessiona% person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer-
sity, sir?

Mr. Grrringer. Well, obviously, sir, insofar as today there is no
question about it. T will have to say at the time that we were doing this
there was quite an entirely different kind of an attitude, and I do
know for a fact that we moved to start towards phasing out the So-
ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol-
ogy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised.

Senator Kenwepy. Well, that is commendahle, both vonr attitude
and the reasons for it, but during that period of time it still was in-
volved in behavior research programs, as T understand it.

Mr. Grrriseer, Yes, sir. On its own, in conneetion with this, it
participated again. and these again were not CIA-directed projects,
but these were all things which would theoretically contribute to the
ceneral knowledge at the time where the things like the study of the
Hungarian refugees—obvionsly, the study of the Hungarian refugees
who came to this country after the Hungarian revolt was a very use-
ful exercise to try to get information about the personality character-
istics of the Communists and so forth.

Senator Kuxnupy. Were there other foundations that were doing
similar kinds of worlk?

Mr. GiTTrNGER. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator Kex~vrpy. You believe

Mr. Grrroxeer. You mean. CTA, other CTA 7

Senator Kexnrpy. Right. ,

Mr, Grrrineer. Well, my answer is in the sense that T know of no
other CTA foundations, no. There were, of course, other foundations
doing similar kinds of work in the United States.

Senator Kennepy. Have you heard of the Psychological Assess-
ments Foundation?

Mr. GrrrrNeer. T certainly have,

Senator KeNNepy. What was that? What function did that have?

Mr. Grrrineer. Now, this was bringing us up to a different era. I
believe the functions of that oreanization have nothing whatsoever
to do with the things that are being talked about here while T was
associated with it,

Senator Krxnepy. Rather than getting into the work. it was another
foundation, was it not? It was another foundation supported by the
Agency ?

Mr. Grrriverr. What, the Psychological Assessment 2

Senator Kexwrpy. Yes.

Mr. Grrrineer. No, sir, it was not.

Senator Krnwzpy. Tt did not get any support at all from the
Agency?

o Mr. Grrringer. Oh, yes, sir. It did get support, but it was a business
T,

Senator Kenwepy. It was a-business but it got snpport from the
Agency?

Mr, Grrrixeer. It got money from it. but it definitely was not in
MEKULTRA or in any way associated with this,
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Senator Kexveny. All right. I want to thank youn for your helpful
testimony, Mr. Gittinger. It is not easy to go back into the past. 1
think you have been very fair in your characterizations, and I think
it is quite appropriately indicated that there are different standards
now from what they were 25 years ago, and 1 think you have responded
very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good
deal of feeling about it.

You are a person who is obviously attempting to serve the country’s
interest, so I want to thank you very much for your statement and
for your helpful timeliness.

Mr. Grrriveer. Thank you, sir.

Qenator Inovye. Senator Case?

Senator Case. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. T am sorry that I had
another committee that I had to complete the hearing with this morn-
ing before I got here. ]

T shall read the testimony with very great. interest, and I apprecl-
ate your testimony as I have heard it. T would like to comment just on
one point, and that is, it relates to a story in the press yesterday about
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at a foreign
university. I would like to elicit from you a comment as to the addi-
tional sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your
standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen, if you will.

Ar. Grrrixerr. 1 will say it was after the fact thinking. It was utter
stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money
outside the Tnited States when it was CIA money. I can categorically
state to my knowledge and I don’t claim a complete knowledge all the
way across of the human ecology functions, but to my knowledge, and
this is unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting
money from CTA, and they were not asked to contribute anything to
CTA as such.

Senator Casg. It would be interesting to try to examine this by turn-
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if this hap-
pened from a foreign official agency to our own university. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. :

Qenator Inouye. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Scirwerker. Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Dr. Goldman, I wonder if you would tell us what your training and
edueational background is? '

Tr. Gorpmax. I have already given a hiography for the record.

Senator ScHwEIKER. I have not seen it, Who has it? Ts it classified ?
We may have it for the record, but may T ask you to briefly describe
your training and backeround for ns now? I hope 1t is ne secret.

Dr. Gorpyax, Well, I was told if T was asked this to say that. I was
told that by your staff people, but T have no objection to telling you.
I am = resident from Pennsylvania, southwest Pennsylvania, Lan-
caster County. I went to Penn State, and T am in nutrition.

Senator SCIwEISER, In what?

Dir. Gorpamax, Nutrition.

Qenator SCHWEIKER. Were you in charge of 2 section or segment of
the CTA in your past capacity

Dr. Gorparax. During the time T was with that organization, 1 was
in charge of one small section of it, one small segment of it; yes.
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Senator ScHwriker. What was the function or purpose of that sec-
tion that you headed?

Dr, Gorparax, To provide support for the other parts of the division.

Senator ScHwEIKER. Where 1n the chain of command would that put
you in relation to Dr. Gottlieh? :

Dr. Goromax. Pretty far down the line.

Senator Scuwrrger. Mr. Gittinger, ¥ would just like to ask you a
few questions. We appreciate your frankness and candor with the com-
mittee, and we realize this is a very difficult area to go into. I am not
quite clear on two matters that were raised earlier. First, were the safe
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes
vou referred to?

Mr. Grraaxcer. I really have not the slightest idea.

Senator ScHwrikEr, Were the prostitutes used in any way to slip
the customers drugs for observation purposes?

Mr. Girringer. Not to my direct knowledge,

Senator Scrrwrigrr. Would you have been in a position to know the
answer to either of these questions?

Mr. Grrrineer. May I say, probably not, and may T make an aside
to explain a little bit of this, please, sir?

Senator ScriwrIKer. Mr. Gittinger. a moment ago you mentioned
brainwashing techniques, as one area that you had, I guess, done some
work in. How would you characterize the state of the art of brain-
washing today? Who has the most expertise in this field, and who is
or isnot doing it in terms of other governments?

During the Korean war there was a lot of serious discussion about
brainwashing techniques being used by the North Koreans, and I am
interested in finding out what the state of the art is today, as you see it.

Mr. Grrrizaer. Well, of course, there has been a great deal of work
on this, and there is still a great deal of controversy. I can tell you that
as far as I knew, by 1961, 1962, it was at least proven to my satis-
faction that brainwashing, so ealled, is some kind of an csoteric device
where drugs or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were
used, did not exist even though *The Manchurian Candidate” as a
movie really set us back a long time. because it made something im-
possible look plausible. Do you follow what T mean? But by 1962 and
1963, the general idea that we were able to come up with is that brain-
washing was largely a process of isolating a human being, keeping
him out of contact, putting him under long stress in relationship to
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce any
change that way without having to resort to any kind of esoteric
means.

Senator Sciwriker. Are there ways that we can ascertain this from
a distance when we see a captive prisoner either go on television, in
a photograph, or at a press conference? In other words, are there cer-
tain signs that you have learned to recognize from your technical
background, to tell when brainwashing has occurred ¢ Or is that very
diffieultto do?

Mr. Grrriveer. Tt is difficult to do. T think it is posible now in terms
of looking at a picture of somebody who has been in enemy hands for
a long period of time. We can get some pretty good ideas of what kind
of circumstances he has been under, if that is what you mean.
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Senator Scmweiker. That is all T have, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator Inorye. Thank you very much.

Before adjourning the hearings, I would like to have the record
show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated
with the committee in staff interviews, that they appear this morning
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena.

Gentlemen, I realize that this experience may have been an unhappy
one and possibly a painful one. Therefore, we thank you very much
for participating this morning. We also realize that the circumstances
of that time differed very much from this day, and possibly the na-
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this type of
activity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have
committed crimes, but rather in hope that you can assist us in studying
this- problem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we
thank you for your participation, and we look forward to working
with you further in this case.

Thank you very much.

Senator Kexnepy. Mr. Chairman, I would like also to thank the
witnesses. These are difficult matters, and I think all of us are very
grateful, _

Senator Scrwerker. I think the witnesses should know that though
it may not always seem that way, what we ave trying to do 1s to probe
the past and look at the policies of the past to affect the future. I think
our emphasis really is on the future, not the past, but it is iImportant
that we learn from the past as we formulate policies and legislation
for the future, I hope that all of the witnesses who did come before us
voluntarily this morning, including Admiral Turner respect the fact
that we are questioning the past to learn about the future. I think it
should be looked at in that light. '

Senator Kexxepy. I think that is the spirit in which we have had
these hearings. It scems to me that from both these witnesses and
others, Gottlieb knows the information and can best respond, and we
arc going to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to get
M. Gottlieb to appear, and we obviously look forward to cooperating
with Senator Inouve and the other members of the committee in get-
ting the final chapter written on this, but we want to thank you very
much for your appearance here.

Senator Ixouyr. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call
of the Chair,

[Whereupon, at 12:12 p.m., the hearing was recessed, subject to the
call of the Chair.]



APPENDIX A

XVIL TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI-
CAT, AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

Under its mandate * the Select Committee has studied the testing and
use of chemical and biological agents by intelligence agencies. Detailed
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in-
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately
published appendix to the Senate Select Commmittee’s report. This sec-
tion of the report will disenss the rationale for the programs, their
monitoring and control, and what the Committee’s investigation has
revealed about the relationships among the intelligence agencies and
about their relations with other government agencies and private in-
stitutions and individuais.? _

Fears that countries hostile to the United States would use chemi-
cal and biological agents against Americans or America’s allies led
to the development of a defensive program designed to discover tech-
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and counteract
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became
secondary as the possible use of these agents to obtaln information
from, or gain control over, enemy agents became apparent.

Research and development programs to find materials which could
be used to alter human behavior were initiated in the Jate 1940s and
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing
of drugs involving witting human subjects, and culminated 1n tests
using unwitting, nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests were de-
signed to determine the potential effects of chemical or biological
agents when used operationally against individuals unaware that they
had received a drug. :

The testing programs were considered highly sensitive by the in-
telligence agencies administering them. Few people, even within the
agencies, knew of the programs and there is no evidence that either
the executive branch or Congress were ever informed of them. The
highly compartmented nature of these programs may be explained in
part by an observation made by the CTA Inspector General that, “the
knowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

' Senate Resolution 21 dirscts the Senate Seleet Committee on Intelligence
Activities to investigate a number of issues:

“({a) Whether agencies within the intelligence community conducted illegal
domestic activities (Section 2(1) and (2} };

“(p) The extent to which agencies within the intelligence community cooper-
ate (Section 2(4) and (8));

“(e) The adequacy of executive branch and congressional oversight of intel-
ligence activities (Seetion 2(7) and (11));

“(d) The adequacy of existing laws to safegnard the rights of American citi-
zens (Section 2(13))."

2 The details of these programs may never be known. The programs were highly
compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for
the CIA's principal program was destroyed early in 1973.

(385)
(65)
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic cireles
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions.” 3
The research and development program, and particularly the co-
vert testing programs, resulted in massive abridgments of the rights
of American citizens, sometimes with tragic consequences. The deaths
of two Americans * can be attributed to these programs; other partici-
pants in the testing programs may still suffer from the residual ef-
fects. While some controlled testing of these substances might be de-
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration
of L3D to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda-
mental disregard for the value of human life. : '
The Select Committee’s investigation of the testing and use of chem-
ical and biological agents also ralse serious questions about the ade-
quacy of command and control procedures within the Central Intelli-
gence Agency and military inteliigence, and about the relationships
among the intelligence agencies, other governmental agencies, and
private institutions and individuals. The CIA’s normal administrative
controls were waived for programs involving chemical and biological
agents to protect. their security. According to the head of the Audit
Branch ¢t the CIA. these waivers produced “gross administrative
fallures.” They previnted the CIA’s internal review mechanisms (the
Office of General Counsel, the Inspector General, and the Audit Staff)
from adequately supervising the programs. In general, the waivers had
the paradoxical effect of providing less restrictive administrative con-
trols and less effective internal review for controversial and highly
sensitive projects than those governing normal Agency activities.

The security of the programs was protected not only by waivers

of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com-
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the
CIA’s Medical Staff from the principal research and testing program
employing chemical and biologieal agents,

It also may have led to agency policymakers receiving differing
and inconsistent responses when they posed questions to the CIA
component involved.

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CTA was matched by juris-
dictional conflict among the various intelligence agencies. A spirit of

cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially

characterized the programs disappeared. Military testers withheld in-
formation from the CIA, ignoring suggestions for coordination from
their saperiors. The CIA similarly failed to provide information to
the military on the CIA’s testing program. This failure to cooperate
was conspicuously manifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal

3 CIA Inspector General's Survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.

% On January 8, 1933, Mr. Harold Blauer died of circulatory collapse and heart
failure following an intravenocus injection of a synthetic mescaline derivative
while a gubject of tests conducted by New York State Psyehiatric Tnstitute under
a contract let by the U.8. Army Chemical Corps. The Committee’s investigation
into drug testing by U.8. intellizence agencies focused on the testing of LSD, how-
ever, the committee did receive a ecopy of the U.S. Army Inspector General’s
Report, issued on October 1975, on the events and circumstances of Mr. Blauer’s
death. His death was directly atributable to the administration of the synthetic
mesecaline derivative.

e
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their overseas testing program, which included surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD, from the CIA. Learning of the Army’s program,
the Agency surreptitiously attempted to obtain details of it.
The-lecision to institute one of the Army’s LSD field testing projects

tiad been based, at least in part, ont the finding that no long-term resid-
uzl effects had ever resulted from the drug’s administration. The
CIA’s failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the
surreptitions administration of LSD to unwitting Americans, may well

. . -

have resulted in the institution of an unnecessary and potentially lethal

rogram. : .

f[%qe development, testing, and use of chyTical and biological agents
by intelligence agencies raises serious questions about the relationship
between the intelligence community and foreign governments, other
agencies of the Federal Government, and other institutions and in-
dividuals. The questions raised range from the legitimacy of American
complicity in actions abroad which violate American and foreign laws
to the possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti-
tutions used as cover by intelligence agencies,

A. Tor ProcramMs INVESTIGATED

1. Project CHATTER

Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began in the fall of
1947. Responding to reports of “amazing results” achieved by the
Soviets in using “truth drugs,” the program focused on the identifica-
tion and testing of such drugs for use in interrogations and in the
recruitment of agents. The résearch included laboratory experiments
on animals and hum:; subjects involving Anabasis aphylia, scopola-
mine, and mescaline in order to determine their speech-inducing quali-
ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part.of the project.

The project expanded substantially during the Korean War, and
ended shortly after the war, in 1933. . _

8. Project BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE

The earliest of the CIA’s major programs involving the use of
chemical and biological agents, Project BLUEBIRD, was approved by
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were:

(a) discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent
unauthorized estraction of information from them by known
means, (b) investigating the possibility of control of an in-
dividual by application of special interrogation techniques,
(¢) memory enhancement, and (d) establishing defensive
means for preventing hostile control of Agency personnel.®

As a result of interrogations condueted overseas during the project,
another goal was added—the evaluation of offensive uses of unconven-
cional interrogation techniques, including hypnosis and drugs. In .
*August 1951, the project was renamed ART ICHOKE, Project ARTI-
CHOKE included in-house experiments on interrogation techniques,
conducted “under medical and security controls which would ensure

‘)ACIA memorandum to the Seleet Committee, “Bebavioral Drugs and Testing,”
2/11/75.
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that ne damage was done to individuals who volunteer for the experi- -
ments.” © Overseas interrogations utilizing a combination of sogium
pentothal and hypnosis after physical and psychiatric examinations of
the subjects were also part of ARTICHQOKE.

The Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSI), which studied scientific
advances by hostile powers, initially led BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOXKE
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans-
ferred from OSI to the Inspection and Security Office (I&S0), pre-
decessor to the present Office of Security. The CIA’s Technical Serv-
ices and Medical Staffs were to be called upon as needed; OSI would
retain laison function with other government agencies.® The change
in leadership from an intelligence unit to an operating unit appar-
ently reflected a change in emphasis; from the study of actions by
hostile powers to the use, both for offensive and defensive purposes,
of special interrogation techniques—primarily hypnosis and truth
serums.

Representatives from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE
met almost monthly to discuss thelr progress. These discussions in-
cluded the planning of overseas interrogations® as well as further
experimentation in the U.S.
~ Information about project ARTICHOKE after the fall of 1933
is searce. The CIA maintains that the project ended in 1956, but evi-
dence suggests that Office of Security and Office of Medical Services
use of “special interrogation” techniques continued for several years
thereafter.

3. MENAOMI

MENAOMI was another major CIA prosram in thisarea. In 1967,
the CIA summarized the purposes of MKNAOMI:

(2) To provide for a covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operational requirements.

(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma-
terials for the specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision }.

(¢) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique
it-e-mei for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-
terials, '

(d) To provide for the required surveillance, testing, up-
grading, and evaluation of materials and items in order to
assure absence of defects and complete predictability of re-
sults to be expected under operational conditions.®

Under an agreement reached with the Army in 1952, the Special
Operations Division {SOD) at Fort Detrick was to assist CIA. in
developing, testing, and maintaining biclogical agents and delivery

* Memorandum from Robert Tavlor, O/DD/P tn the Assistant Deputy (In-
spection and Security) and Chief of the Medical Staff, 3/22/52.

* Memorandum from H. Marshall Chadwell. Assistant THrector, Scientific Tntel-
ligence, to the Deputy Director/Plans (TINP)Y “Praiect ARTICHOKE,” 8/29/52.

® “Progress Report, Project ARTICHOKE." 1/12/53.

* Memerandum from Chief, TRD/Binlagical Braneh to Chief. TSD “MEKNAOMI :
Funding, Obiectives, and Aecamnlishment="" 10/18/47. p. 1. For a fuller deserip-
tion of MKNAOMI and the relationship between CIA and SOD. see p. 360 ff.
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systems. By this agreement, CIA acquired the knowledge, skill, and
facilities of the Army to develop biological weapons suited for CIA
use. _

SOD developed darts coated with biological agents and pills con-
taining several different biological agents which could remain potent
for weeks or months. SOD also developed = special gun for firing
darts coated with a chemical which could allow CIA agents to incapaci-
tate a guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to
conseiousness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop
a similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also physically transferred
to CIA personnel biological agents in “bulk” form, and delivery
devices, including some containing biological agents.

In addition to the CTA’'s interest in biological weapons for use
against humans, it also asked SOD to study use of biological agents
against crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandur, the CIA stated:

Three methods and systems for carrying out a covert attack
against crops and causing severe crop loss have been devel-
oped and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom-
plished in anticipation of a requirement which was later
developed but was subsequently serubbed just prior to put-
ting into action.®a

. MENAOMI was terminated in 1970. On November 25, 1969, Prest-
Jdent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that
kill or incapacitate and ordered the disposal of existing stocks of bac-
teriological weapons. On February 14, 1970, the President clarified the
extent of his eariier order and indicated that toxins—chemicals that
are not living organisms but are produced by living organisms—were
considered biclogical weapons subject to his previous directive and
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinguish control of
material held for the CTA by SOD, a CTA scientist acquired approxi-
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De-
trick which were stored in a little-used CIA laboratory where it went
undetected for five years.*®

4 MEULTRA

MEKULTRA was the principal CTA program involving the research
and development of chemical and biological agents. Tt was “con-
cerned with the research and development of chemical, biological, and
radiological materials capable of employment in clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior.” 1

In January 1973, MKULTRA records were destroyed by Technical
Services Division personnel acting on the verbal orders of Dr. Sidney
Gottlieb, Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieb has testified, and former Direc-
tor Helms has confirmed, that in orderine the records destroved, Dr.
Gottlieb was carrying out the verbal order of then DCI Helms.

MEULTRA began with a proposal from the Assistant Deputy
Director for Plans, Richard Helms, to the DCI, outlining a special

= IBid. p. 2.
© Senate Select Committee, 9/16/73, Hearings, Vo. 1.
2 Memorandum from the CIA Inspector General to the Director, 7/26/63.
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friding mechanism for highly sensitive CIA résearch and develop-
ment projects that studied the use of biological and chemical materials
in altering human behavior. The projects involved :

Research to develop a capability in the covert use of bio-
logical and chemical materials, This area involves the produc-
tion of various physiological conditlons which could support
present or future ciandestine operations. Aside from the of-
fensive potential, the development of a comprehensive capa-
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare
gives us a thorough knowledge of the enemy’s theoretical
potential, thus enabling us to defend ourselves against a foe
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-
niques as we are.'* :

MEKULTRA was approved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the
Iines proposed by ADDP Helms.

Part of the rationale for the establishment of this special fund-
ing mechanism was its extreme sensitivity. The Inspector General’s
survey of MEULTRA in 1963 noted the following reasons for this
sensitivity : '

a. L{t=earch 1 the manipulation of human behavior is con-
sidered by man:. authorities in medicine and related fields
to be “professionuily unethical, therefore the reputation of
professional participants in the MKULTRA program are on
oceaslon in jeapardy. : _

b. Some MEKULTRA activities raise questions of legality
implieclt in the original charter, -

-c. A final phase of the testing of MEKULTRA products
places the rights and interests of T.S. citizens in jeopardy.

d. Public disclosure of some aspects of MKULTRA activ-
ity could induce serious adverse reaction in T0.8. public
opinion, as well as stimmlate offensive and defensive action
m this field on the part of foreign intelligence servieces.

Over the ten-vear life of the program, many “additional avenues to
the control of human behavior” were designated as appropriate for
investigation under the MK TUTLTRA charter. These include “radiation,
electroshock, various fields of psychology, psychiatry, sociclogy. and
anthropoloey. graphology, harassment substances, and paramilitary
devices and materials.” 4

The research and development of materials to be used for altering.
" human behavior consisted of three phases: first, the search for ma-
terials suitable for sindy: second. laboratory testing on voluntary
human subicets in varions types of institutions; third, the application
of MEULTRA materials in normal life settings.

The search for snitable materials was condueted through standing
arrangements ywith sneclalists ln universities, pharmaceutical houses,
hospitals. state and federal institutions, and private research organi-

*Memorandum frem ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A, pp. 1-2.

?1.G. Report on MKGLTRA, 1963, pp. 1-2.
¥ I1bid, p. 4.
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made
nder ostensible research foundation auspices, thereby concealing the
CTA’s interest from the specialist’s institution. _

The next phase of the MKULTRA program involved physicians,
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics, and general
hospitals, and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the
basic research phase, they conducted intensive tests on human subjects,

“"One of the first studies was conducted by the National Institute of
Mental Health. This study was intended to test varions drugs. inclnd-
ing hallucinogenics, at the NIMI Addiction Research Center in Lex-
ington, Kentucky. The “Lexington Rehabilitation Center,” as it was

then called, was a prison for drug addicts serving sentences for drug
vielations.

The test subjects were volunteer prisoners who, after taking a brief
physical examination and signing a general consent form, were admin-
istered hallucinogenic drugs. As a reward for participation in the
program, the addicts were provided with the drug of their addiction.

LSD) was one of the materials tested in the MKULTRA program.
The final phase of LSD testing involved surreptitions administration
to unwitting nonvolunteer snbjects in normal life settings by under-
cover officers of the Bureau of Nareotics acting for the CIA.

The rationale for such testing was “that testing of materials under
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac-
tions and attributions that may occur in operational sitnations.” ¥

Accordine to the CIA, the advantage of the relationship with the
Bureau was that

test subjects could be sought and cultivated within the setting
of narcotics control. Some subjects have been informers or
members of suspect criminal elements from whom the [Bu-
reat of Narcotics] has obtained resulis of onerational value
through the tests. On the other hand, the effectiveness of the
substances on individuals at all social levels, high and low,
native American and foreign, is of great significance and
testing kas been performed on a variety of indiwiduals withen
these categories. | Eaphasis added.] **

A special procedure, designated MEDELTA. was es‘ablished to
govern the use of KU TRA materials abroad. Snch materials were
used on a number of oceasions. Because MEULTRA records were
destroved, it is impossible to reconstruet the operational use of
MEULTRA materials by the CIA overseas; it has been determined
that the use of these materials abroad began in 1933, and possibly ag
early as 1950,

Drues were used primarily as an aid to interrogations, but
VKULTRA/MEDELTA materials were nlso used for harassment,
diserediting, or disabling purposes. According to an Inspector General
Survey of the Technieal Services Division of the CTA 1n 1957—an
inspection which did not discover the MEULTRA project involving

the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting, nonvolunteer

B Ireid, p. 21.
# Ibid., pp. 11-12.
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subjects—the CIA had developed six drugs for operational use and
they had been used in six different operations on a total of thirty-three
subjects.* By 1963 the number of operations and subjects had in-
creased substantially. . _

In the spring of 1963, during a wide-ranging Inspector General
survey of the Technical Services Division, a member of the Inspector
General's staff, John Vance, learned about MKULTRA and about
the project involving the surreptitious administration of 1.SIJ to un-
witting, nonvoluntary human subjects. As a result of the discovery
and the Inspector General’s subsequent report, this testing was halted
and much tighter administrative controls were imposed on the pro-
gram. According to the CIA, the project was decreased significantly
each budget year until its complete termination in the late 1960s.

8. The Testing of LSD by the Army

There were three major phases in the Army’s testing of LSD. In the
first, LSD was administered to more than 1,000 American soldiers who
volunteered to be subjects in chemical warfare experiments. In the
second phase, Material Testing Program EA 1729, 95 volunteers re-
ceived I.SD in clinical experiments designed to evaluate potential
intelligence uses of the drug. In the third phase, Projects THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT, 16 unwitting nonvolunteer subjeets
were interrogated after receiving LSD as part of operational field
tests.

B. CIA Drre Testine Procrads

1. The Rationale for the Testing Programs

The late 1940s and early 1950s were marked by concern over
the threat posed by the activities of the Soviet Union, the People’s
Republic of China, and other Communist bloc countries. United States
concern over the use of chemical and biological agents by these powers
was acute. The belief that hostile powers had used chemical and bio-
logical agents in interrogations, brainwashing, and in attacks designed
to harass, disable, or kill Allied personnel created considerable pres-
sure for a “defensive’” program to investipate chemical and biological
agents so that the intelligence community could understand the mech-
anisms by which these substances worked and how their effects could
be defeated.®

Of particular eoncern was the drug 1.SD. The CTA had received
reports that the Soviet Union was engaged in intensive efforts to pro-
duce LSD; and that the Soviet Union had attempted to purchase the
world’s supply of the chemical. As one CIA officer who was deeply
mvolved in work with this drug described the climate of the times:
“{It] is awfully hard in this day and age to reproduce how frightening
all of this was to us at the time, particularly after the drug scene has
become as widespread and as knowledgeable in this country as it did.
But we were literally terrified, becanse this was the one material that we

T Ihid, 1957, p. 201.

®Thus an officer in the Office of Security of the OIA stressed {he ‘“urgency of
the discovery of technigues and method that would permif cur personnel, in the
eveni of their eapture by the enemy, to resist or defeat cuemy interrogaton,”
{Minutes of the ARTICHOKT conference of 10/22/53.)
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had ever been able to locate that really had potential fantastic possi-
bilities if used wrongly.” *¢

But the defensive orientation soon became secondary. Chemical and
biological agents were to be studied in order “to perfect techniques . . .
for the abstraction of information from individuals whether willing or
not” and in order to “develop means for the control of the activities and
mental capacities of individuals whether willing or not.”* One
Agency official noted that drugs would be useful in order to “gain con-
trol of bodies whether they were willing or not” in the process of re-
moving personnel from Europe in the event of a Soviet attack.” In
other programs, the CTA began to develop, produce, stockpile, and
maintain in operational readiness materials which could be used to
harass, disable, or kill specific targets.** :

Reports of research and development in the Soviet Union, the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, and the Communist Bloe countries provided
the basis for the transmutation of American programs from a defen-
sive to an offensive orientation. As the Chief of the Medical Staff of
the Central Intelligence Agency wrotein 1952:

There is ample evidence in the reports of innumerable inter-
rogations that the Communists were utilizing drugs, physical
duress, electric shock, and possibly hypnosis against their ene-
mies. With such evidence it is difficult not to keep from be-
coming rabid about our apparent laxity. We are forced by this
mounting evidence to assume a more aggressive role in the
development of these techniques, but must be cautious to
maintain strict inviolable control because of the havoc that
could be wrought by such techniques in unscrupulous hands.™

In order to meet the perceived threat to the national security, sub-
stantial programs for the testing and use of chemical and biological
agents—including projects involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of L.SD to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects “at all social levels,
high and low, native American and foreign”—were conceived, and
implemented. These programs resulted in substantial viclations of the
rights of individuals within the United States.

B Tostimony of CIA officer, 11/21/75, p. 33.

2 Aemorandum from the Director of Security to ARTICHOKE representa-
tives, Subject : “ARTICHOKE Restatement of Program.”

L ARTICHORE memorandum, 7,/30/533.

2 The Inspector General’'s Report of 1957 on the Technical Services Division
noted that “Six specifie products have been developed and are available for oper-
ational use. Three of them are discrediting and disabling materials which can be
administered unwittingly and permit the exercise of a measure of control over the
actions of the subjeet.”

A memorandum for the Chief, TSD, Biological Branch to the Chief, TSD,
10,/18/67, described two of the objectives of the CIA’s Project MEKNAOMI as:
“to stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal materials for the specific use of
TSD” and “to maintain in operational readiness special and unique items for
the dissemination of biclogiecal and chemical maferals.”

B pfemorandum from the Chief of the Medical Staff, 1/25/32.
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Although the CIA recognized these effects of LSD to unwitting in-
dividuals within the United States, the project continued.* As the
Deputy Director for Plans, Richard Heims, wrote the Deputy Direc-
tor of Central Intelligence during discussions which led to the cessa-
tion of unwitting testing:

While I share your uneasiness and distaste for any pro-
gram which tends to intrude upon an individual’s private
and legal prerogatives, I believe it is necessary that the
Agency maintain a central role in this activity, keep current
ont enemy capabilities the manipulation of hwman behavior,
and maintain an offensive capability.®

There were no attempts to secure approval for the most controversial
aspects of these programs from the executive branch or Congress.
The nature and extent of the programs were closely held secrets; even
DCI McCone was not briefed on all the details of the program in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD until 1963. It was
deemed Imperative that these programs be concealed from the Ameri-
can people. As the CIA's Inspector General wrote in 1957:

Precautions must be taken not only to protect operations
from exposure to enemy forces but also to conceal these ac-
tivities from the American public in general. The knowledge
that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activities
would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles and would be detrimental to the acecomplishment
of its mission.2s

2. The Death of Dr. Frank Olson

The most tragic result of the testing of LSD by the CTA was the
death of Dr. Frank Olson, a civilian employee of the Army, who died
on November 27, 1953. His death followed his participation in a CIA
experiment with LSD. As part of this experiment, Olson unwittingly
received approximately 70 micrograms of LSD in a glass of Cointreau
he drank on November 19, 1953. The drug had been placed in the bottle
by a CIA officer, Dr. Robert Lashbrook, as part of an experiment
he and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb performed at a meeting of Army and
CIA scientists, :

Shortly after this experiment, Olson exhibited symptoms of para-
noia and schizophrenia. Accompanied by Dr. Lashbtrook, Olson songht
psychiatric assistance in New York City from a physician, Dr. Harold
Abramson, whose research on T.8D had been funded ndirectly by
the CTA. While in New York for treatment, Olson fell to his death
from a tenth story window in the Statler Hotel.

* Even during the discussions which led to the termination of the unwitting
festing, the DDP turned down the option of halting sueh tests within the T.S.
and continuing them abroad despite the fact that the Technical Services Divi-
sion had conducted numerous operations abroad making use of LSD. The DDP
made this decision on the basis of security noting that the past efforts overseas
had resulted in “making an inordinate number of foreign nationals witting of
our role in the very sensitive activity.” (Memorandum for the Deputy Director
of Cenfral Intelligence from the Deputy Director for Plans, 12717763, p. 2.

*= ['bid., pp. 2-3.

*1.G. survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.
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a. Background.—QOlson, an expert in aerobiology who was assigned
to the Special Operations Division (SOD) of the U.S. Army Biolog-
ical Center at Camp Detrick, Maryland. This Division had three
primary functions:’

(1) assessing the vulnerability of American installations
to biological attack; _ _

(2) developing techniques for offensive use of biological
weapons; and

(3) biological research for the CIA.*

Professionally, Olson was well respected by his colleagues in both
the Army and the CIA. Colonel Vincent Ruwet, Qlson’s immediate
superior at the time of his death, was in almost daily contact with
Olson. According to Colonel Ruwet: “As a professional man . .. his
ability . . . was outstanding.” ** Colonel Ruwet stated that “during
the period prior to the experiment . .. 1 noticed nothing which
would lead me to believe that he was of unsound mind.” * Dr. Lash-
brook, who had monthly contacts with Olson from early 1952 until
the time of his death, stated publicly that before Olson received LSD,
Gag far as I know, he was perfectly normal.” * This assessment is n
direct contradiction to certain statements evaluating Olson’s emo-
tional stability made in CIA internal memoranda written after
QOlson’s death.

b. The Experiment—On November 18, 1953, a group of ten seien-
tists Trom the CIA and Camp Detrick attended a semi-annual review
and analysis conference at a cabin located at Deep Creek Lake, Mary-
land. Three of the participants were from the CIA’s Technical Serv-
ices Staff. The Detrick representatives were all from the Special
Operations Division.

According to one CIA oficial, the Special Operations Division
participants “agreed that an unwitting experiment would be
desirable.” 3! This account directly contradicts Vincent Ruvwet’s recol-
lection. Ruwet recalls no such discussion, and has asserted that he
would remember any such discussion because the SOD participants
would have strenuously objected to testing on unwitting subjects.™

In May, 1953, Richard Helms, Assistant DDP, held a staff meeting
which the Chief of Technical Services Staff attended. At this meeting
Helms “indicated that the drug [LSD] was dynamite and that he
should be advised at all times when it was intended to use it.” ** In
addition, the then DDP, Frank Wisner, sent a memorandum to TSS
stating the requirement that the DDP personally approve the use of
LSD. Gottlieb went ahead with the experiment,® securing the ap-

7 Staff summary of Vincent Ruwet Interview, 8/13 /75, p. 8.

i‘Memﬂrandum of (Col. Vincent Ruwet, To YWhom It May Concern, no date,
p. 2. .
2 Ruwet Memoerandum, p, 3.

» Toseph B. Treaster, New York Times, 7/10%/75, p. 1.

o Vremoerandum for the Record from Lyman Kirkpatrick, 12/1/53, p. 1.

= Ruwet (staff summary), 813775, p. 6.

= I'nspector General Diary, 12/2/53.

% rhid. Dr. Gottleib has testified that he does not remember either the meeting
with Ilelms nor the Wisner memorandum. (Gottlieb, 10/18/75, p. 16.)
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proval of his immediate supervisor. Neither the Chief of TSS nor
the DD specifically authorized the experiment in which Dr. Olson
participated.s

According to Gottlieb,*® a “very small dose” of LSD was placed in
a bottle of Cointreau which was served after dinner on Thursday,
November 19. The drug was placed in the liqueur by Robert Lash-
brook. All but two of the SOD participants received LSD. One did
not drink; the other had a heart condition.®” About twenty minutes
after they finished their Cointreau, Gottlieb informed the other par-
ticipants that they had received LSD.

Dr. Gottlieb stated that “up to the time of the experiment,” he
observed nothing tnusual in Olson’s behavior.?* Once the experiment
was underway, Gottlieb recalled that “the drug had a definite effect on
the group to the point that they were boisterous and laughing and they
could not continue the meeting or engage in sensible conversation.”
The meeting continued until about 1:00 a.m., when the participants
retired for the evening. Gottlieb recalled that Qlson, among others,
complained of “wakefulness” during the night.* According to Gottlieb
on Friday morning “aside from some evidence of fatigue, I observed
nothing unusual in [Olson’s] actions, conversation, or general be-
havior.”*® Ruwet recalls that Olson “appeared to he agitated” at
breakfast, but that he “did not consider this to be abnormal under the
circumstances.” 4

¢. The Treatment—The following Monday, November 23, Olson
was walting for Ruwet when he came in to work at 7:30 a.m. For the
next two days Olson's friends and family attempted to reassure him
and help him “snap out” of what appeared to be a serious depression.
On Tuesday, Olson again came to Ruwet and, after an hour long con-

¥ Dr. Gottlieb testified that “given the information we knew up to this time,
and based on a lot of our own self-administration, we thought it was a fairly
benign substance in terms of potential harm.” This is in conflict not only with Mr.
Helms’ statement but also with material which had been supplied to the Technieal
Services Staff. In one long memorandum on current research with L&D which
was supplied to T8D, Henry Beecher described the dangers involved with such
research in a prophetic manner. “The second reason to doubt Professor Rothland
came when I raised the question as to any accidents which had arisen from
the use of L8D-25. He said in a very positive way, ‘none.! As it turned out
this answer could be called overly positive, for later on in fhe evening 1 was
discussing the matter with Dr. W, A. Stohl, Jr., & psychiatrist in Bleulera’s
Clinie in Zurich where I had gone at Rothland’s insistence. Stohl, when asked
the same question, replied, ‘ves,” and added gpontaneously, ‘there is 2 case
Professor Rothland knows about. In Geneva a woman phreician who had been
subject to depression to some extent took L8D-93 in an experiment and became
severely and suddenly depressed and committed suicide three weeks later.
While the connection is not definite, rommon knowledge of this could hardly
have allowed the positive statement Rothland permifted himself, This case is
a warning to us to avoid engaging subjects who are depressed, or who have been
subject to depression.”” Dr. Gottlieb testified that he had no recollection of
either the report or that partictlar section of it. (Sidney Gottlieb testimony,
10/13/75, p. 78.)

® Memorandum of Sheffield Edwards for the record, 11,/28/53, p. 2.

¥ Lashbrook (staff summary), 7/18/75, D. 2

™ Gottlieb Memorandum, 12/7/58. p. 2.

* Bdwards memorandum, 11/28/53, 3.

¥ Gottlieb memorandum. 12/7/53, p. 3.

“ Ruwet memorandum, p. 3.
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versation, it was decided that medical assistance for Dr. Olson was
desirable.*!

Ruwet then called Lashbrook and informed him that “Dr. Olson
was in serious trouble and needed immediate professional attention.” **
Lashbrook agreed to make appropriate arrangements and told Ruiwet
to bring Olson to Washington, D.C. Ruwet and Olson proceeded to
Washington to meet with Lashbrook, and the three left for New York
at about 2:30 p.m. to meet with Dr. Harold Abramson.

At that time Dr. Abramson was an allergist and immunologist
practicing medicine in New York City. He held no degree in psychia-
try, but was associated with research projects supported indirectly
by the CTA. Gottlieb and Dr. Lashbrook both followed his work closely
in the early 1950s.%* Since Olson needed medical help, they turned to
Dr. Abramson as the doctor closest to Washington who was experl-
enced with LD and cleared by the CIA.

Ruwet, Lashbrook. and Olson remained in New York for two days of
consultations with Abramson. On Thursday, November 26, 1953, the
three Aew back to Washington so that Olson could spend Thanksgiving
with his family. En route from the airport Olson told Ruwet that he
was afraid to face his family. After a lengthy discussion, it was de-
cided that Olson and Lashbrook would return to New York, aud that
Ruwet would go to Frederick to explain these events to Mrs. Olson.*

Lashbrook and Olson flew back to New York the same day, again
for consultations with Abramson. They spent Thursday night 1n a
Long Island hotel and the next morning returned to the city with
Abramson, In further discussions with Abramson, it was agreed
that Olson should be placed under regular psychiatrie care at an
institution closer to his home.*

d. The Death—DBecause they could not obtain air transportation for
a return trip on Friday night, Lashbrook and Olson made reservations
for Saturday morning and checked into the Statler Hotel. Between
the time they checked in and 10:00 p.m.; they watched television,
visited the cocktail lounge, where each had two martinis, and dinner.
According to Lashbrook, Olson “was cheerful and appeared to enjoy
the entertainment.” He “appeared no longer particulary depressed,
and almost the Dr. Olson 1 knew prior to the experiment.” **

After dinner Lashbrook and Olson watched television for about
an hour, and at 11:00, Olson suggested that they go to bed, saying that
“he felt more relaxed and contented than he had since [they] came
to New York.” *” Olson then left a call with the hotel operator to wake
them in the morning. At approximately 2:30 a.m. Saturday, Novem-
ber 28, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud “crash of glass.” In his
report on the incident, he stated only that Olson “had crashed through
the closed window blind and the closed window and he fell to his death
from the window of our room on the 10th floor.”

% Ibid., p. 4. '

# Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 1.

¥ Ztaff summary of Dr, Harold Abramson interview, 7/29/75, p. 2.
* Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 3.

¥ Abramson memorandum, 12/4/53.

* Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 3.

T Ibid., p. 4.

¥ I'bid.
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Immediately after finding that Olson had leapt to his death, Lash-
brook telephoned Gottlieb at his home and informed him of the in-
cident.*® (zottlieb called Ruwet and informed him of Olson’s death
at approximately 2:45 a.m.’® Lashbrook then called the hotel desk
and reported the incident to the operator there. Lashbrook called
Abramson and informed him of the oceurrence. Abramson told Lash-
brook he “wanted to be kept out of the thing completely,” but later .
changed his mind and agreed to assist Lashbrook.’t

Shortly thereafter, uniformed police officers and some hotel em-
ployees came to Lashbrook’s room. Lashbrook told the police he didn’t
Lnow why Olson had committed suicide, but he did know that Olson

“suffered from ulcers.” 2

e. The Aftermath.—Following Dr. Qlson’s death, the CIA made
a substantial effort to ensure that his family received death benefits,
but did not notify the Olsons of the circumstances surrounding his
demise. The Agency also made considerable efforts to prevent the
death heing connected with the CIA, and supplied complete cover for
Lashbrook so that his association with the CIA would remain a secret.

After Dr. Olson’s death the CIA conducted an internal investiga-
tion of the incident. As part of his responsibilities in this investiga-
tion, the General Counsel wrote the Inspector General, stating:

I'm not happy with what seems to be a very casual attitude
on the part of TSS representatives to the way this experi-
ment was conducted and the remarks that this is just one of
the risks running with scientific experimentation. I do not
eliminate the need for taking risks, but 1 do believe, espe-
cially when human health or Tife is at stake, that at least the
prudent, reasonable measures which can be taken to mini-
mize the risk must be taken and failure to do so was culpable
negligence, The actions of the various individuals concerned
after effects of the experiment on Dr. Qlson became manifest
also revealed the failure to observe normal and reasonable
precantions.®?

As a result of the investigation DCI Allen Dulles sent a personal
letter to the Chief of Technical Operations of the Technical Services
Stafl who had approved the experiment eriticizing him for “poor
judgment. .. in authorizing the use of this drug on such an unw itting
basis and without proximate medical safecuards 7%+ Dulles also sent

a letter to Dr. Gottlieb, Chief of the (“hemlcal Division of the Tech-

nical Services Staff, criticizing him for recommending the “unwitting

“application of the drug"” in that the proposal “did not give sufficient
~emphasis for medical collaboration and for the proper consideration

of the rights of the individual to whom it was being administered.” 5

© CIA Field Office Report, 12/3/53, p. 3.

® Ruwet Memorandum, p. 11.

® CTA Field Office Report, 12/3/53, p. 8.

52 rhid.

® Memorandum from the General Counsel to the Inspector Genera] 1/4/54.
M Memorandum from DCI to Chief, Technical Operations, TISS, ‘?/1"/:)4
® Memorandum from DCI to Sldney Gottlieb, 2/12/54.
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The letters were hand carried to the individuals to be read and
returned. Although the letters were critical, a note from the Deputy
Director of Central Intelligence to Mr. Helms instructed him to in-
form the individuals that: “These are not reprimands and no person-
nel file notation are being made > ¢ :

Thus, although the Rockefeller Commission has characterized them
as such, these notes were explicitly not reprimands. Nor did participa-
tion in the events which led to Dr. Olson’s death have any apparent
effect on the advancement within the CIA of the individuals involved.

3. The Surreptitious Administration of LSD to Unuwitling Non-
Volunteer Human Subjects by the 014 After the Death of Dr.
Olson

The death of Dr. Olson could be viewed, as some argued at the time,
as a tragic accident, one of the risks inherent in the testing of new sub-
stances. It might be argued that LSD was thought to be benign.
After the death of Dr. Qlson the dangers of the surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD were clear, yet the CIA continued or initiated ¥ a
project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD to non-
volunteer human subjects. This program exposed numerous Individnals
in the United States to the risk of death or serious injury without their
informed consent, without medical supervision, and without necessary
follow-up to determine any long-term effects.

Prior to the Olson experiment, the Director of Central Intelligence
had approved MICUL/TRA, a research program designed fo develop
a “capability in the covert use of biclogical and chemical agent
materials.” In the proposal describing MKULTRA Mr. Helms, then
ADDP, wrote the Director that :

we intend to investigate the development of a chemical mate-
rial which causes a reversible non-toxic aberrant mental state,
the specific nature of which can be reasonably well predicted
for each individual. This material could potentially aid in
discrediting individuals, eliciting information, and 1mplant-
ing suggestions and other forms of mental control.®®

On February 12, 1954, the Director of the Central Intelligence
Agency wrote TSS officials eriticizing them for “poor judgment” in
administering LSD on “an unwitting basis and without proximate
medical safeguards” to Dr. Olson and for the lack of “proper consid-
eration of the rights of the individual to whom it was being admin-
1stered.” #* On the same day, the Inspector (General reviewed a report
on Subproject Number 3 of MWULTRA, in which the same TSS
officers who had just recelved letters from the Director were quoted
as stating that one of the purposes of Subproject Number 3 was to

# Note from DDCT to Richard Helms, 2/13/54.

" The 1963 IG Report, which described the project involving the surreptitious
administration of LSI}, placed the project beginning in 1955. Other CIA docu-
ments reveal that it was in existence as early as February 1954, The CIA has
told the Commitiee thaf the project began in 1933 and that the experimeni which
led to Dr. Olson’s death was part of the projeet.

® Memorandum from ADDP items to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, tab A, p. 2.

® Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Goitlieb, 2/12/54 ; and memorandum from
1CI to Chief of Operations, T'SS, 2/12/54, :
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“observe the behavior of unwitting persons being questioned after
having been given a drug.”® There Is no evidence that Subproject
Number 3 was terminated even though these officers were unequivo-
cally aware of the dangers of the surreptiticus administration of LSD
and the necessity of obtaining informed consent and providing medical
safeguards. Subproject Number 3, in fact, used methods which showed
even less concern than did the OLSON experiment for the safety and
security of the participants. Yet the evidence indicates the project
continued until 1963.5*

In the project, the individual conducting the test might make
initial contact with a prospective subject selected at random in a bar.
He would then invite the person to a “safehouse” where the test drug
was administered to the subject through drink or in food. CIA. per-
sonnel might debrief the individual conducting the test, or observe
the test by using a one-way mirror and tape recorder in an adjoining
TOOM.

Prior consent was obviously not obtained from any of the subjects.
There was also, obviously, no medical prescreening. In addition, the
tests were conducted by individuals who were not qualified scientific
observers. There were no medical personnel on hand elther to admin-
ister the drugs or to observe their effects, and no follow-up was con-
ducted on the test subjects.

As the Inspector General noted 1In 1963 :

A significant limitation on the effectiveness of such testing 1s
the infeasibility of performing scientific observation of re-
sults. The [individuals conducting the test] are not qualified
scientific observers. Their subjects are seldom accessible be-
yond the first hours of the test. The testing may be useful in
perfecting delivery techniques, and in identifying surface
characteristics of onset, reaction, attribution, and side-effect.®

This was particularly troublesome as in a

number of instances, . . . the test subject has become ill for
hours or days, including hospitalization 1n at least one case,
and the agent could only follow up by guarded inquiry
after the test subject’s return to normal life. Possible sickness
and attendant economic loss are inherent contingent effects
of the testing.®s

Paradoxically, greater care seems to have been taken for the safety
of foreign nationals against whom LSD was used abroad. In several
cases medical examinations were performed prior to the use of L.SD.%¢

® Memorandum to Inspector General from Chief, Ingpection and Review, on
Subproject #3 of MEULTRA, 2/10/54.

% IG Report on MKTULTRA, 1563

 Ibid., p. 12.

% rpid. According to the IG's survey in 1963, physicians associated with
MEKULTRA could be made available in an emergency.

* The Technical Services Division which was responsible for the operational
use of LD abroad took the position that “no physical examination of the subject
is required prior to administration of [LSD] by TSS trained persounel. A physi-
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Moreover, the administration abroad was marked by constant obser-
vation made possible because the material was being used against
prisoners of foreign intelligence or security organizations. Finally,
during certain of the LSD interrogations abroad, local physiclans
were on call, though these physicians had had no experience with LSD
and would not be told that hallucinogens had been administered.®

The CIA’s project involving the surreptitious administration of
LSD to unwitting human subjects in the United States was finally
halted in 1963, as a result of its discovery during the course of an
Inspector General survey of the Technical Services Division. When
the Inspector General learned of the project, he spoke to the Deputy
Director for Plans, who agreed that the Director should be briefed.
The DDP made it clear that the DCI and his Deputy were generally
familiar with MKULTRA. He indicated, however, that he was not
sure it was necessary to brief the DDCI at that point.

On May 24,1963, the DD advised the Inspector General that he had
briefed the Director on the MKULTRA program and in particular
had covered the question of the surreptitious administration of LSD
to unwitting human subjects. According to the Inspector General, the
DDP said that “the Director indicated no disagreement and therefore
the ‘testing’ will continue.” ¢

One copy of an “Eyes Only” draft report on MEKULTRA was
prepared by the Inspector General who recommended the termination
of the surreptitious administration project. The project was suspended
following the Inspector General’s report.

On December 17, 1963, Deputy Director for Plans Helms wrote a
memo to the DDCI, who with the Inspector General and the Executive
Director-Comptroller had opposed the covert testing. He noted two
aspects of the problem: (1) “for over a decade the Clandestine Serv-
ices has had the mission of maintaining a capability for influencing
human behavior;” and (2) “testing arrangements in furtherance of
this mission should be as operationally realistic and yet as controllable
as possible.” Helms argued that the individuals must be “unwitting”
as this was “the only realistic method of maintaining the capability,
considering the intended operational use of materials to influence
human behavior as the operational targets will certainly be unwitting.
Should the subjects of the testing not be unwitting, the program would
only be “pro forma” resulting in a “false sense of accomplishment and
readiness.” ¢ Helms continued:

cian need not be present. There is no danger medically in the use of this material
as handled by TSS trained personnel.” The Office of Medical Bervices had taken
the position that LSD was “medically dangerous.” Both the Office of Security
and the Office of Medical Services argued that LSD “should not be administerer
uniess preceded by a medical examination . .. and should be administered only
by or in the presence of a physician who had studied it and its effect.” (Memo-
randum from James Angleton, Chief, Counterintelligence Staff to Chief of Oper-
ations, 12/12/57, pp. 1-2,

< physicians might be called with the hope that they would make a diagnosis
of mental breakdown which would be useful in discrediting the individual who
wasa the subject of the CTA interest.

‘:I\Iemorandnm for the Record prepared by the Inspector General, 5/15/63, . 1,

Ihid., p. 2.
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If one grants the validity of the mission of maintaining this
unusual capability and the necessity for unwitting testing,
there is only then the question of how best to do it. Obviously,
the testing should be conducted in such a manner as to permit
the opportunity to observe the results of the administration
on the target. It also goes without saying that whatever test-
ing arrangement we adopt must afford maximum safeguards
for the protection of the Agency’s role in this activity, as
well as minimizing the possibility of physical or emotional
damage to the individual tested.®®

In another memo to the Director of Central Intelligence in June,
1964, Helms again raised the issue of unwitting testing. At that time
General Carter, then acting DCI, approved several changes in the
MEULTRA program proposed by Mr. Helms as a result of negotia-
tions between the Inspector General and the DDP. In a handwritten
note, however, Director Carter added that “unwitting testing will be
subject to a separate decision.” 8@ '

No specific decision was made then or soon after. The testing had
been halted and, according to Walter Elder, Executive Assistant to
DCT McCone, the DCI was not inclined to take the positive step of
authorizing a resumption. of the testing. At least through the summer,
the DDP did not press the issue. On November 9, 1964, the DDP
raised the issue again in a memo to the DCI, calling the Director’s
attention to what he described as “several other indications during
the past year of an apparent Soviet aggressiveness in the field of
covertly administered chemicals which are, to say the least, inexplic-
able and disturbing.” 7

Helms noted that Dhecause of the suspension of covert testing, the
Agency’s “positive operational capability to use drugs is diminishing,
owing to a lack of realistic testing. With increasing knowledge of the
state of the art, we are less capable of staying up with Soviet advances
in this field. This in turn results in a waning capability on our part
to restrain others in the intelligence community (such as the Depart-
ment of Defense) from pursuing operations in this area.” ™

Helms attributed the cessation of the unwitting testing to the high
risk of embarrassment to the Agency as well as the “moral problem.”
He noted that no better covert situation had been devised than that
which had been used, and that “we have no answer to the moral
issue.” 2 '

Helmsasked for either resumption of the testing project or its defini-
tive cancellation. He argued that the status quo of a research and de-
veloptuent program without a realistic testing program was causing
the Agency to live “with the illusion of a capability which is becoming
minimal and furthermore is expensive.” 7 Once again no formal action
was taken in response to the Helms’ request.

* Memorandum from DDP Helms to DDCI Carter, 12/17/63.
® Memorandum from DDP Helms to DCI, 6/9/84, p. 3.

" Ibid,, 11/9/84, n. 1.

*IBid., pp. 1-2.

Zrhid., p. 2,

W hid.
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From its beginning in the early 1950’s until its termination in 1963,
the program of surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects demonstrates a failure of the CIA’s leader-
ship to pay adequate attention to the rights of individuals and to pro-
vide effective guidance to CIA employees. Though it was known that
the testing was dangerous, the lives of sub]ects were placed 1n jeop-
ardy and “their rlcrhts were ignored during the ten years of testing
which followed Dr. Olson’s death. Although it was clear that the laws
of the United States were being violated, the testing continued. While
the individuals invelved in the Olson experiment were admonished
by the Director, at the same time they were also told that they were
not being leprlmanded and that their “bad judgment” would not be
made part of their personnel records. When the covert testing project

was terminated 1n 1963, none of the individuals involved were subject
to any disciplinary action.

4. Monitoring and Control of the Testing and Use of Chemical and
Biological Agents by the OTA

The Select Committee found numerous failures in the monitoring
and control of the testing and nse of chemical and biological agents
within the CTA.™ An analysis of the failures can be divided into four
sections: (a) the waiver of normal regulations or requirements; (b)
the problems in authorization procedures {c) the failure of internal
review mechanisms such as the Office of General Counsel, the Inspector
General, and the Audit Stafl: and (d) the effect of compa,rtmentatmn
and competition within the CTA.

a. The Waiver of Admini
within any agency rest on: (1) clear and coherent regulations; (2)
clear lines of authority; and (3) clear rewards for those who conduct
themselves in accord with agency regulations and understandable and
immediate sanctions against those who do not. In the case of the test-
ing and use of chemical and biological agents, normal CIA adminis-
trative controls were waived. The destruction of the documents on the
largest CTA program in this area constituted 2 prominent example of
the waiver of normal Agency procedures by the Director.

These documents were destroyed in early 1973 at the order of then
DCI Richard Helms. According to Helms, Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, then
Director of TSD:

. came to me and said that he was retiring and that I was
retiring and he thought it would he a good idea 1f these files
were destroyed. And I also believe part of the reason for
our thinking this was advisable was there had been relation-
ships with outsiders in government agencies and other orga-
nizations and that these would be sensitive in this kind of a
thing but that since the program was over and finished and
done with, we thought we would just get rid of the files as

™ Qection 2(9) of 8. Res. 21 instruets the Committee to exarmine: the “extent
to which United States intelligence agencies are governed by Executive Orders,
rules, or regulations either published or secret.”
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well, so that anybody who assisted us in the past would not
be Slﬂ)]&ﬂt to follow-up or questions, embarrassment, if you
will? ‘

The destruction was based on a waiver of an internal CIA regu}aw
tion, CSI 70-10, which regulated the “retirement of inactive records.”
As Thomas Karameqsmea, then Deputy Director of Plans, wrote in

regulation CSI-70-10: “Retirement is not a matter of convenience or
of storage but of conscious judgment in the application of the rules
modified by knowledge of individual component needs. The heart of
this judgment is to ensure that the complete story can be reconstructed
in later years and by people who may be unfamiliar with the events.” 78

The destruction of the MKULTRA documents made it impossible
for the Select Committee to determine the full range and extent of the
largest CIA research program invorving chemical and biological
agents. The destruction also prevented the CIA from locating and pro-
viding medical assistance to the individuals who were subjects In the
program. Finally, it prevented the Committee from determining the
full extent of the operations which made use of materials developed in
the MKULTRA program.’™

From the inception of MKULTRA normal Agenc,v procedures were
waived. In 1953, Mr. Helms, then Assistant Deputy Director for Plans,
proposed the establishment of MKULTRA. Under the proposal six
percent of the research and development budget of TSD would be
expended “without the establishment of formal contractual relations”
because contracts would reveal government interest. Helms also voted
that qualified individuals in the field “are most reluctant to enter into
signed agreements of any sort which connect them with this activity
since such & connect,lon would jeopardize their professional reputa-

™ Richard Helms testimony, 9/11/75, p. 5.

Many Agency documents recording confidential relationships with individuals
and organizations are retained without public disclosure, Moreover, in the case of
MEULTRA the CIA had spent millions of dollars developing both materials and
delivery systems which could be used by the Clandestine Services; the reconstruc-
tion of the research and development program would be difficulf if not impos-
sible, without the documents, and at least one assistant to Dr. Gottlieb protested
against the document destruection on those grounds.

*® Clandestine Services Institution (CSI) 70-10. When asked by the Select
Committee about the regularity of the procedure by which he authorized Dir.
Gottlieb to destroy the MEULTRA records, Helms responded:

“TWell, that’s hard to say whether it would be part of the regular procedure or
not, because the record destruetion pregram is conducted aceording to a certain
pattern. There’s a regular record destruction pattern in the Agency monitoered by
certain people and done a certain way. So that anything outside of that, 1 suppose,
would have been unusual. Yo other words, there were docuiments being destroyed
because somebody had raised this specific issue rather than because they were
encompassed in the regular records destruction program. So I think the answer
to your cuestion is probably yes.” (Helms testimony, 9/11/75, p. 6.)

™ BEven prior to the destruction of documents, the MEULTRA reeords were far
from complete. As the Inspector General noted in 1963 :

“Files are notahly incomplete, poorly organized, and lacking in evaluative state-
ments that might give perspective to management policies over time. A substan-
tial portion of the METULTRA record appears to rest in the memories of the prin-
cipal officers and is therefore almost certain to be lost with their departures.”
(I1G Report on MKTULTERA, p. 23.)
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tions”." Other Agency procedures, ie., the forwarding of documents
1n support of invoices and the provision for regular anudit procedures,
were also to be walved. On April 13, 1953, then DCI Allen Dulles
approved MEKULTRA, noting that security considerations precluded
handling the project through usual contractual agreements.

Ten years later investigations of METULTRA by hoth the Inspector
General and the Audit Staff noted substantial deficiencies which re-
sulted from the waivers. Because TSD had not reserved the right to
audit the books of contractors in MKULTRA, the CIA had been
unable to verify the use of Agency grants by a contractor. Another
firm had failed to establish controls and safeguards which would as-
sure “proper accountability” in use of government funds with the
result that “funds have been used for purposes not contemplated by
grants or allowable under usual contract relationship.” " The entire
MEULTRA arrangement was condemned for having administrative
lines which were unclear, overly permissive controls, and irrespon-
sible supervision.

The head of the Audit Branch noted that inspections and audits;
led us to see MKULTRA as frequently having provided a
device to escape normal administrative controls for research
that is not especially sensitive, as having allowed practices
that produce gross administrative failures. as having per-
mitted the establishment of special relationships with unreli-
-able organizations on an unacceptable basis, and as having
produced, on at least one occasion, a.cavalier treatment of a
bona fide contracting organization.

While admitting that there may be a need for special mechanisms
for handling sensitive projects, the Chief of the Audit Branch wrote
that “both the terms of reference and the ground rules for handling
such special projects should be spelled out in advance so that diver-
sion from normal channels does not mean abandonment of controls.

Special procedures may be necessary to ensure the security of highly
sensitive operations. To prevent the erosion of normal internal con-
trol mechanisms, such waivers should not be extended to less sensitive
operations. Moreover, only those regulations which would endanger
security should be waived; to walve regulations generally would
result in highly sensitive and controversial projects having looser
rather than stricter administrative controls. MEKNAOMI, the Fort
Detrick CIA project for research and development of chemical and
biological agents, provides another example where efforts to protect
the security of agency activties overwhelmed administrative controls.
No written records of the transfer of agents such as anthrax or shell-
fish toxin were kept. “because of the sensitivity of the area and the
desire to keep any possible use of materials like this recordless.” 5 The

™ Memorandum from ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab. A, p. 2.

® Memorandum from IG fo Chief, T8D, 11/8/63, as quoted in memorandum
from Chief, Audit Branch. :

8 the memorandum suggested that administrative exclusions, because of the
importance of such decisions, should require the personal approval of the Deputy
Director of Central Intelligence on an imdividual case basis, Present CIA policy
is that only the DCI can suthorize certain exemptions from regulations.

% Sidney Gottlieb testimony, 10/18/75, Hearings, Vol 1, p. b1
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result was that the Agency had no way of determining what mate-
rials were on hand, and could not be certain whether delivery systems
such as dart guns, or deadly substances such as cobra venom had been
issued to the field. :

b. Authorization~~The destruction of the documents regarding
MEULTRA made it difficult to determine at what level specific proj-
ects 1n the program were authorized. This problem is not solely a re-
sult of the document destruction, however. Even at the height of
MEKULTRA the IG noted that, at least with respect to the surrepti-
tious administration of L.SD, the “present practice is to maintain no
records of the planning and approval of test programs.”

While it is clear that Allen Dulles authorized MKULTRA, the rec-
ord is unclear as to who authorized specific projects such as that in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects. Even given the sensitive and controversial
nature of the project, there is no evidence that when John McCone
replaced Allen Dulles as the Dirvector of the Central Intelligence
Agency he was briefed on the details of this project and asked whether
it should be continued.®* Even during the 1963 discussions on the pro-
priety of unwitting testing, the DDP questioned whether 1t was “neces-
sary to brief General Carter,” the Deputy Director of Central Intelli-
genice and the Director's “alter ago,” because CIA officers felt it neces-
sary to keep details of the project restricted to an absolute minimum
number of people.®

In May of 1963, DDP Helms told the Inspector (General that the
covert testing program was authorized because he had gone to the
Director, briefed him on 1t and “the Director indicated no disagree-
ment and therefore the testing will continue.” ¥ Such authorization
even for noncontroversial matters is clearly less desirable than ex-
plicit authorization; in areas such as the surreptitious administration
of drugs, 1t is particularly undesirable. Yet according to testimony

8 I Report on MEULTRA, 1963, p. 14.

® According to an assistant to Dr. Gottlieb, there were annunal briefings of the
DCI and the DDP on MEULTRA by the Chief of TSI or his deputy. However, a
May 15, 1963 Memerandum for the Record £rom the Inspector General noted that
Mr. McCone had not been briefed in detail about the program. Mr. McCone’s Exec-
utive Officer, Walter Elder, testified that it was “perfectly apparent to me” that
neither Mr, McCone nor General Carter, then the DDCI, was aware of the sur-
reptitious administration project “or if they had heen briefed they had not under-
stood it.” (Elder, 12/18/75, p. 13.) Mr, McCone testified that he “did not know"
whether he talked to anyone about the project but that ne one had told him about
ir in a way that “would have turned on all the lights.” (Jolm McCone testimony,
2,3/76, p. 10.)

# According to Elder’'s testimony, “no Deputy Director, to my knowledge,
has ever heen briefed or was it ever thought necessary to brief them to the extent
to which you would brief the Director.™

% I3 Memoranduin for the Record. 5/15/63.

On the question of authorization of the covert testing program, Elder testified
as follows :

"But my reasonable judgment is that this was considered to be in the area of
continuing approval, having once been anproved by the Director.”

The theory of anthorization carrying over from one administration to the next
seems particularly inappropriate for lesy visible, highly sensitive operations
which, unless brought fo his attention by subordinates, would not come to the
attention of the Director, '
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before the Coramittee, authorization through lack of agreement ‘s
even more prevalent in sensitive situations.*

The unauthorized retention of shellfish toxin by Dr. Nathan Gordon
and his subordinates, in violation of a Presidential Directive, may have
resulted from the failure of the Director to i1ssue written instructions to
~ Agency offictals. The retention was not authorized by senior officials in
the Agency. The Director, Mr. Helms, haa instructed Mr. Karames-
sines, the Deputy Director of Plans, and Dr. Gottlieb, the Chief of
Technical Services Division, to relinquish control to the Army of any
chemical or biological agents being retained for the CIA at Fort De-
trick. Dr. Gottlieb passed this instruction on to Dr. Gordon. While
orders may be disregarded in any organization, one of the reasons that
Dr. Gordon used to defend the retention was the fact that he had not
recelved written instructions forbidding it.* _

In some situations the existence of written instructions did not pre-
vent unauthorized actions. According to an investigation by the CIA’s
Inspector General TSD officers had been informed orally that My.
Helms was to be “advised at all times” when LSD was to be used. In
addition T'SD had received a memo advising the staff that LSD was
not to be used without the permission of the DDP, Frank Wisner. The
experiment involving Dr. Olson went ahead without notification of
either Mr. Wisner or Mr. Helms. The absence of clear and immediate
punishment for that act must undercut the force of other internal in-
structions and regulations. :

One last issue must be raised about authorization procedures within
the Agency. Chemical agents were used abroad until 1959 for dis-
crediting or disabling operations, or for the purpose of interrogations
with the approval of the Chief of Operations of the DDP. Later the .
approval of the Deputy Director for Plans was required for such
operations. Although the medical staff sought to be part of the ap-
proval process for these operations, they were excluded because, as the
Inspector GGeneral wrote in 1957 :

Operational determinations are the responsibility of the
DD/P and 1t is he who should advise the DCI in these
respects, just as it is he who is responsible for the results. It
is compietely unrealistic to consider assigning to the Chief,
Medical Statf, (what, in effect, would be authority over clan-
destine operations.)®s

(Given the expertise and training of physicians, participation of the
Medical Staff might well have been useful.

Questions about authorization also exist in regard to those agencies
which assisted the CIA. For instance, the project involving the sur-
reptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-volunteer human
subjects was conducted in coordination with the Bureau of Narcotics
and Dangerous Drugs. There 1s some question as to the Commissioner
of Narcotics’ knowledge about the project.

#® Mr. Elder was asked whether the process of bringing forward a deseription of
actions by the Agency in getting approval through the absence of disagreement
was a common one. He responded, “It was not uncommon. . . . The more sensitive
the project the more likely it would lean toward being a common practice, based
on the need to keep the written reeord fo a minimum.”

" Nathan (Jordan testimony, 9/16/75, Hearings, Vol. 1.

® 1657 1G Report.
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In 1963, the Inspector General noted that the head of the BNDD
had been briefed about the project, but the 1G’s report did not indi-
cate the level of detail provided to him. Dr. Gottlieb testified that “I
remember meeting Mr. Anslinger and had the general feeling that he
was aware.” # Another CIA officer did not recall any discussion of
testing on unwitting subjects when he and Dr. Gottlieb met with Com-
missioner Anslinger,

In a memorandum for the record in 1967 Dr. Gottlieb stated that
Harry (iordano, who replaced Mr. Anslinger, told Dr. Gottlieb that
when he became Commissioner he was “only generally briefed on the
arrangements, gave it his general blessing, and said he didn't want to
know the details.” The same memorandum states, however, that there
were several comments which indicated to Dr. Gottlieb that Mr. Gior-
dano was aware of the substance of the project. It is possible that
the Commissioner provided a general authorization for the arrange-
ment without understanding what it entailed or considering its pro-
priety. A reluctance to seek detailed information from the CIA, and
the CIA’s hesitancy to volunteer it, has been found in a number of
instances during the Select Committee’s investigations. This problem
1s not confined to the executive branch but has also marked congres-
sional relationships with the Agency.

¢. Internal Review.—The waiver of regulations and the absence of
documentation make it difficult to determine now who authorized
which activities. More importantly, they made internal Agency review
mechanisms much less effective.®® Controversial and highly sensitive
projects which should have been subject to the most rigorous inspection
lacked effective internal review.

Given the role of the General Counsel and his reaction to the sur-
reptitious administration of LSD to Dr. Olson, it would have seemed
likely that he would be asked about the legality or propriety of any
subsequent projects involving such administration. This was not done.
He did not learn about this testing until the 1970’s. Nor was the Gen-
eral Counsel’s opinion sought on other MKULTRA projects, though
these had been characterized by the Inspector General in the 1957
Report on TSD as “unethical and 1llicit.” #

There is no mention in the report of the 1957 Inspector General’s
survey of T'SD of the project involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of L.SD. That project was apparently not brought to the attention
of the survey team. The Inspector who discovered it during the IG's
1963 survey of TSD recalls coming upon evidence of it inadvertently,

® Gottlieb, 10/18/75, p. 28

® The IG’s report on MKULTRA in 1963 stated :

“The original charter documents specified that TSD maintain exacting con-
trol of MEULTRA activities. In so doing, however, TSD has pursued a phi-
losophy of minimum decumentation in keeping with the high sensitivity of some
pf the projects. Some files were found to present a reasonably complete record,
including most sensitive matters, while others with parallel objectives eontained
}ittle ar no data at all. The lack of consistent records prectuded use of routine
inspection procedures and raised a variety of questions concerning manage-
ment and fiscal controls.”

* CI4, Inspector General's report on TSD, 1957, p. 217.
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rather than its having been called to his attention as an especially
sensitive project.®®

Thus both the General Counsel and the Inspector General, the prin-
cipal internal mechanisms for the control of possibly improper actions,
were excluded from regular reviews of the project. When the project
was discovered the Executive Director-Comptroller voiced strong op-
position to it; it is possible that the project would have been termi-
nated in 1957 if it had been called to his attention when he then served
as Inspector General. :

The Audit Staff, which also serves an internal review function
through the examination of Agency expenditures, also encountered
substantial difficulty with MEULTRA. When MEULTRA was first
proposed the Audit Staff was to be excluded from any function. This
was soon changed. However, the waiver of normal “contractual pro-
cedures” in MKULTRA increased the likelihood of “irregularities”
as well as the difficulty in detecting them. The head of the Audit
Branch characterized the MKULTRA procedures as “having allowed
practices that produced gross administrative failures,” including a
lack of controls within outside contractors which would “assure proper
accountability in use of government funds.” It also diminished the
CIA’s capacity to verify the accountings provided by outside firms.

d. Comparimentation and Jurisdictional Conflict Within the
Agency—As has been noted, the testing and use of chemical and
biological agents was treated as a highly sensitive activity within the
CIA. This resulted in a high degree of compartmentation. At the same
time substantial jurisdictional conflict existed within the Agency be-
tween the Technical Services Division, and the Office of Medical Serv-
ices and the Office of Security. - :

This compartmentation and jurisdictional conflict may well have
led to duplication of effort within the CIA and to Agency policy-
makers being deprived of useful information.

During the early 1950’s first the BLUEBIRD Committee and then
the ARTICHOEKT Committee were instituted to bring together rep-
resentatives of the Agency components which had a legitimate inter-
est in the arca of the alteration of human behavior. By 1957 both these
committees had fallen into disuse. No information went to the Tech-
nical Services Division {a component supposedly represented on the
ARTICHOKE Committee) about ARTICHOKE operations being
conducted by the Office of Security and the Office of Medical Services.
The Technical Services Division which was providing support to the
Clandestine Services in the use of chemical and biological agents, but
provided little or no information to either the Office of Security or the
Office of Medical Services. As one TSD officer involved in these pro-
grams testified: “Although we were acquainted, we certainly didn’t
share experiences.” ®

“ myen after the Inspector came upon it the IG did not perform a cowmplete
investigation of it. It was discovered at the end of an extensive survey of TED
and the Inspector was in the process of being transferred to another post within -
the Agency. ' '

B Pagtimany of CIA officer, 11,/21/75, p. 14
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QEKHILLTOP, another group designed to coordinate research in
this ares also had little success. The group met infrequently—only
twice a year—and little specific information was exchanged.?*

Concern over security obviously played some role in the failure to
share information,® but this appears not to be the only reason. A TSD
officer stated that the Office of Medical Services simply wasn’t “par-
ticularly interested in what we were doing” and never sought such
information.® On the other hand, a representative of the Office of
Medical Services consistently sought to have medical personnel par-
ticipate in the use of chemical and biological agents suggested that
TSD did net inform the Office of Medical Services in order to pre-
vent their involvement.

Jurisdictional conflict was constant in this area. The Office of
Security, which had been assigned respomsibility for direction of
ARTICHOKE, consistently sought to bring TSD operations in-
volving psychochemicals under the ARTICHOKE umbrella. The
Office of Medical Services sought to have OMS physicians advise and
participate in the operational use of drugs. As the Inspector Gen-
eral described it in 1957, “the basic issue is concerned with the extent
of authority that should be exereised by the Chief, Medical Staff, over
the activities of TSD which encroach upon or enter into the medical
field,” and which are conducted by TSD “without seeking the prior
approval of the Chief, Medical Staff, and often without informing
him of their nature and extent.” #?

As was noted previously, because the projects and programs of
TSD stemmed directly from operational needs controlled by the
DDP, the IG recommended no further supervision of these activi-
ties by the Medical Staff: :

It is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the
Chief, Medical Staff, what, in effect, would be authority over
clandestine opervations. Furthermore, some of the activities
of Chemicul Division are not only unorthodoz but unethical
and sometimes {llegal. The DDFP is in o better position o
evaluate the justification for suah operations than the Chief,
Medical Stoff.?* [Emphasis added.]

Because the advice of the Director of Security was needed for
“evaluating the risks involved” in the programs and because the
knowledge that the CIA was “engaging in unethieal and illicit activi-
ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles,” the 1G recommended that the Director of Security be fully
advised of TSD’s activities in these areas.

Even after the Inspector General’s Report of 1957, the compartmen-
tation and jurisdictional conflict continued. They may have had a sub-

" The one set of minutes from a QERHEILLTOP meeting indicated that individ-
unly in the Office of Medical Services stressed the need for more contact.

% YWhen asked why information on the surreptitious administration of LSD
was not presented to the ARTICHOKE committee, Dr. Gottliely responded: “I
imagine the only reason would have been a concern for breadeuning the aware-
uess of its existence,” .

Y OTIA offfeer, 11,/21/75, p. 14,

I Survey of TSI 19537, p. 217,

v Ihid.
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stantial negative impact on policymaking in the Agency. As the Dep-
uty Chief of the Counterintelligence Stafl noted 1n 1958, due to the
different positions taken by TSS, the Office of Security, and the Office
of Medical Services on the use of chemical or biological agents, it was
possible that the mdividual who authorized the use of a chemical or
biological agent could be presented with “incomplete facts upon which
to make a decision relevant to its use.” Even a committee set up by the
DDP in 1958 to attempt to rationalize Agency policy did not have ac-
cess to records of testing and use. This was due, in part, to excessive
compartmentation, and jurisdictional conflict.

(. Coverr Testing ox HuMan Stesecrs sy MInITary INTELTIGENCE
Grours: MaTeriaL Testine Procram EA 1729, Prosecr THIRD
CHANGE, anp Proszcr DERBY HAT

EA 1729 is the designator used in the Army drug testing program
for Iyeergic acid diethylamide (LSD). Interest in 15D was originally
aroused at the Army’s Chemical Warfare Laboratories by open litera-
ture on the unusnal effects of the compound.? The positive intelli-
gence and counterintelligence potential envisioned for compounds like
1.8D, and suspected Soviet interest in such materials,**® supported the
development of an American military capability and resulted in ex-
periments condueted jointly by the U.S. Army Intelligence Board and
the Chemical Warfare Laboratories.

These experiments, designed to evaluate potential intelligence uses
of L.SD, were known collectively as “Material Testing Program EA
1729.” Two projects of particular interest conducted as part of these
experiments, “THIRD CHANCE” and “DERBY HAT”, involved
the administration of LSI) to unwitting subjects in Europe and the
Far Kast. '

In many respects, the Army’s testing programs duplicated research
which had already been conducted by the CIA. They certainly involved
the risks inherent in the early phases of drug testing. In the Army’s
tests, as with those of the CIA, individual rights were also subordi-
nated to national security considerations ; informed consent and follow-
up examinations of subjects were neglected in efforts to maintain the
secrecy of the tests. Finally, the command and control problems which
were apparent in the CTA’s programs are paralleled by a lack of clear
authorization and supervision in the Army’s programs.

® 'SATNTC staff study, “Material Testing Program, WA 1729, 10/15/59, p. 4.

) is game USATNTC study cited A 1952 (several years prior to initial ¥.8.
interest in L8D-25) report that the Soviets purchased a large quantity of I.8D-25
from the Sandoz Company in 1951, reputed io be sufficient for 50 million doses.”
(fDid., p. 18.}

Generaliy accepted Soviet methods and counterintelligence concerns were also
gtrong mativating factory in the initiation of this research:

“3 primary justifieation for field experimentation in intelligence with EA 1729
is the enunter-intelligence or defense implicatinon, We know that the enemy phi-
losophy cendones any kind of coereion or violence for intelligence purposes. There
is proof that his intelligence serviece has used drugs in the past. There is strong
ovidence of keen inferest in BA 1729 by him. If for no other purpose thau to know
what to expect from enemy intelligence use of the maferial and to, thus, he pre-
pared to connter it, field experimentation is justified.” (Ihid, n. 34)
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1. Scope of Testing - ‘

Between 1955 and 1958 research was initiated by the Army Chemieal
Corps to evaluate the potential for L.SD as a chemical warfare inca-
pacitating agent. In the course of this research, LSD was administered
to more than 1,000 American volunteers who then participated in a
series of tests designed to ascertain the effects of the drug on their
ability to function as soldiers. With ‘the exception of one set of tests
at Fort Bragg, these and subsequent laboratory experiments to evalu-
ate chemical warfare potential were conducted at the Army Chemical
Warfare Laboratories, Edgewood, Maryland.

In 1958 a new series of laboratory tests were initiated at dgewood.
These experiments were conducted as the initial phase of Material
Testing Program A 1729 to evaluate the intelligence potential of
LSD, and included LSD tests on 95 volunteers.® As part of these
tests, three structured experiments were conducted :

1. LLSD was administered surreptitiously at a simulated
social reception to volunteer subjects who were unaware of
the purpose or nature of the tests in whlch they were
participating;

2. LSD was administered to volunteers who were subse-
quentl} polygraphed; and

was administered to volunteers who were then
conﬁned to “isolation chambers”.

These structured experiments were designed to evaluate the validity
of the traditional security training all subjects had undergene in the
face of unconventional, drug enhanced, interrogations.

At the conclusion of the ]abomtory test phase of Material Testing -
Program KA 1720 in 1960, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for
Intelligence (ACSI) authorized operational field testing of 1.51>. The
first feld tests were conducted in Kurope by an Army Special Pur-
pose Team (SPT) during the period from May to August of 1961.
These tests were known as Project THIRD CHANCE and involved
eleven separate interrogations of ten subjects, None of the subjects
were volunteers and none were aware that they were to recelve
LSD. All but one subject, a U.S. soldier implicated in the theft of
classified documents, were alleged to be foreign Intelligence sources
or agents. While mterromtmns of these indiv 1(111‘115 were only moder-
'lte‘iy successful, at least one subject (the YILS. soldier) exhibited
symptoms of severe paranoia while under the mfluence of the drug.

The second series of field tests, iject DERBY HAT, were con-
ducted by an Army SPT in the Far EFast during the period
from August to November of 1062, Seven subjects were interrogated
nnder DERBY HAT, all of whom were foreign nationals either sus-
pected of dealing in narcotics or 1m plicated in foreign intelligence
operations. The purpose of this g.f‘umd sut of e\peumcnts was to col-
lect additional data on the utility of ILSD in fleld interrogations, and
to evaluate any different effects the drug might have on “Qrientals.”

* Inspector General of the Army Report, “Tse of Volunteers in Chemical Agent
Researcelh,” 3/10/76, 1. 138,
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8. Inadequate Coordination Among Intelligence Agencies

On October 15, 1959, the U.8. Army Intelligence Center prepared
lengthy staff study on Material Testing Program EA. 1729. The stated
purpose of the staff study was: “to determine the desirability of EA
1729 on non-US subjects 1n selected actual operations under controlled
conditions.’* It was on the basis of this study that operational fieid
tests were later conducted. '

A fter noting that the Chemical Warfare Laboratories began experi-
ments with LSD on humans in 1955 and had administered the drug
to over 1,000 volunteers, the “background” section of the study
concluded :

‘There has not been a single case of residual ill effect. Study
of the prolific scientific literature on LSD-25 and personal
communication between US Army Chemical Corps person-
nel and other researchers in this field have failed to disclose
an authenticated instance of irreversible change being pro-
duced in normal humans by the drug."

This conclusion was reached despite an awareness that there were
inherent medical dangers in such experimentation. In the body of this
same study it isnoted that:

The view has been expressed that EA 1729 is a potentially
dangerous drug, whose pharmaceutical actions are not fully
understood and there has been cited the possibility of the
continuance of a chemically induced psychosis in chronic
form, particularly if a latent schizophrenic were a subject,
with consequent claim or representation against the U.S.
Government.***

An attempt was made to minimize potential medical hazards by care-
ful selection of subjects prior to field tests. Rejecting evidence that
the drug might be hazardous, the study continued:

The claim of possible permanent damage caused by EA 1728
is an unproven hypothesis based on the characteristic effect
of the material. While the added stress of a real situation
may increase the probability of permanent adverse effect,
the resulting risk is deemed to be slight by the medical re-
seareh personnel of the Chemical Warfare Laboratories. To
prevent even such a slight risk, the proposed plan for field
experimentation calls for overt, if possible, or contrived-
through-ruse, if necessary, physical and mental examination
of any real situation subject prior to employment of the
subject.**®

This conclusion was drawn six years after one death had aecnrred
which could be attributed. at least in part, to the effects of the
very drug the Army was proposing to fleld test. The USAINTC staff,
however, was apparently unaware of the circumstances surround-
ine Dr. Olson’s death. This lack of knowledge is indicative of the

i‘o’: USATNTC staff study, “Material Testing Program EA 1720.” 10/15/59, p. 4.
Ihid., p. 4.

4 Thid., p. 25.

" Ihid.
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general lack of interagency communieation on drug related research.
As the October 1959 5tudy noted, “there has been no coordination
with other intelligence agencies up to the present.” %

On December 7, 1959, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intell:-
cgence (ACSI, app‘nentlv a General Willems) was briefed on the
proposed operational use of L.SD by USAINTC Project Officer Jacob-
son, in preparation for Project THIRD CHANCE. General Willems
(‘\pl(’SHE(}. concern that the project had not been coordinated with the
BT and the CTA. He is quoted as saying “that 11 this project 1s going
to be worth anything it [LSD] should be used on higher tvpes of
non-17.8. subjects™ in other words “staffers.” He indie ated this could
be accomphished if the CIA were brought . The summary of the
briefing prepared by a Major Mehovsky continues: “Of particular note
1s that ACSL did not direct coordination with CIA and the I'IBI but
only mentioned it for consideration by the planners.” 1%

After the bricfing, four colonels, two lieutenant colonels and Major
Mehovsky met to discuss interagency cooperation with CTA and FBIL.
The group consensus was to postpone efforts toward coordination:

I.t. Col. Jacobson commented that before we coordinate with
CI.\ we should hiave more factual findings from field experi-
ment“mon with counterintelligence cases “that will stren gthen
our position and proposal for cooperation., This appmach
was agreed to by the conferees.

I{ad sueh coordination been achieved, the safety of the&;e experiments
might have been viewed differently and the tests themselves might
have been seen as unnecessary.

3. Subordination of Tndividuel Rights z‘o National Security Consid-
erations

Just as many of these experiments may have been nnnecessary, the
nature of the operational tests {polyzraph-assisted interrogations of
drugged suspects) reflects a basic disregard for the fundamental
human rights of the subjects. The inter rogation of an American
soldier as part of the THIRD CHANCE 1961 tests is an example of
this disregard.

The “trip report” for Projeet THIRD CHANCE, dated Septem-
her 6, 1961, reconnts the circumstances surrounding and the results of
the tests as follows:

[ The subject] was a U.S. soldier who had confessed to theft
of classified documents. Conventional methods had failed to
ascertain whether espionnge itent was imvolved. A significant
new admission by subject that he told a fellow soldicr of the
theft while he still had the documents in his possession was
obtained during the EA 1729 interrogation along with other

variations ot bub]oct s previous account. The 111t9110f['¢1t1011
resuits were deemed by the local operational authority satis-
factory evidence of Subject’s claim of innocence in regard to
esplonage intent.'%°

8 Fid., p. 6.

¥ 3lehoveky Tract Sheet, 12/9/60, p. 1,

8 rbid., p. 2.

1% SPT Prip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 9/6/61, p. 5.
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The subject apparently reacted very strongly to the drug, and the
interrogation, while productive, was difficult. The trip report

concluded

(1) This case demonstrated the ability to interrogate a
subject profitably throughout a highly sustained and almost
incapacitating reaction to KA 1729,

(2) The apparent value of bringing a subject into the EA
1729 situation in a highly stressed state was indicated.

{3) The usefulness of employing as a duress factor the de-
vice of inviting the subject’s attention to his KA 1729-
influenced state and threatening to extend this state in-
definitely even to a permanent condition of Insanity, or to
bring it to an end at the discretion of the interrogators was
shown to be effective.

(4) The need for preplanned precautions against extreme
paranoizc reaction to XA 1729 was indicated.

(5) It was brought to attention by this case that where sub-
ject has undergone extended intensive interrogation prior to
the A 1729 episode and has persisted in a version repeatedly
during conventional interrogation, adherence to the same ver-
sion while under EA 1729 influence, however extreme the reac-
tion, may not necessarily be evidence of truth but merely the
ability to adhere to a well rehearsed story.'™

This strong reaction to the drug and the accompanying discomfort
this individual suffered were exploited by the use of traditional inter-
rogation techniques. While there is no evidence that physical violence
or t01 ture were employed in connection with this interrogation, physi-
cal and psychological techniques were used in the THIRD CHAN*CE
experiments to exploit the subjects’ altered mental state, and to maxi-
mize the stress situation. Jacobson described these methods in his tr 1p
report:

Stressing techniques employed included silent treatment be-
fore or after EA 1729 administy ation, sustained conventional
interrogation prior to EA 1729 mterroo‘ltwn deprivation of
food, chm]\, sleep or bodily evacuatlon, sustained isolation
prior to BA 1729 achmmstratlon, hot-cold switches in ap-
proach, duress “pitches”, verbal degradation and bodily dis-
comfort, or dramatized threats to subject’s life or mental
health.'**

Another gross violation of an individual’s fundamental rights oe-
curred 1n Sceptember 1962 as part of the Army’s DERBY HAT tests
in the Far ISast. A suspected Asian espionage agent was given 6
micrograms of L.SD per kilogram of bodyweight. The administration
of the dr ug was completed at 1035 that mor ning:

At 1120, sweating became evident, his pulse became thready.
He was placed in a supine p0'31t10n He began groaning with
expiration and became semicomatose,’*

0 Ibid., pp. 17-18.

" rvid, p 13. ’

=YDERBY HAT" Medical and Pharmacological Report: Case #£1, 9/20/62,
p. D10-2, ’ .
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For the next 28 minutes, the subject remained semicomataose.

At 1148, responses to painful stimuli were slightly improved.

At 1155, he was helped to a sitting position.

At 1200, he became shocky again and was returned to supine
position.

At 1212, he was more alert and able to sit up with help.

At 1220, Snbject was assisted to the interrogationtable.

At 1230, he began moaning he wanted to die and usually
ignored questions. Rarely he stated “he didn’t know.”

At 1250, his phasic alertness persisted. He frequently re-
focused his eyes with eyelid assistance, He frequently threw
his head baclk with eves closed.

At 1330, he was slightly more alert. He was forced-walked for
5 minutes. He physically would cooperate until he became
shocky again (sweating, thready pulse, pale}.*??

For the next three hours the subject remained in about the same con-
dition. Continued attempts at interrogation yielded no relevant
answers. Six hours after receiving the drug, the subject began giving
relevant answers to questions. Eight and one-half hours after the
initial dosage, the subject was polygraphed. The interrogation con-
tinned for scventeen and one-half hours after the drug was ad-
ministered.

There was some psychological and medical screening of the in-
dividuals tested within the United States. in FEurope, and in
Asia. The proposal for the field experimentation in fact called for
such examinations. The fact of prescreening did not eliminate the
risk of injury: the availability of medical staff did, however, limit
injury and may well have prevented the death of one or more of the
snbjoets. As the medical corps member of the team ywhich surrepti-
tiously administered the T.SD noted, “one subject . .. did collapse after
the interrogation and the presence of the medical officer was not only
of value to the subject but to the interrogation team who were thus
assured that an unnecessary untoward result would not cceur.”

In the Qctober 15, 1959, USAINTC staff study, moral and legal
ramifications of covert administration of T.SD in field conditions were
considered.

It was always a tenet of Army Intelligence that the basic
American principle of the dignity and welfare of the in-
dividual will not be vielated. . . . A more meticulous regard
for the prohibition against violence or duress is taken in
practice when the suspect is a US citizen or ally as against
an actual or potential enemy, in peace as against war, and in
respect to the nature of the crime. . . . In intelligence, the
stakes involved and the interests of national security may
permit a more tolerant interpretation of moral-ethical values,
but not legal limits, through necessity. ... Any claim

W Ibid,, p. D10-3, )
1 aPT Trip Repart, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 7/25/61, p. 1.
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against the US Government for alleged injury due to BA
1729 must be legally shown to have heen due to the material.
Proper security and appropriate operational techniques
can protect the fact of employment of EA 1720

On the basis of this evaluation, the st:uly concluded that in view of
“the stakes involved and the interests of national security,” the pro--
posed plan for field testing should be approved. -
The surreptitious administration of drugs to unwitting subjects by
the Army raises serious constitutional and legal issues. The considera-
tion given these issues by the Army was wholly insufficient. The char-
acter of the Army’s volunteer testing program and the possibility that
drugs were simply substituted for other forms of violence or duress in
field interrogations raises serious doubts as to whether national se-
curity imperatives were properly interpreted. The “consent” forms
which each Ameriean volunteer signed prior to the administration of
LSD are a case in point. These forms contained no mention of the
medical and psychological risks inherent in such testing, nor do they
mention the nature of the psychotrophic drug to be administered:

The general nature of the experiments in which I have
volunteered. have been explained to me from the standpoint
of possible liizards to my health. /¢ is my understanding that
the experime is are so designed, based on the results of
anifals and previous human experimentation, that the antic-
ipated vesults will justify the performance of the enperi-
ment. T understand Turther that experiments will be so con-
ducted as to avoid all unnecessary physical and medical
suffering and injury, and that [ will be af liberty to request

_that the experiments be terminated at any time if in my opin-
ion T have reached the physical or mental state where con-
tinuation of the experiments becomes undesirable.

I recognize that in the pursuit of certain experiments
transitory discomfort may occur. I recognize, also, that under
these cireumstances, / must rely upon the skill and wisdom
of the physician supervising the experiment to institute what-
ever medical or surgical measures are indicated. [Emphasis
added. ] 18 '

The exclusion of any specific discussion of the nature of LSD in
these forms raises serious doubts as to their validity. An “understand-
_ing . . . that the anticipated results will justify the performance of
the experiment” without full knowledge of the nature of the experi-
meit is an incomplete “anderstanding.” Similarly, the nature of the
experiment limited the ability of both the subject to request its re-
quest its termination and the experimenter to implement such a request.
Finallv, the euphemistic characterization of “transitory discomfort”
and the agreement to “rely on the skill and wisdom of the physician”
combine to conceal inherent risks in the experimentation and may be
viewed as disolving the experimenter of personal responsibility for
damaging aftereffects. In summary, a “volunteer” program in which
subjects are not fully informed of potential hazards to their persons
is “volunteer” in name only.

’f" USAINTC staff study, “Material Testing Program EA 1729, 10/15/59, p. 26.
2 Sample volunteer consent form.
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This problem was compounded by the security statements signed
by each volunteer before he participated in the testing. As part of
this statement, potential subjects agreed that they would:

. not divalge or make available any information related
to U.S. Army Intelligence Center interest or participation in
the Department of the Army Medical Research Volunteer
Program to any individual, nation, organization, business,
association, or other group or entity, not officially authorized
to receive such information.

I understand that any action contrary to the provisions of
this statement will render me liable to punishment under the
provisions of the Uniform Code of Military Justice.'*?

Under these provisions, a volunteer experiencing aftereffects of the test
might have been unable to seek immediate medical assistance.

This disregard for the well-being of subjects drug testing is in-
excusable. Further, the absence of any comprehensive long-term
medical assistance for the subjects of these experiments Is not only"
unscientific: it is also unprofesstonal.

4. Lack of Normal Authorization and Supervision

1t is apparent from documents supplied to the Committee that the
Army’s testing programs often operated under informal and nonrou-
tine muthorization. Potentially dangerous operations such as these
testing programs are the very projects which ought to be subject to
the closest internal serutiny at the highest levels of the military com-
mand structure. There are numerous examples of inadequate review,
partial consideration, and incomplete approval in the administration
of these programs. _

When the first Army program to use LSD on American soldiers in
“field stations” was authorized in May 1955, the Army violated its
own procedures in obtaining approval. Under Army Chief of Staff
Memorandum 385, such proposals were to be personally approved by
the Secretary of the Army. Although the plan was submitted to him
on April 26, 1956, the Secretary issued no written authorization for
the project, and there is no evidence that he either reviewed or ap-
proved the plan. Less than a month later, the Army Chief of Staff
1ssted a2 memorandum authorizing the tests.!*

Subsequent testing of LSD) under Material Testing Program EA
1729 operated generally under this authorization. When the plans for
this testing were originally discussed in early 1958 by officials of the
Army Tntelligence Center at Fort Holabird and representatives of
the Chemical Warfare Center at Bdgewood Arsenal, an informal pro-
posal was formulated. This proposal was submitted to the Medical
Research Directorate at Edgewood by the President of the Army In-
telligence Board on June 3, 1958. There is no evidence that the plan
was approved at any level higher than the President of the Intelli-
gence Board or the Commanding General of Edgewood. The approval
at Edgewood appears to have been issued by the Commander’s Adju-
tant. The Medical Researell Laloratories did not submit the plan to
the Surgeon General for approval (a standard procedure) because

® Sample Volunteer Security Statement.
2 Inspector (eneral of the Army Report, “Use of Volunteers in Chemical

Arent Research,” 3/10/76, p. 109
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the new program was ostensibly covered by the authorizations granted
in May 1956.'2* . _

The two projects involving the operational use of LD (THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT) were apparently approved by the
Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence (General Willems) on
December 7, 1960.222 This verbal approval came In the course of a
briefing on previous drug programs and on the planned field experi-
mentation. There is no record of written approval being issued by the
ACSI to authorize these specific projects until January 1961, and
there is no record of any specific knowledge or approval by the Secre-
tary of the Army.

On February 4, 1963, Major General C. F. Leonard, Army ACST,
forwarded a copy of the THIRD CHANCE Trip Report to Army
Chief of Staff, General Earl Wheeler. *** Wheeler had apparently
requested a copy on February 2. The report was routed through a Gen-
eral Hamlett. While this report included background on the origins
of the LSD tests, it appears that General Wheeler may only have read
the conclusion and recommendations.'”* The office memorandu
accompanying the Trip Report bears Wheeler’s initials,'** :

5. Termination of Testing

On April 10, 1963, a briefing was held in the ACSI’s office on the
results of Projects THIRD CHANCE and DERBY HAT. Both
SPT’% concluded that more field testing was required before LSD
could be utilized as an integral aid to counterintelligence interroga-
tions. During the presentation of the DERBY IIAT results, General
Leonard (Deputy ACSI) directed that no further field testing be
undertaken.s® After this meeting the ACSI sent a letter to the Com-
manding General of the Army Combat Developments Command
(CDC) requesting that he review THIRD CHANCE and DERBY
HAT and “make anet evaluation concerning the adoption of EA 1729
for future use as an effective and profitable aid in counterintelligence
interrogations.” **7 On the same day the ACSI requested that the CDC
Commander revise regulation FM 30--17 toread in part:

. . in no instance will drugs be used as an aid to interro-
gations in counterintelligence or security operations without
prior permission of the Department of the Army. Requests
to use drugs as an investigative aid will be forwarded through
intelligcence channels to the QACSI, DA, for approval. . . .

Medical research has established that information obtained
through the use of these drugs is unreliable and invalid. . ..

Tt 15 considered that DA [Army] approval must be a pre-
requisite for use of such drugs because of the moral, legal,
medical and political problems inherent in their use for intel-
ligence purposes.'? -

2t rvid., pp. 135, 137, 138.

m: Mehovsky Fact Sheet, 12,/9/60.

” Memorandum from Leonard to Wheeler, 2/4/63.

:“ SGS memorandum to Wheeler through Hamlett, 2/5/03.
5 Ibid, i

" Maj. F. Barnett, memorandum for the record, 8/12/63.

:: ?gmaki memorandum for the record, 7/16/63,
id.
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The subsequent adoption of this regulation marked the effective ter-
mination of field testing of LSD by the Army.

The official termination date of these testing programs is rather
unclear, but a later ACSI memo indicates that 1t may have occurred
in September of 1963. On the 19th of that month a meeting was held
between Dr. Van Sims (Edgewood Arsenal), Major Clovis (Chemi-
cal Research Laboratory), and ACSI representatives (General
Deholm and Colonel Schmidt). “As a result of this conference a deter-
mination was made to suspend the program and any further activity
pending a more profitable and suitable use.” 2°

D. CoorerarioNn axp COMPERITION AMONG THE INTELLIGENCE COM-
MUNITY AGEXNCIES AND BeTwrrny THEsE AGENCIES axp OTHER
INDpIvIDTALS AND INSTITOTIONS

1. Relationships Among Agericies Within the Intelligence Community

Relationships among intelligence community agencies in this area
varied considerably over time, ranging from full cooperation to intense
and wasteful competition. The early period was marked by a high
degree of cooperation among the agencies of the intelligence comumu-
nity. Although the military dominated research involving chemical
and biological agents, the information developed was shared with the
FBI and the CIA. But the spirit of cooperation did not continue. The
failure by the military to share information apparently breached the
spirit, if not the letter, of commands from above.

As noted above, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence
was briefed on the proposed 6perational testing of LSD under Project
THIRD CHANCE, and expressed concern that the project had not
been coordinated with FBI and CIA. Despite this request, no coordi-
nation was achieved between the Army and either of these agencies.
Had such cooperation been forthcoming, this project may have been
evaluated in a different light.

The competition between the agencies in this area reached bizarre
levels. A mlitary officer told a CIA representative in confidence about
the military’s field testing of I.SD in Europe under Project THIRD
CHANCE, and the CIA promptly attempted to learn surreptitiously
the nature and extent of the program. At roughly tlhe same time Mr.
Helms argued to the DDCI that the unwitting testing program should
be continued, as it contributed to the CIA’s capability in the area and
thus allowed the CTA “to restrain others in the intelligence community
(such as the Department of Defense) from pursuing operations.™ 3

The MEKNAOMT program was also marked by a failure to share
information. The Army Special Forces (the principal customer of the
Special Operations Division at Fort Dietrick) and the CIA rather
than attempting to coordinate their efforts promulgated different re-
quirements which varied only slightly. This apparently resulted in
some duplication of effort. In order to insure the security of CIA
operations, the Agency wonld request materials from SOI) for opera-
tional use without fully or accurately describing the operational
r}equirements. This resulted in limitations on SOD’ ability to assist
the CILA.

* Undated ASCI memorandum, p. 2.
 Memorandum from the DDP to the DCI, 11/9/64, p. 2.
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9. Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencies and
Foreign Liaison Services

The subjects of the CTA’s operational testing of chemical and bio-
logical agents abroad were generally being held for interrogation by
foreign intelligence or security organizations. Although information
shout the use of drugs was generally witliheld from these organiza-
tions, cooperation with them necessarily jeopardized the security of
CI.\ interest in these materials. Cooperation also placed the American
Government in a position of complicity in actions which violated the
rights of the subjects, and which may have violated the laws of the
country in which the experiments took place.

Cooperation between the intelligence agencies and organizations in
foreign countries was not limited to relationships with the intelligence
or internal security organizations. Some MEKULTRA research was
conducted abroad. While this is, in itself, not a questionable practice,
it is important that such research abroad not be undertaken to evade
Aumerican laws. That this was a possibility is suggested by an ARTI-
CHOKE memorandwn in which it is noted that working with the
scientists of a foreign country “might be very advantageous” since
that government “permitted certain activities which were not per-
mitted by the United States government (i.e., experiments on anthrax,
ete.).” 15

3. The Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Ageneies
and Other Agencies of the U.S. Government

Certain U.S. government agencies actively assisted the efforts of
intelligence agencies in this area. One form of assistance was to pro-
vide “cover” for research contracts let by intelligence agencies, in
order to disguise intelligence community interest in chemical and
biological agents. * .

Other forms of assistance vaise more serious questions. Although
the CI.\’s project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD
was conduected by Bureau of Narcotics personnel, there was no open
connection between the Bureau personnel and the Agency. The Bureau
was serving as a “cut-out” in order to make it difficult to trace Agency
participation. The cut-out arrangement, however, reduced the CI\’s
ability to control the program. The Agency could not control the
yrocess by which subjects were selected and cultivated, and could not
regulate follow-up atter the testing. Moreover, as the CIA’s Tnspector
General noted : “the handling of test subjects in the last analysis rests
with the [Bureau of Narcotics] agent working alone. Suppression of
knowledge of critical results from the top CIA management is an
inherent visk in these operations.” ¥** The arrangement also made 1t
impossible for the Agency to be certain that the decision to end the
surreptitious acdministration of L3D would be honored by the Burean
personnel. '

The arrangement swith the Bureau of Narcotics was described as
“informal.” 1% The informality of the arrangement compounded the
problem is aggravated by the fact that the 40 Committee has had vir-

M A RTICHOKE Memorandum, 6/13/52.
12 103 Report on MEKULTRA, 1963, p. 14
w7 This was taken by one Agency official to mean that there would be no

written contract and no formal mechanism for payment. (Elder, 12/18/75, p. 3,
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apparent unwillingness on the part of the Bureau’s leadership to ask
for details, and the CIA’s hesitation in volunteering information.
These problems raise serious questions of command and control within

the Bureau.

4. Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencz’es and
Other Institutions end Individuals, Public and Private

The Inspector Generals 1963. Survey of MEKULTRA noted
that “the researeh and development” phase was conducted through
standing arrangements with “specialists In universities, pharmaceu-
tical houses, hospitals, state and federal institutions, and private re-
search organizations” in a manner which concealed “from the 1nstitu-
tion the interests of the CIA.” Only a few “key individuals” in each
institution were “made witting of Agency sponsorship.” The research
and development phase was succeeded by a phase involving “phy-
sicians, toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, parcotics, and
general hospitals and prisons, who are provided the products and
findings of the basic research projects and proceed with intensive test-
ing on human subjects.” 54 ‘

According to the Inspector General, the MKULTRA testing pro-
grams were “conducted under accepted scientific procedures . . .
where health permits, test subjects are voluntary participants in the
programs.” 135 This was clearly not true in the project involving the
surreptitious administration of LSD, which was marked by a com-
plete Jack of screening, medical supervision, opportunity to ebserve, or
medical or psvchological follow-up.

The intelligence agencies allowed individual researchers to design
their project. Kxperiments sponsored by these researchers (which In-
cluded ane where nareétics addicts were sent to Lexington, Kentucky,
who were rewarded with the drng of their addiction in return for
participation in experiments with LSD) ecall into question the decl-
sion by the agencies not to fix gnidelines for the experiments.

The MKULTRA research and development program raises other
questions, as well, It is not clear whether individuals in prisons, mental,
nareotics and eeneral hospitals can provide “informed consent” to
participation in experiments such as these. There is doubt as to whether
institutions should be unswitting of the ultimate sponsor of research
being done in their facilities. The nature of the arrangements also
made it impossible for the individnals who were not aware of the
sponsor of the research to exercise any choice about their participa-
tion based on the sponsoring organization.

Although greater precautions arve now being taken in research con-
ducted on behalf of the intelligence community agencies, the dilemma
of classification remains. These agencies obviously wished to conceal
fhmr interest in certain forms of research in order to avoid stimulating
interest in the same areas by hostile governments. In some cases today
contractors or researchers wish to conceal thelr connection with these
agencies, Vet the fact of classification prevents open discussion and
debate upon which scholarly work depends.

P Ibid. p. 9.
55 Fhid. p. 10.



103

APPENDIX B

DOCUMENTS REFERRING TO DISCOVERY OF ADDI-
: TIONAL MKULTRA MATERIAL

_22 June 1977

- [P S -
H .

*MEMORANDUM FOR: Deputy Director of Central Intelligence '

-fHROUGH_ 3f*f-:  Deputy-Birecf0f fo}.Sqieﬁcg_aﬁd jechgq%qé;
SUBJECT  : Request for Guidance on Handling - =
' "7 Recently Located MXULTRA Materiazl
# - :

1. (UfATIUOY} This memorandun is to advise you that
additional MKULTRA documenis have been discovered and to
obtain your approval for follow-on actiens required.
Paragraph 7 contains a recommended course of action.

s 2. (USAIUOQ} As a result of John Marks FOIA re- -
quest (F-76-374)}, all of the MRULTRA materilal in COTS
possession was reviewed for possible release to him.
‘Following that review, the 0TS meterial in the Retired
Records {enter was searched. It was during that latter
search that the subproject files were located among the.
retired records of the OTS Budget and Fiscal Section.
These files were not discovered earlier as the earlier
searches were linited to the examination of the _active

. and retired records of those branchess considered moSt -
likely to have generated or have had access tp MKULTRA °
documents. Those branches inciuded: Chémistry, :
Biological, Behavioral Activities, and Contracts Manage-
ment. Because Dr. Gottlieb retrieved and destroyed zll
the MKULTRA documents he was able to lorate, it is not )
surprising that the earlier search for MKULTRA documents,
directed at areas where they were most likely te be found,
was unsuccessful, The purpose of establishing the MRKULTRA
mechanism was to 1limit knowledge of the sensitive work
being performed to those with an absclute need to know.
If those precepts had been followed, the Tecently found _ -
BEF files should have contained only finzrcial ahnd
adninistrative documents. (In retrospect, 1 realize that

Daciassifiad by AT
: data - %73:::;%::i?
. N TR
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The Director of Central Intelligence
Washingion 0. C. 20505

The Honorable Dapiel K. Inouye, Chafrman
Select Committee on Intelligence

United States Senate

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear'Mr, Chairman:

During the course of 1975 when the Senate Committee, chaired
by Senator Church, was investigating intelligence activities, the
. CIA was asked to produce documentation on a program of experimentation
with the effect of drugs. Under this project conducted from 1953
to 1964 and known as “MK-ULTRA," tests were conducted on American
citizens in some ca%es without their knowledge. The CIA, after’
searching for such documentation, reported that most of the documents
on this matter have been destroyed., I find it my duty to report
to you now that-our continuing search for drug related, as well as
other documents, has uncovered certain papers which bear on this
. matter. Let me hasten to add that I am persuaded that there was no
previous attempt to conceal this material in the original 1975
explorations~ The material recently discovered was in the retired
archives filed under financial accounts and only uncovered by using
extraordinary and extensive search efforts. In this connection,
incidentally, I have personally commended the employee whose diligence
produced this find. '

Because the new material now on hand is primarily of a financial
nature, it does not present a complete picture of the field of drug
experimentation activity but it does provide more detail than was -
previously available .to us. For example, the following types of
activities were undertaken:

a. Possible additional cases of drugs being tested on
American citizens, without their knowledge.

b. Research was undertaken on surreptitious methods of
administering drugs.

€. Some of the persons chosen for experimentation were
drug addicts or alcoholics.

d. Research into the development of a knockout or "K"
drug was performed in conjunction with being done to :
develop pain killers for advanced caneer patients, and tests
on such patients were carried out.
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e. There is a possibility of an 1mproper payment to a
private institution.

The drug related activities described in this newly located material
began almost 25 years aga. [ assure you they were d1scont1nued over .
10 years ago and do not take place today.

In keep1ng with the President's commitment to disclose any errors
of the Intelligence Community which are uncovered, I would like to
volunteer to testify before your Committee on the full details of this
unfortunate series of events. I am in the process of reading the
fairly voluminous material involved and do want to be certain that
I have a complete picture when I talk with the Conmittee. I will be
in touch with you next week to discuss when hear1ngs might be
scheduled at the earliest opportunity.

I regret having to bring this issue to your attention, but I know
that it is essentidl to your overSIth procedures that you be kept fully
infarmed in a timely manner.

Yaurs sincege

STANSFIELD TURMER
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APPENDIX C
DOCUMENTS REFERRING TO SUBPROJECTS

. DRAFT .
dats £ N a7y ) T 1 May 1953
m-mmmm[ FOR THE FECOED
) SUBSECT: : Projec* MKHTT?&, Subprolect 2 B
1. Subproject 2 is ‘be*:l.g set up to provide a secure ard o

efffciant meens to exploic

. ir regerd —
. - to the MRULIRA program. ;

tbe Psychie.tri~ Sec‘_tian a‘* e 3
and 053 experience durirnz World War IZI. He has besn of
velue in the general MEULTRA field eg an overail adviser ard -
ccnsv&.thrt he hzs teen of value in contacting indivicduals 1n tke
3 ares and in setiing up projects there, znd he has
dore work himself which has comtributed to the MATTRA f1eld. .His
professicnal activitles and imewn. conneciions withk the m — 5

¥ o L .
- 3.. subproject 2 would inelude; ) -

a. Miscellaneouws ressorch and testing servieces in the-
gener&l field of MEULTRA,

_ b. Services a3 a2 cantact and cut-ouf for projects in the
MEULTRA, field, priwerily those -located In bhead e )
ares., ’

: . . o
¢. Monitoring of selected projects In the MKULTRA fl=1d,
wher lccated In the cembral g

d. Sen’ices ag a general consultant and adviser 1= the
MKULTP.A. field,
L. The total cost of this pro] ect is not to exceed 3k,550.C0°
for a pericd of ons yesr. o -
T e s, i3 eclezred through TOP SEORET on a contac
{ vasig, ; .

Chenical Divisicn/TSS _

AFERGVED: o
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PROGRAM AFFRQVED - . . . .  APFROVED F(R ' B
AND FECOMMEMDED: ... - . . . - -  OELIGATION OF FUibS: /4
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PROFOSAL. .

Géjective: To ;tu&y the possibie sfnergistic zction of drugs
which may be apprppriate for use in abdlishing consclouspess.,
Situstion: There Ls reasan to believe that two or more drugs,
used in combination, are more effective tbgn 5ihéle drugs. |
The cémbined effect of some drugs, sucﬁ as compirations of
varbituretes, arciknovz. With other combizations, the degree
cf syrergism 1s not chwu. If considerable synergism is found
to exist, two fossibilities must be considered: (1) thket a
particulgrly-usefﬁl combinetion may be found, snd {2) tkat a
partitular-écmhinafion may be hazardous because of its effect
on resplration or scme other vital function. To minimize

hezards, animal experiments should precede human experiments,

Freooosal: Allocaticn of $1000 for animal experiments, to be

drewn on as needed.. Thet experiments be conducted infcrzally

§without a specific grany, 2nd with appropriate cover,




" PROPCSATL

Objecfiva: -To'éﬁuﬂy methods for the administration of drugs

thout the knowledge of the patient, Preparaticn of & mem=l,

. -

.~
b

Method: A survey of methods-whiqh have been used by criminals
for surreptiticus adninistraticn cof drugs.__&palysié of the

psychodynamics of situstions of this nature,

i

Proposal: That $100Q te allecated for this purpose, funds %o

te requested as needed.
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mnq
dale 8 JUN 12/, . 11 August 1955

MOWRARDUM F(R: TEE REGMERD
SUBJECT ‘s Project MEULIRA, Subproject M 2

) o 1. Subproject 2@ is being initiated to T
_ pecurs and efficient meens of exploiting il _— C
o — mwith regard to the MEULTRA program, - S T
' T is a practicing pzychiatrist in

C—""TT Zs
: and & faculty member of

T BB e has been of value in the
general MKULTRA project, serving as an advisor and
ccnsultant, contacting individuals 1n them —
" ares, snd carrying out his own research Program,

3. Subproject 2£ would includs the following:

(a) Miscellaneous repearch and taating-aéﬁices
inthagmﬂlrield‘afm.l : _
_{b) Services a8 & contact catout for projects “
R j.n ‘ !__' ‘l [ELT ] 7 thﬁ” lﬂcl‘bod in

C .

(¢} Mmitoring of selscied projects in the
C_’, MEULTRA f1eld, vhen located In the central

el r
(d). Services as a gemeral copsultant and adviscr
in ths HETLIRA _fiald. ' .

{s) He would sct a8 medical advisor and consuliant
e i and his MMEEIRGNERRNS: ostablish-

3 - B

<

C 4 MSS 11 be reinbursed for his services
. and expenses upon receipt of an invoice at irregular
" 4rtervals, When travel expenses are incurred through
gse of a common carrier, they will be documented and
reimbursed in the usual panner; that is, consistant with
atandard Government allowances. : - .

Al ["UENTNT S RN
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MEMCRANDUM FOR THEE RECORD
SURJECT:  Project MKULTRA, Subproject 16

1. Subproject 16 is a continuation of Subproject 3, which
involved the establishment and malntenance of facilities for the”
realistic testing of certain research and development items of
interest Yo CD/TSS spd APD/TSS. The facilities wore set up under
Subbroject 3, and Subproject 16 is intepded to provide for the
continued mslntenance of the facilities. .

2. Subproject 3 was origirally intended to Provide furdg for the
waintenance of the facilities for ong year; but 1t turns out that the
costs of alterations, equirment, and initdal suppliss were urdep-
estimated in Subproject 3; hepce the necesaily to establish Subprolect

16 at this time. .

3. Subproject 16 will be conducted bywg R, O
Certein support ectivities will be provided by CD/TSS
and APD/Tss. ) . -

5, The estimated cost for o pericd of ore year is 37,750.c0.

’ chtes
Chemical Divisicn, TSS
PROGRAM APTROVED - - - AFTROVED FOR OBLIGATIO

AND RECOMMENDED: . OF FUNDS: —

e
8 Crairman
Date; S—————w=

i

Orfginal Only, T
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MEMORAITTHIY FOR TSE RECCRD

SUBJECT: Project MEULIRA, Subproject 23

1.  The scope of this preject is iniernd
thoze activities now enzaged in by the ]
T in 153 cwm facilisies under the direction of CD/TSS,

At the present iime the vexricus projacts at this Faciiity (
"R - SO ove teing concluded and 1t is deemed desirgdle
from the standpoirt of security end eoffficlency to replaze these pro-
Jects with a sirgls project more gansxal 1p 1is apprae.;%. B

_ L
2, The attacked propesczl frem Dr. m&niica‘;es £ha

extent of the Investizatlons Sheit his facilities will =21lavw him to
carry cut on the matarials developed iIn the three projfects referred
te in parograth 1, as well as gertein other matericls of Intarest io
Ci/TS3. ODr. ' alsc serves as a zenmeral comsultant to this
divizion ani/erovides ¢over ond cul-out faellfties to tas Asensy.

3. The tetal cost of £hiz projzct for 2 naried of cne oy srill
ret aweesd 32 700.00. Q)

L, Dr. hos been
fthe Azaneyr and i3 fuily ccpalle of or

Jovermmen® s Inftersst in such meita

FRCZRAL AREACVED ‘ AFPROVED FPCR CRLIZLTECN

D EEIOIEIIED: ¥ FiIa:
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’ The present iovéstdgation is concerned with chewdcenl
are cffective in modifyipg the behavier and finctiom of the central n:g:::: 335;.

1 - Tt is propased te studyavarictyofb.mdrug‘sinthizphameological class
that are in pressat day use and to synthesize new chemical ageats or to nodify

existing omes 23 ocensicn may demand.

2 - The various chemical agents jnvestigated or synthesized will be tested on
apimgls to determine their acute and chromic taxicity., Their tharmacelagical
effects will be studied by a variety of assay tachnica, sach as bloed pressure

determinations, bronchial dilatation recordings,

endocrine effects, ete, Come

plete animal facilities will be maintained for this purpese and pathologic
study will be carried out oa the affectad organs when the apimals are sacrificed.

3 - Preliminary clinical investigation will be carri
cherdeal agents, and appropriate laboratory proc
as blood comts, urinalysis, etc. o determine the

reactions of the drugs under investigation.

ed out ¢m the more promising
edures will be performed, such

effectivencss and the side

4 - Adequats reparts will e submitted of the findings at quarterly imtervals.

5 - Propased budget:

Parsonmel
Synthetic o janic chemist
Research medical associate
Pharmacological aasiatant
Chemical assistant
Histolegy tecknician
Clinical techmician
Chemical censultant

Total salaries for perscmnel

Other ditures
Animals, animal maintenance & facilitiea
Chexdcal & laboratory supplies , expendable
1 scellanecus permanent egquipment
Travel, medical meetings, etc.

‘Tatal other expenditures

TOTAL

$30,700.00

4,000,00
4,000.00
2,000,00-

2,000,900

12,000.00

§ 42,700.00
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DRAFT
8 October 1354

MEMORANDUM FOR THEE RECORD
SUBJECT: - Inorease in the Scope of Subproject 23, Prolect MKULIRA

Cﬁ
1. Due to a,/considerahle increase in the scope of the work under-
taken by WMt the direction of TSS/CD under Subproject 23,
Project MKULTRA, the $42,7C0.00 sum originally obligated for this work
ig ipsufficient to cover the year's costs. It is therefore proposed to
add $15,000.00 to that alresdy obligated under this Subproject.

2., The total cost of this Subproject for the pericd 28 Janus.ry 1554
to 28 Januery 1955 will thus amount to $57,700.00.

3. The inerease in geope Tesponalble for this propesal coneiata cof
the development and partial fipaneing of twe mew sources of biologleally
sctive compounds of interest in the program TSS/CD is earryicg cut.

Chemical Division, TSS

ATFROVED FCR ORLIGATTON APPROVED:

“Resesrch Director CHlef; Coehital Diviaion, 155

Date: i‘/ ff e AT

Original COaly.
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25 August 1955

MEMORARDUM FGR THE RECCRD

SUBRJECT: o Authorization for Payment of Certain Exneuses Uhdhr
E Pro‘ect MKULTRA, Suvproject 23 e T o

1. TIn order to carry on the work of the above Subproject,-it .
was necessary to test the effects of certain chemical substances
when sdministered to human deings. Certein of the anticipated
effects involved mental functicns which precluded the use of mental -
defectives for this particular study. .

2. In v-iew of these circums‘tances the project engiueer with
versal approvael from his chief, authorized the contractor to pay the
hospitals expenses of certaia persons suffering from incurable cancer
tor the orivilege of studying the effects of these chemicals during

their terminal fllnesses. The total funds expended in this faskhion
amcunted to $658.05 and full velue was received.

3. It is requested that the Chief, TSS 1ndicate hls knovledge
and a*m:roval of this particular expenditure for audit purposes.

' (_p‘ - Tss/Chemica:L Div:\.sion

APPRCVED: - APPR_UVED:

4’2/_-.:::;

- i s . gt Chier, ©o8 . _ ,Ehlei‘ TSS’;CIlﬂmcal Division
Distribution: - '74{‘7:?/ -/ i w
orig. - f'ss/cn _

oo
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21 December 195k

MIMCRANTUM FCR: Director of Central Intelligence

SUBJECT : Project MXUDLTRA, Subproject 35

1. Wiile the Dir=zctor's siatutory authority to expend funds
for confidential purposss is not Yimited by low, we believe that
a glft of Goverrment funds as such would exceed the intent of the
Corgress in grenting that povwer. FHowever, wheare 2 gift is made
for the exoress rturpese of produclng something of velus to this
Agency winich cannet octherwise be coleired and ftasre is a reason-
sble exrzeqtetion taat tke velue may be received, the gift znay in
effect te an expenditure For rroper officisi purposes,

2. TIn Subproject 35, 1t iz steted thet. the donation in
question would achleve ceriain ends desired by TS5, Thers seems
to b2 no question that those ends would be advartagsous, so the
mein guestions sppear to be whether they could not be attained
by more direct, normal wmethods, and, if not, whetber the return
is necessary and reasoneble in relation to the donation.

3. We sre in no position to review the requirements of TSS
or to eppraise Lhe advantages ibat would resuit from this oroject.
We do not comment, thesrefore, on the value received if the
project results in the beneflis foresesn. We feel we shouid
corment on Tactors affecting the probedility of achieving those
ends., In 2 legal sense, there is little or no contrel. Once
the funds nre donasted, the individus]l, his fouwdstion, or the
hospital cculd conceivably refuse to work for us or sllow us the
use of the focilities, o

L, Prectically, the contrcl seems to be established as well
85 clromstances parmit. Certainly, as long es the indlvidusl is
allve and in his present pesition, we have every reascn to expect
bkis copmplete cooperation in the future as in the past, unless
through scie act or fault of our own he is alienated. FEven in the
event of his death or incapacity, there appesrs to be a reasonable

Pounzradag tor PAtrmeL
WA T R AT —
r t;.lt.-C?i?»}’ af: 13?4?5 - N -
dntasr T — =t -
e o 131,7 --—-;‘v'.\
— !
22 INIDET or o —— Copy # 1 of 1 co
AN L 1374?5 PY PY
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vroLacfllitles onoonT
the cxpenditure, there
the project.

enance cf centinulszx tha preject. il these
sursicicns o chtain an adeguate reitan for
con be ro legnl cbleetion to this aspect of

5

§. It should be noted thet there ere +two &ircumstances whilch
reguire consideration In s {izmal determinaticn. As stated In
Sceticn V, cur contribution, ty appsaring to be from a private
source, would incrsase the matching Goverrment contribution by a
simlilar omount which would not be the case i i% were known that
this was ip fact & foverwment centribhuticn elso. Secondly, it is
the stated volicy of the hospital to charge the Government end
commereial ormanizations 80 per cent overhead on ressarch contrects,
vheress nenprofit fourdatlens poy only direct costs buil oo verhead.
Tecause of +the ostensible scuvge, our projechs will not he charged
overh=ad. This could he eonsirued =s mdrally wrongful to the
hospital, as normelly we would ey the £0 per cent overhesd
cherge for projsets paryormed dirsctly for us, but I believe
this ean be offse%, &t lesst to the ampunt of our donation, and
pernaps hy the further amount by whichk the other Goverpzaant contri-
wutions are inereased by our denstion, In any ease, if the
project is & proper ong and must be performed in this menner,
security dictates thess circumstences and they, therefore, do
not present a lsgal obstacle as such.

6. Ve raised the guesticn whether funds for the hospital
construction could not be cbtained from other normel charitadls
sources. It spoeared thabt there was a stroig possibility thet
the individusl concerned could raise adeguate 2unds from private
resources, but it was the rosition of TS5 that 1f this were the
cese we would not obtain the-commitment from the indtvidual and
the degres of control which this project is designed to gchieva.

K&@ua&

LAWRENCE R. HOUSTCH
{eneral Counsel

-

Tannproded tor

- ometkarity 0f: 187275 M.

"

P g x

Dovngraded t
By authority -
dateog Juno 13 . ST

E2 INTDET; CL BY 187iis

Copy # 1 of 1 copy
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W2 heve notsd youwr memoranium of & April 1955 to the

BLD budget for this clset Als regus
T in any way the

br Quthority e2; 3
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.
" -

f Copy # 1 of 1 copy
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5 May 1957

A poxticn of T2 Rozsarch end Developmont Frogrsd of
TS3/Chenical Divicicn 1 devoled 0 +hs ¢igsovery of the
rallouing caveriels and mathoda:

1, Substances which will prowots 1llogiesl thinking
end irpulzivensss to ths polnl where the rociplent would be
digeredited in public,

2, Subastonces which increase the efficlency of menta-
+ien and parcephlcn, : ,

3, Materials which will provent or couateract oo
Intexicating sffect of sleonol, :

4, Faterials which will premets the intoxicating af-
faut of aleohol,

5, laterials waich will producs the signs end sysphoms
of recommizsd discasas 1n a raveraible way g0 that thoy &2y
te ugssd fop malingering, oic. o : : -

§, Meterials which will remder the induction of hypnesis
eagiex or otherwiss enhence ita voalulnesse.

7, Cubstanses which will enhance tho ability of indi-
+idusls to withziend privatien, torwuza and gogrcion during
interresatisa and co-called “hyain-wasblngd,

¢, laterials and physieal metbods which wlll produce '
arnegla for oventa preceding andd Gardng their usa, _

9, TFhysiesl mothods of producing choek and cenfuaion
over cmtendsd pericds of tims and sapabla of prTspbilion
usa, :

_ 10, Substancas whieh produce phyaical "diszblement such
ea paralysis of the lezs, acute snemln, 8UC.
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12, Subgtences Yhich will produce Ymure™ gurheria wilth no
gabzequent Yot-Gown, )

12, Substances vhich alter porsonality structurs in suoh
& v=y that tha tendsney of tha rocipient to beccoms depondend
upan enother pavsen 15 cnhanced, .

13. A raterial uhbich uill ecnuse mental confusion of such
& type that the inddvldual wdsr i%a in?luence will find it
Alffionly to madntain a fobrication wnder guegtioning,

14, Subztances which will lcusr the embition and
gensral vorking efficiency of men whan administared in
wdeteotable arounzta,

15, Substancas whicn premots weslmess or dtstertion
o ths syscizht or hearing Taculliies, proferably witheut
perzanset efifests, -

16, A knecekeut pill which con cerreptiticusly be
acministered In Grinks, food, clgerettes, as on cercgol,
ete,, whick will be sar'p to use, provide a marisum of
amaesia, c2d Be sullalle for mes by agent tyrez on an

ad bog basis, :

17, A m=izrial yhich can be surrsptiticusly adninia-
tored by tha above reutes end vaick in very eall excurts
will make it izneazible for a man to parform any physical
zotivity vhataver, -

. L - - .
The dovelopmant of materials of this type follows tha .
gtanderd practics of such ethical émvg housoo op £TuEw S
Zedeed 1t 15 a relatively routina preoedure Yo develso a arug
o ths point of man testing, Ordinerily, tha drug houass dopend
vron tho corvices of private nhyeicicns for the final ¢linical
testing, Ihs physiolans are wiliirsy to acsums the rarronslibllity
o guch %esta in cxder to sdvence tha gelcnna of madiaine, It
is Aifficudt and sometimes irpossible for TES/CD o offss much
en ingucczant with rospoet to iis predueta, In Tractiga, 41 hes
bsen pozsible to usa oubride clcaved contractors for the rrolimzinary
pazces of this work, Howsvew, that part whith Involves huzan
teating at effzotive doase lsvelg pregents zocurlty problers which
oamnot ba handlsd by the ordirary contrecter,
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The proposed facility Sk By offara & uniqus OFEOT-

ity for the serar'? kandling ci suen olinical testing in eddd-
cotegos cutlined in the project proposal,

msntloned obove ara aliminnted by the fact

113 rest ¢

Theo security problena
that the recpongibility for tha tosting
~waicien sud the hospital.

upon the ph

R will gil
- gupervise the worx vory ciozoly to meds gure that g
conduchad according to the razognlzed procitices =nd exbody ade= _
C

queie safoguerds.
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Lo Ma.y 1935

SUBPROIECT 35 OF PROJECT MKULTRA

qup*o_]ect 35 as approved by the DCL on 1:- January 1953 contempla...ed a

. flmnc:lal contribution of §123, 000 to the §8 L i (X tc - }3
participate in the construction of a new. research wing to cost §3, 000,000
exclugive of furnishings and equipment, -“Agency funds will be transmmitted .
through the § 2 ' ~-28 cut-out which -~ - B
will result in one-~sixth ot tae space in a.he -1ew researca wing being rmade -
available for Agency-sponsored research involving covert biological and :
chemical techniques of warnfare,

2. At that time (15 january 1955) 48 - 7
encouragement Indicated a w:..i:ngness to cortr:.butc $500, 500 to the construc-
tion fund, The building fund was to have been raised as Iollows:

$1, 000, 000 - Coatributed by 23
253, 300 - Deonation from e 4
$125, 000 to be supplied by CIA
1 250, 000 - Matching funds undsr Public Law 221 squal
) to tbe amount of the two above contributions
500, 000 - &9

$3,000,000 - TOTAL

3, Since it now appears that the expacted contribution by
forthcoming, permission is requested to increase the Agency's contribution
by $250, 000 which will result in a financial situation as follows: '

—_— ,‘2
including . J

$1, 000, 000 - Contributed by &
EQ0, 000 - Donaticn from & P

. $375, 000 sugplied by C.IA
1,500, 000 - Matching funds under Public Law 221 equal
to the amount of the two above contributions

$3,000,900 - TOTAL

4. The Agency's contribution would thus total $375, 000. This investment,
tegether with the squal sum resuliing from maiched funds, is fully justified

e opinion of TSS for reasons which will be expleined by m -
ES Chief, T3S, and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, Chief, TSS/Chemical Division,
The scope of subproject 35 has net changed since the Director originally
approved a request by TSS for permission to spend $i25, 000 of available

Pttt ;:}_ /!h__ﬂ_.t(__{) L{_A.,,r_,“.é,.,; ..«9/ T/}‘L—m({,

in

f’

neo L5 A e
A /},.'-\“l L .‘)L/ Pa_ o e e /7 ._,..f S N
-

Py l"‘ B . T
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w-.—nds for Lhis purpose through the controls and procedures established
inr MLULTRA, At the time spbprcjer.t 35 was seb up within the scope of

e 055 RED program, security considerations and cover arrangemsnts ]
wee e '\‘—“-’ﬁ““Y.fc"'iEWEdJ and the Office of General Counsel assisted in legal

drtergyinations, With the exception of funding arrangements, no changes in

Vi _::ro‘j;rart'l hrve since been made, H

5, Funda to cover)zéprev-iously approved sum of 5125, 000 are available
writin the TSS EBPbudget for FY 55 and have bfen set aside. The T53 ;
Lal:ct, however, lacks funds with which to cover the supplemental sum of
£240, 000, and it is requested that the TSS BB udzet be increased by this
amocunt, Supplementary funds available for subproject 35 can definitely te
obligated by the end of FY B3, . .
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AMENDMENT TO SUBPROJECT 35, PROJECT MHULTRA

For the Pur?os.e of Establishing a Cover Organization for Highly Sensitive
Projacts in the Field of Biologiczl, Chemical and Radiological Warfare

I, Background of Subproject 35,

In January 1955 approval was given by the DCI to Subproject 35 of Project
MEULTRA, The documents which lead to this approval (including comments
of the OGG) are attached herewith as Tabs 2, A and 3,

Project MEULTRA is the framework of procedures and controls under which
research projects in certain highly sensitive fields are carried out by TSS,
A description of the background of Project MKULTRA may be munc} on
page 1 of Tab A,
Subproject 35 establishes cover under which the Chemical Division of
DD /P/TES would conduct certain sensitive projects in the {izlds of biological
and chemical warfare and consisis of 2 proposed arrangsment whereby the
Agency covertly coatributes funds to assist the : R
BEIEERY in the construction of a new research wing, Contribution of these
funds is to be mede through the § z 3 — B
9, 25 cut-out so that the @ e e : R wouid remain L f)
unwitting of Agency participation in the building prag*c.m Projects would
later be carriaed cut by the Chemiczl Pivision using the {acilities of the
new research wing, a2nd Agency employees would be able to participate
in the work without the Uaiversity or the Hospital authorities being aware
. of Agency interest, Subproject 35 conternplated the contributiorn of Agency
funds ta asstst in the constructien of fac111t1es Future research work
Frg ¥ as cut-out and would be ~ J3

seperately funded under existing procedures and controls. -

i

11, Building Fund,

The Universify will require 33,000, 000 for the six-story addition to the
hospital exclusive of the cost of land, heating and power supply which are
being provided by the University, Under Public Law 221, Subappropriation
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&£3, dated 26 August 1954, funds are available to r,::a.tch funds raised for

¢his purpese oYy the Universivy.

When Subproject 3% was first prepared, it was hoped and expected that the
required would be provided as follows; The University has allocated

funds
e upkeep and stalfing chiigaticns.

$1, 000, 000 to this preject and will assam
; ' agreed that if the Agedcy would provide ¥8 - S
af $125, 000, the Fund would match this amount and

@with a grant

make a total donation of $250, 080 to the University Building Fund, At that
fime, discussions with & i 5 5 gESGR L
o sy, indicated that 4ECEERNEDY would centribute $520, 000

project on the hasis that radidlogical research would be

ing and that the constru tign of the new faciiities
financial situation was

to the huilding
conducted in the new W
was of interzst to that Agency. In swmumary, tb

to have been as follows:

3

I3

By (of which ~ JE

%1, 000, DOO
Z50, 800 -

Donation from gk ; ;
$125, 000 was supplied by C1a}
1,256,000 ~ Matcked Funds upder Public Law 221
500,000 - IRSEEER — R
€3, 000, 000 ~ TOTAL R

1,250,000 under Public
of the irclusion of the CIA
1t was felt that the value to
vhe Federal contribufion was moie
jact and that furthermors,
35 g was the

1t was recognized that the Federal contribution
Law 221 would be seemingly inflated by reas
contrizusion in that of DEERGES oA b
the Agency was such that this inflation of
than justificd by the importance of the over-2ll pra
the inclusion of the CIA contribution in that of
best means of maintaining security. ) N3

B P

The original informal commitment on té pa.rt/-:‘:-f SR was first obtained

throuch verbal discussions with Mg g which were fcllowed

up by an exchange of ccrrespondant{e'between the. DCI and W" —_—
was fully occupied with the contro-

Unfortunately at that time
versy conccrning the (R4 2md continued contact with Nl - C

subotdinates resulted in a qecision that could neat or
would not contribute to the Building Fund, but would be wi ing to support
ﬂﬂ_m‘-m'«"—l- research program amounting to 450,000 to 575,90 It is not

b
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.

krown whether this change in pelicy was sugpgested 1o . C
whether it originated with him, Be that as it may, when the change in
pelicy became apparent, it was evident that additional funds would be re.
quired to complete the hospital canstructian,

i1V, Supgested Funding, ) L

It is now suggested that the $3, 000, 000 required for the hospifal wing be
provided as fellows; -
!
$1, 000, 000
560, GO0

A (including — k

$375, 000 supplied by Cla)
1,500, 000 - Matched Funds from Public Law 221

$3,000,006 - TOTAL

&

—
The doration from Sk SRDEIREGNEy v ould thus consist of the original
$125,000 to be aupplied by CIA plus the sum of 3125, 000 to be provided by
the Fund and a supplemental GIA contribution of $250, 000, QOriginally
Subproject 35 raquested permission to make a contribution of £125, 000 to
the ‘uuildi'ng fund and approval was given, This approval is enclosed
herewith as Tab 2. The purpcse of this amendmaent to Subproject 35 is to
request permission to contribute an additional $256, 000 to the building
construction fund through 4 SONGDR® It should be noted that =~ 49
the total Government contribution ta the hospital fund stiil remains
unchanged at $1, 875, 000, The increase in the size of the contribution
by the Fund is not out of keeping with other operations of MR and will —~ 8
not arouse undue comment because of its magnitude, The eoriginally approved
contribution has not as yet been transmitted to HINRRRTINGY and neither the — A
original contribution nor the supplement would be paid to W until ~ 72
funds adequate to complete the project are made available, This ccadition
was specified by the DCI in appr oving the original contribution,

V. Source of CIA Funds,

Funds to cover the initially approved sum of $125; 000 are available and have
been degregated for this purpese within the TSS FY 1953 Gudget for Research
and Develapment, Insufficient funds remain in the TS5 bpdget to cover the
supplemeontary surn of $250,000, and it is therefore requested that the TSS
budget he increased by this smount and that the ircrease he made available

ta Subproject 35 of Project MKULTRA,

e

S i— . L
e, LTI
: 300N Copy # 1 of 1 copy
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VI, Coemments by the Office of General Counsel. -

Tab 3 is 2 memorandum from the General Counsel to the DCI dated 21
December 1954, commenting on Subproject 35, and stating in part that
there are no fundamental legal ohjections if the probable benefiis are con=-
gidered a fair return for this expenditure. The amendment to the Subproject
contemplates only an {ncrease in funds and in no way changes any other
aspect of the project. The project has been referred back to the OGS even
though no change in its structuxe is conternplated, and Tab 4 contains his -

!
comrnents,

VI, Justification,

El

The advantages and benefits accruing to the Agency outlined in Tab A are
felt by TSS to provide adequale and complete justification for the expenditure
of the additional sum herein reguested which brings the total CIA contribu-
tion to $375, 000, The most important of these advantages and benefits

may be summarized as follows: {Fuller explanations may be found in Tab A}.

a. One-sixth of the total space in the new hospital wing will be
available to the Chemical Division of TSS, thereby providing labora-
tory and office space, technical assistants, equipment and experi-~
mental animals,

b, Agency sponsorship of sensitive research projects will be
completely deniable, l

¢, Full professicnal cover will be provided for up to three bio-_
chemical employees of the Chemical Division,

d. Human patients and volunteers for expevimental uge will de
available under controliad clinical conditions within the full
~ supervision of Zbg a4 -

Subproject 35 was originally conceived in Octeber and November of 1954,
and the énsuing six months have indicated that increasing emphasis and
impertance are being placed on the Chemical Division's work in this field,
he facilitics of the hospital and the ability to condust controlled experi-
ments under safe clinical conditions using materials wilth which any Agency
connection must be completely deniable will augment and complement other
pragrams recently taken over by TSS, such as 2 g —

T e o
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It was origirally thought that at least 18 months would elapse after the

rLgY

building funds had been raised before the facilities would be finished and
could He occupl"-‘d by TSS. This lengthy delay has now been overcoma.

has raised the $500, 000 wh:l.ch his Fond will ost°n51b1y contribate,.
he will ther' e allowed to use existing spate in the present hospital in
order that he may build up the organization which will 1later occupy the new

.wing. This means that TSS will be able to begin to take advantage of this

cover situation within a matter of moenths instead of waiting for a year and |
a half, : f

VIII. Sceurity,

Security matters and details are being co-ordinated with the TSS Liaison
and Security Qificer, Security of transmittal of the funds and cover arrange-
ments are descrited in Tab A and remazin unchanged,

e

I¥, Agreement with{¥

The agreement with § F is descrlbed in Tab A, and he extant
of his ¢co-operation and the control over his actions remain um:qangecl

X, HResultant Financial Saving,

The total contribution of $375, 000 by CIA will result in an additional

$375, 602 in matching funds provided under Public Law 221, It is felt that

the expenditure of these total funds is justified by the impoartance of the

pregrams which will be pursued at the new facility, Even though the CIA

contribution is increased under this amended project, the total of Federal

funds remains unchanged, The use of this facility will allow work to

proceed under conditions of cover and security which would be impossible

to obilein clsewhere without an expenditure of equivalent or greater funds,

In :lddxtlon by funding individuzl projects for this facility through the

gt : # no charge will be incurred for overhead expense. If

research projects S % are openly sponscored by the - G

U. 5. Government, it is customarv to pay an overhead rare equivalent o

to 80% of salaries. However, if & non-profit fund, such as & R~ 1
sponsors research, the funds granted for the work are customarll*

used only to pay for salarizs, equipment and supplies, but nc:t ovcrhead

The Aveney thus buys considerably more research thr ourh &8 :
han-would be the case {f no cut-out wers used

Lovnarod 1o
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MEMINANIUM PR R e :
g
: Warardsn the £ile on MITULTA, Swh-

.. Project 35, with owr ¢oomments om the lecsl
asvacts, ¥hile there is po legal control ond
thare are certain incidental CGEa_ﬂEr.uiCEE,
there is no furdemenial lezal cbjecticn 1T <the

efits are conzidared g F2ir return —

Gener al Pour’ﬁl :

Ff_‘ “::\fl(qb""!"‘l P T | C"‘!’.

(DATE)

| FORM Q. 10.101 JAN 1952 (473

T T Tt i o a4 o s - -



134

Tab A

SUBPROJECT 35 - PROJECT MKULTRA
¥or the purpose of establishing a cover vrganizetion for hw’hly
sensitive projects in the field of covert Bislogical, Chemical
znd Radiological Warfare

I. Background of Project MKULTRA.

In 1953 the DCI apnxoved Project MKULTRA which established pracedures
and controls under which research projects in certain highly sensitive
fields could be carried out by TSS without the necessity of signing the
usual contracts. The approved procedures v
over-zall Research and Development budget, and no addltmnal fun
are required. Controls estzblished in the Project Review Committee
approval of the Research and Development grogram (other than the
signing of a contract) remain unchanged, and special provisions for

- audit are included. All files are retained by TS5S,

Thesé procedures and controls were approved since it is highly un-
desirable from a policy and security point of view that contracts be
aigned indicating Agency or Govermnent interest in this field of en-
deavor. In 2 great many instances the work must be conducted by in-
dividuals who are not and should not be aware of Agency interest, In
ather cases the individuzls involved are unwilling to have their names

on a ¢ontract which remains out of their control in our files, Experience

bhas shown that qualified, competent individuals in the field of physio.

logical, psychiatric and other biological sciences are very reluctant
to enter into signed agrezements of any sort which would connect them

with this activity since such connection might seriouslty jeopardize

their professional reputations,

When Project MKULTRA was approved, it was not contemplated that
it would be used for the establishment of cover, Over forty individual
reszarch and development projects have been established under this
framework and have been carried cut extremely successiully, both
from technical and administrative points of view, The experience
gained in handling these projects has emphasized that establishment
of better cover both for the projects and for asseciated Agency scientists
is of utmoest impertance, Subproject 35 would establish such cover,

L]
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. wag incorporated in - A

members, cone of wh : ® .ho scts as Executive ~ £
Director of the Fund, YIRS it has solicited fumds from various - s
individuals te finance a program of basic research in the chemotherapy

of cancer, asthma, hypertension, psychosomatic. disorders and cther -
chronic diseases, Since 1951 Whaa-co-opa-ratad.w-ith_th&.-._. -
Chemical Division of TSS and acted smmouthly and efficiently, both as

a ent-out for dealing with contracters in tha fields of covert chemical

and biclogical wariare, znd a5 % prime coniracioT for certain areas of ..
bialogical research. FProjects presently being handled Ipr the Agency

by the Fund are administered under the comtrels and procedures

previously approved for MEXULTRA. ] T

“1

IiI. Background of £

.- C
oy
W ic internationally known as 2 DI -
- Rz - - ey = e
carc P —_ C

h and is i - BT i
: In the past € has been associated in

el e i served as an®

- TEEED During the war SN »
in the Bureau of Medicine and Surgery ina the Mavy. Since then he-has
maintained a consulting relationship to the Navy medical rzsearch pro-

o i 1o TGP SCORET cleared and witting of Agency — &

gram, X}

sponsership of.the programs carried out by the Fund as are two other
members of the Fund's Bozrd of Directors,

Fumd, =~ 3

it Pl B ctivaly cngaged in a campaiga to raise funds
he purpese of erecting a new clipical research wing on the existing

5 ; e M The research wing will consist of a —
building six stories high, 320 feet long and 50 feet wide, Twao-thirds

of the space will be research laboratories and offices while 100
research beds will occupy the remainder. WgER £ § partici- - ¢

pation in the fund-raising campaign outlined below will result in his
having contral of one-sixth of the total space in addition to the base-
L
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ment and general cut-patient fzcilities, In this effort,
has securad the enthusiastic support of the medical faculty and the
officers of the University who have carried the preliminary arrangements
forward to the maximum extent of their resources,

V. Financial Situation.

The University will require about $3, 000, 800 for the @story addition,

This sum is exclusive of the cost of land and the heating and power supply;

. which are already available at the sitg] At the present timme under Public

Law 221, funds are available to match funds raised by the University,

The University has ailocated $I, 000, 000 to this project and will assume

vpkeep and staffing obli gan.ons as~agreed that if CIA - C
will provide a grant of $1235, 000, wan - R <
matech this ameount and maxe 4 wotal denation of $233, 000 to the University -
Building Furd. This Agency's contribution will be made under the con- -
dition that it will be refunded if construction does not take alace

wiil be conducted in the new wing. :

interest in the building, is unwitting of ocur specific fzelds of research - .
—and individual projeects, . In summary, the financial sitvation would be as .

follows: ’ ) .

- - 51, 000 000 - &
253,000 - Donation from

v (5125, 000 supplied by CIa)
1,250,000 - Matched funds.from Public Law 221
500,000 - &

_..200,000 - g -3 .
$3,000,000 - TOTAL :

Althaugh it is recognized that the Federal contribution of $1, 250, 000 undex

P, L. 221 is seemingl ‘nﬂate-c by reason of the inclusion of the CIA contri-
bution in that of & GEE actually the value to the Cla is - A .
$250, 000 and not just $125, 000, the amount of c1 's contriburion; further~ '
more the inclusion of the CIA contribution in that of 24 i -
WS is the best method of halnta.lrung security,

Dotmnnradsd to: &
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VI, Difficulties Faced by TSS. .

It has been generally racognized for some time that the external re-~
search activities of the Chemical Division of TS3 in the field of covert
biolegical, cherhical and radiclegical warfare are sorely in need of
proper cover. Although Project MKULTRA provides excellent admini-
strative and financial cover fo¥ projects, it dogs not afford cover for
seientific or technical personnel, MKULTRA has beex used for n
dezling through @ @ as = cut—out and for working
directly with individnals or-private cormpanies, The use of Skas
i the future will be increasingly limmited-due to

2}” The increasing number of peo le whao, albeit
g peop

properly cleared, ave aware of the Agency

connection with SRS 7. S

(b} The feeling by &8 B8 that the Agency — ©
employees contacting him (Drs. Goitlieb,

4 etc.) have no cover of any soertand - C
gonsequently expose him to unnecessary and

highly undesirable parsonal risk; and

{c] The wideépread intra~Agency awareness of
the nature of the relaticnship between the
Fund and the Agency. .

Another sericus problem faced by TSS/CI as a result of lack of suit-

able cover is the difficulty in planning careers for technical and

scientific personnel in the biclogical field, A long-range cazeer

concept of activities in this fizld inevitably includes proper cover for

the individual concerned. The aveilability of research facilities

' i1l offer an excellent oppertunity ~ P2

at dEn DA T R 3
to solve many of the above problems, and SR % is willing — C
and able to make any reasonable arrangements to suit our needs. Up

¢o three Cherical Division employees can be integrated into M - ¢
; b program for work in the new hospital wing on the
Agency's research projects, Although career planning was nota
consideration when planning the procedures and controls established
by Project MXULTRA, nevertheless this particular subproject, in
addition to its primary objective, will be of very great secondary help

Dawnnroded tos G T
L= autherTliy or: 187473 ™
31 June 1977 T
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Copy & / of 2 coples

.y mar

IDTDIZ; 0L P 14T7ATH -4




138

= s e - -

in simplifying and elimipating many of the very awkward and dangerous
conditions facing certain Chemical Division employees.

Vi1, ' Advantages and Benefits Accruing te TSS,

The contemplated arrangements will #esult in many advantages and
benefits, including the following:

{2) One-sixth of the total space in the new research ;
wing is to re evailable toike of and -
in turn, will be available to the Chemicat
Divisionof T53, This will provide laboratory
and office space, technical assistants, equip-
ment and experimental animals for use of Chemical
Division persomnmel in connection with specific -
future projects,

(B) The cost of Chemical Division projects which are
to be carried out under this cover will be covered.
by funds made available through Project MKULTRA,
and projects will be subject to the procedures -
and controls established for MKULTRA, The
funds will be passed through 3
' 5 has been done in the past,
in turn will either pay expenses directly or
.transfer the money to the University for this
purpose. Each project will be individually
funded based on its particular budget, and there
will be ne ather continuing or recurring charges
for items such as space, facilities, etc,

fc) The Agency's sponsorship of sensitive research
projects would be completely denizble since no
caonnection would exist betwween the University
and the Agency,
(4} Exczllent professional cover would be provided
for up to three bio-chemical emplovees of the
Chemical Divisien of TS5, This would allow open -
attendance at scientific meetings,. the advancement
of personal standing in the scientific world, and |
as such, would econstitute a major eificiency and

NI duene 1977
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morale hooster,
Ls

{e) Hurnan patients and voluntzers for experimental
use will be available under excellent clinical
conditions with the full supervisicn ol H3

{f) There would be available the equivalent of a
hospital safehouse,

{g) It is expected that the cutput of useful results
of the Chemical Division in the bio-chemical
field will be greatly improved through the more
efficient use of tecknical personnel who would
be able to spend more of their time on actual
laboratory work.

{i} ' Excellent facilities would be nrovided far
recruiting new scientific personnel since
merbers of the Chemical Division working under
this cover will be in daily contact with members
of the Graduate School of the University,

{} The regular University library and reprint
service will be available as a source of
tachnical information,

VII. Funding.

It is propesed that $125, 000 be grantad to }
approval is granted, TSS will arrange for payment to be made under
the procedures and controls of MKULTRA, These funds would come
out of the presently approved TSS Research and Developmernt budget
for £Y 1955 and no new funds are involved. The funds would be
transferred as a grant to s5H e i

£ P 1o turn SRR
W will match these funds with an equal amcunt and donate a total
of $250, 000 to the University as outlined in paragraph V. The sum of
$125, 000 would be entirely in the mature of a grant and would in due

Copy #_s of 2 copies
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course be merged with the entire $3, 000, 000 raiged for the constrec-
tion of the wing, The Agency would retain no residual interest in the
building or title to any equipment ox facilities purchased with this

money.

This single grant will constitute the-Agency's entire particization in

‘the new hospital wing, and there will e no recurring obligaticns in

the form of annual support of the hosplta.‘ or addltwnal grants. Trans-
mission of Agency funds to ey will be made — o
through prevr.oaslv estan‘lshed cuvez‘..cham‘lels set up by the

T‘la donaticn on o —

N

to be carried out in NI
will be individually {inanced through #=sit he.s
Teen in the past in accordance with previously established ‘procedures
and contrels using allotted portions of the annual Research and Develop-
ment budget., The University will be totally unwitting of Agency
sponsoerskip, a.n-:l the projects to every outward appearance w111 be
sponsored by = <

In the event of BE 5 % will contirue in
being and any activities under thlS project will be continued through dige ~ /£
eEEiand will be unaffected by his death,

¥, Memorandum of Agresment.

A memaorandum of agreement will be signed with 5
outiining to the greatest extent possible the arrangcments under which
the hospital space under his control will be made available to Ckhemical
Division personnel and the manner in which cover will be provided and-
other benefits obtained, No contract will be signed since 8 2 ;
would be unable to reflect any of the Agency's contractual terms in }*15
arrangements with the University when £55 < 4 makes the — ;_3’
donaticn in gquesation. The memorandum of agreement will be retained '
in TSS. : -

XK. Security, ’ . ) ) ) . .

All security matters and details are being co<ordinated with the TS5/

.._‘m.ﬂ.son and Securitv Qffice,. .-

Copy # 7 of & copieas
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¥I, Hesultant Financial Saving.

The $125, 000 to be contrih;

,...
o

uted by GIA plus the 312%, 000 in matching {funds

provided under P. L, 221 to the Building Fund will be more than offset

in & few years by the savin
fund. If = research projec

tional non-profit institution is sponsored b
is customary for the Government to pay for salaries, equipment,
supplies, =fc. and for overhead as well, In the case of ¥ ]

S the averhead amournts to 30% of salaries. However,

rofi

+ foundation such as &

gs which witl
t at ¥

It from use of this non-profit
S or other educa- -~
v the U, & Government, it

% soonsoT s research at a —

non-profit institution, the funds granted for the work are customarily

used to pay for salaries, e
The Government dollar thu
; AT 3 pthan

¥, Legzl Matters,

This matter has been discussed with

quiprnent and supplies but not for overhead.
s buys considerably more research through
would be the case if no cut-out were used. -£

of General Counsel, and he is fully aware of all details surrounding this

grant.

-

; .
LI ETE R P
b onthanity of: 13
-
¥
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G Aprllissy

MEMGCRANDULL FFORy THE RIZCCRI

SUBIECT t" Trlp Report, Visit to
. . 7 April 1953

1. The purpose of thia triv woa to make arrangements for
closing cut them projoct. JOSB 0ad been piven ample previous
notice that sucih was likely o be the izteat of tho visii, sud he pre-
pared himsel! accordingly.

2. It was explained t ' Fthot it would not bs

poeaible to carry over funds beyoad tha end of ths current fiszal
year. Thereiore all work would have to be coompleted and all pay~
ments made prior to 30 Jusa., This deadline appearad sccapiable to -
bira, and it woa agreed that I would inake my final viail thare to
receive reports and attend to final detalls en 16 Junce. R did oot
bave a currect finaneigl report, but he astimated that fusds curveantly
an band would be about sufficient for remaining expenditures, Ea
agracd to sand the Bocioty within the nexl 10 days a more exact state=
ment ¢f current balance and estimated remaining expendlivres, I

tried to bmpress oa him strongly thai tyansisr of sadistional funde and/f
"o yeturn of uncipended feads must be completed well bafore the eud
of the fiscal yeax,
” 3. ©Of tha 30 cases called for in the original desiyn 13 have
kean complated {but only 4 have waan transcribed irom tha tapes). In
addition there are 8 casew in prosreza (of whick two are zlreaiy in
intorvieow and & are workad up to the point of having the licts of quastions
prepared). It was agrsed that to meat tis deadline we weoul:d have to
limit the deaign to theae 26 caszas.

4, I io apparest that Wl is 9o iavolved in the administrative
problemag of the project that he is not payiag any attention 1o the resulits.’
Since to date only 4 cases have been tyanscribed there is no way of selling
wiat ip corcing cut of it, [ assume theres were no dramatic renctions, hge-
cause the interviewers would have let him koow zbout them bed they eraersad,
It i1a posslkls, however, thot our owa znalysis of the data may dredge vp
fomething of value, althoughk I amy dublous on this poiat.

5. il pave me bio ucual leng fnvelved talk oo the difficulties
he had cocountcered which azceunt for the delayd, He aleo talksd aé scmus
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lengtiz about bia "experiments” with hypaasls, soino adpecta ol which
are milily hair-raising, IFinally he made gquite n pitch Jor contiseing ‘
corac such project as thia next year, "with realisiiz, speciile deadiiaes.
i told him we would discuss poasibllitiea ailter the prosent project was
comploted and we bad a chaance to clesely examing ths taie.

Distribution:
- 4 :
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The-experiment designed to test the effectivensss of
certain medication in causing iadividuals to relessse guarded in-
formation has been completed in acceordance with the origzinal ex-
perimental deslgn, wlth the exception that 25 instead of 30 cases
were used., Tzis matier was dlscussed in more detall 1n my letter
of July 15. Abstracts on all 25 cases, transcriptions of the In-~
cerviews, Wechsler-Bellevue Intelligence Tests given at the hos-
pital and previdusly given at this clinie, post-experimental
rankings and evaluation sheets, and a schedule covering the drug
administration have all been stbmitted to you under separate
cover, .

Enciosed is a financlal statement which reprisents the
final eseccounsing of the funds allocated by you for use in this
preject. If, for your purpese, you require z more detalled sum-
mary of whai{ speclfic professional services vere performed or
more detail with reference to travel expenses or any other item,
kindly let me Xnow, ) 7

You will note, in this conneefiocn, that Dr. was
compensated In an amcunt exceeding that paid te Dr. This
was occasioned by the fact that Dr.«@8B spent much time checking

£
the riles and records at the (IR RIGE T _ PRt

Prisen selecting cases that might be susztable foT SUr pur-
pose. It was from the cases selected by bim that the subjects
used in the experiment were finally chosen.

: I have been instructed ta write a check to'the Soclety
for the balance in the account as of today. I would like to

B! -
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Page Two -

Gelay tnis matler for 2 few days. Severzl checks have been wris-
ten auring receni days, and I would like to be sure they cleared
the bank s I3 pefore cloging out the account, You will
receive a check in the emount of £1356,26 eezrly next week,

If there is any additional information required, I wil
be happy to cooperata. .
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“he reccarch Project il be carried cub ab the SNENECMOCRRSNE-

lecabed

Bospital hes one thousand, one mundred znd bhirty-five (2, 135) vods.
S the prosant tiis *1 oro ora one bundred and Sortyebwo (102) nop-
woyehatids classi_\"ied 323 cri:-:'\_:“‘al-nﬂ, :,:L poychopatiis,  Thers are four

'f“u,.l—uﬂ.re psyehtatriots and :*'T'L'r weders of modiesl interis; tue

poychologists;y fovr pocial workers) nurcez ard stiondants. Tho superw

Intendont of the i

ar 4 o=

i

£
3
5

coreh tesm, o Tho Inochdtulion corme undor tho fireeil

—wheiecutive Seergtary of the State Jeportrent of Menitel Healil ond

any rowcarch projoct is nerrelly arpreved by the Gowcrdinator of Hesenrch

ouv their investizotlon.

solocted from the ono bundred end Certy-two
{212} eviminalenarmeal psychepaths on wiiom thore 1s an ndegueta previous
irvestization including nolies rop veldatrde ond

o orange of tho
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T f.‘..wat.’;' LD Eovnty yUard ond thess 22 o wies wocso

aticn of intelili-once lowvals end sovlal sackreunds.

o for tho roseaxrch doopnd

g following hen org sugjest

s o poychologlet wao hao had exteusiva
- e ——— : it
expoericncs in esmnining crisinald; nas 1::-1..ten cxtensively
&n noychopathie sewal deviaiionsy is an aatherity on poly-~
crepht and dmterragation metleds, '
—_ [
g PRivsy vesrs, & peychistrist uho has
spont his 1l in the trestrent of the eriminsl irsano end
moingodvg ths Tor the ecers — O
and treaifens for the erinivel-semal psyciopati,
a peyehigtrist whe has 2 lavge private - <
) practize. AL the prosent tivs Le ds exclusively dereting

his time to poycheanclysis. He has had exbensive cmericnca

coovdndnes eriamineds, A & Havy ouyehi strist Lo hos b

gxtonsive expericnoe in

in tho ficld of cactern eulturca, CriemSal

p;:\.-chhur;r, Leafmashing, che. ie nag gloo dons dreg Inbor-
ropabion with erirdunls and has engsted in nereoanalyeis
ond I‘*‘:acailJLis.

Dernercied Ito: RS ’

_ i - .. __2_

Exter Jnno

LRl LT -

—=— AenLadr CL DY 18TATS
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ractice in the fleld

I:a:: had widn enpordence in — O

chdsbry.

of ony
‘Goalive UL orimingls ;_,(,z::h-, be:cl song Luonty=Ilve Foaks,

imaz InkerT C""h)-cua

X *,]-.CJ '\’ dredy

hysieian for the ress

lies had sxtensive expordi-

cnee dooldnz with £33 sordo of erininals and hos engaged
cn, osidss nfig ciiy positilon, ha al.:o

in drmag inberormbiicn,
meinlaing a pelvats groetice inm tae field of generod

) i . edining,
hoa suznested onn of the pa

interented and has ussd drugs In the treate

used Lypnosic with montal

et of patients and has oln
paticnta, Iho restores ascistants have nob been selecisd

de all the noces-

iticn €2 hwr present dulies,
N

3l mn cach 121 bo selocted

@3ea wild nce sirednut

and a

sentyr=0ive -

5

LAGT oimp

2tED

PR A |Gt /1

BRIy

10
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TETIrn oA 107 Jumaeend it

Prroautlizrily of 3 1GTATS

Letrahrdarecormalined acgtaio desivablve. Lrsther tennr vorying on mooihor
‘- .

mroup of oubliedtd '.r,.,l uce ..r:,r_g "t- i:ltcr""' cabion, L33 with interrossticn

aid a tctr;;-.-;;drccz-r._:m‘cinnl acesase dorivative and interrogabicn,  Laler.--

the third teEm with ancther proup of suvjec o will use streight inlerrow

gatien znd o corbinmbion of L3 and a tobrelydrocannabinel acetate

dorivebive. - - L ——— i £
A meobing of all the recbers of the *esearca perieRid A m_'LL be bricfod

on tha 1‘.:1.1;.:5_ o Lo woed and &l of the phomiaeclozleal and meddeal kucu-

ledge wyived 6o fov in the use of thebo drugs. ) ] '
Inmiscting grovps of subjects for cgpevimentatien, the felloiing

obiestives witd be soughdi '

1) Sabjocta will bo oelested who hove dended allegaticns

of variosus ldndz thet emn be checked or strongly tasumnd

un the basls of prevlcoesly established records.

2) ‘A far es possibla, the ac‘w:.l ‘regesarch ran ndmindsiering
drurs w1l not be sware of t. 1 Grug he is adrmindstering

and plag cbos il be m‘c.ersncwsed with drug adrint siration.

r - .

3} Procsuticns wild e taken to neu‘oralvu ages intelli-
sonce, physical co:':dition, soelal Ueekground end amy
b céntroue}.:le Iactor in selectiug .-:,ronps. fig=
mimistrotion of driss Will te dome both cpenly and

suprentiticusly.

L) found recordincs will Lo made of tha inderregetion

ond wrtbien rovorts will Le obbeined in ollior cascs.
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Tug cnre will Lo g enuating mothods of
.

bo dome, Tha results

f e . et - r . K
Interrorabion &2 far as this

of inlerreation with drugs sad other techntaques Wil

-t

eheclad anaingt exlziing records end gualitetive and

quiitabive reports will be evaluvated, Accuroie tnd
wiiforn reports will be Mond- i remords will be aube
muted on the basia off foterin srogress and corplets

Frojocia.
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30 Ja.nuary‘ 1561

MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD-

SUBJECT: ?roject MKULTRA, Subproject h2

-1.' Subprodect ha 13 to be continued for the same purposes &3

when originally™ establ1shed' to support el Z

45_covert —

and realist*c field trimls of certaln research and developrent liems !

" of ipterest tc TSD, and to maintain the physical facllities requ;red for

these t“ials.

2, In the past ysar a number of eovert apd realistic field

E

trials have been successfully earried out. The rSsults of these
experiments have provided factuai data essential fo establishing
ﬁrotocols for.a mumber of contemplated oyerations.n A contimustion

of covert and realigbie Tield ¢riale ere necesgitated by the productian
of new materials in TED programs, partlcularly in areas requiricg
aetailed knowledge of the effectiveness gnd efficiency of delivery

systems. Additional trials are also recnssitated by the need for

A T -

better controlled "field-type" experiments.- —

3. The EStimnuEd cost of the project is $5,000.00 Zor a pe fcd

[

of eix months, Charges should be made against Allotwment 1155-1390-3902‘
4. Accounting for funde and equipment under this subproject bss
been estnblisked on a detalled basis with the auditor and will ceatinue
y : . )

as in the pest. . ( )
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. ) i
is approved for TOP SECRET by the Ageney ang
operates under cover for purposes of this subﬁ;oject.

. £

Distribution:
Original only.



KEHORANDUM FOR THE RECORD

SUBJECT:  Project MKULTRA, Subproject 42

1. Subproject 42 is
centinued support of they
is a conbinuvation of
“thed

being e_t;b%éshed to provide for the
Pt Lacilitles, and es such,

L1 Under Subprejech 42, it
Pk facilities be moved frem % /
Sis i ; = L fi» These facilities,
 inmine new locaticn, will continue to provide a means for the

wealistic testing of certain R and D ifems cf intersst to

CD/TSS and APD/T3S. .- o

2, Subproject 42 will be concucted by Mr. :
a seaman. Certain support activities will be provided by
CD/T3S and APD/TSS. - . - .
.3, The estimzted cost for a period of one year is ] .
$8,300.00, starting 1 March 1955. ) ‘ B _ .

W . . : - _ . o

] - ' | IDLEY GOTTLEEB . - ~
’ o - - Chief - :
S 138/Chemicel Division

AFPRCVED FCRl CELIGATICN - - ATPROVED FOR ADDITIONAL -
OF FUNLS: - - . CBLICATION OF FUNDS: (§2,089.3%)

Research Lirector -

Date: /= 70%’""- SHTL Detes 94/‘—”/,(7 27 /éfz

Original Only.

iy

! .
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21 Maran Too——

-'_HE:I-‘CR.ANDU‘\'[ T TE RECCRD o
SUBJE"‘I.‘ ) z‘ Progect—mm Subprcgec" 1.5

: . The scope of this project is intended ta enccmpass
@ a_T. those aculnta.es aow engaged in by the - :

woay, In its own facilities under the

d:n_.ectlon of "'SS Ghem_ca.‘l. Division, These activities will

take the fortl of thres lines of bilochemical investigation;

" . namely, the curare-like effect of certain. thiols, the prepara-
tion of hydrogsnsted cuinolines and indele alkaloids, and the
continned study of diphenolic compounds. In additdion to the .
above investigations, the present biolegical testing and as- o
saying techniques will te elaborated and brozlened to inclade ’
carucvascula.r end gnticarcinogenic effects oi‘ aoopounds - ra- | - o

ting from the anove DPTOgTENS, -

© 2, The attached p:‘o"osal Trom ;
the extent of the Investigations that hlS fasiid ties will allow . .
him t¢ carry out om the mtema__s develored in the three lines

of research referred to in parﬂg*a:h L, 25 well as certzin other/—\\ T
materizls of interest to TSS/CD, &8 i ey als0 Serves a T
a3 &8 general consultart to this Divisien and provides covsr erdu
eut-out fecilities to the Ageney. .

3. - The total cost of this project for a period of one ye...r
will net exceed $100,C00,00, Ai the present time, ihe sm of
$40,000,00 is being committed, the balence of -the total to be

c@ ted at a later dwte. : =
P Ssifvnzs been gmted a TCD SECEET clea..a‘.ce

'b‘y tke Agﬂ’:c:r, a.nd is fully cepebla of protecting the secur:..ty .
cf the Governmentts interest in this matter. . - . ]

"

APFROVED FOR OBLIGATION _
07 PL¥DS: - APPROVED:

/C'fn.nz, I‘::.: Chemical wa.sﬂ on -

t‘s,\__ ' Pesnch Dizeotor
Dater & Wlan ¥ | APEROVED FCE:‘. AIDITIONAL APPROFRISTIC
Attachments: . %
Pro?csg..?. Co = : Research B*“ec’wr
- Oeiginal Omly. -+ " Dete: G:;«,,/ 2. 1T =7




o L _
MENCRANDUM FCH:  THE RECHED
SUBJECT: Project MEULTRA, - Subprofect 45 g =

-

) @ - . 1, 'The scope of this praject 1s intended to encotpass 2il those %
) activities now eogszed in by thel s 22
: \mder the directien of TSS/CD. These activitles taks the forn
of three lines of biochemical investigation, namely, the Curare-like
- effest of certain thiols, the preparaticn of hydrogenated quinolines
and irdols slkaloids and a program of investigatlion of toide eerstral
gtates, . This last investigation will include bio-assay snd chemical-
_mnslysls of various body flulds of animals in which cerebral toxemisas
have been produced. It is the aim of this pregram to endeaver to
) undepetand the mechanism of such states as tode delirium, dremic -
coma, and cerebral toxicify from pgx{scniﬁg. In crder to centinue the
: 8) - established Meover? activities of th<AEIsend to make available a
) posl of subjects for testing purpoass, the P i o 2 11 ) %
kel
" be evaluated, . .

effects of compounds resulting from the ahove program will -
. @:} . 2. The attadhed proposal ‘from ¥ indicates the
: extent of the Investizations that his facilities will allow him to
- garzy out on the miterlals developed ln the thrse lines of research
referred to in paragraph ene, agmeil as certain other materials of

P " interest to TS5/CD."E L¥ : Halso serves as a gemeral consuitant
@) to this Division and provide ap and qut—put faeilities to the
. Agency. o : -

-3, The total cost of this project for a period of cne year will
net exzeed $100,000, Charges should be made against Alotment

- 6-2502-10-CCGL.
CC) R SR has been Tequested to submit a sumpary aeccunt-
ing or & coIy thes meannual audit report be made available for
@ the sponsor's inspection, Alse, it hea been Tegnested that any urex-
pended furds shall be returned to the Agsney.

L4

Title to any permanent equipment purcaased by fuxds granted
%anall be retained by the LRtereiacy A
in lien of higher overhead rates.




,_‘ﬂ"'_‘"' ST ammr
- m
. T6. Tt was outually agreed that doctmentation end acccunting for
5
(_{5/ travel expenses which are normally reimbursable by the p

skall conform with ke accepted practices of them

((5) . . - BT greerf to comply with ﬁhe requirements_‘of h
- the Memorandum of Agreement, R

APFROVED P(R CBLICATION
& rmis:

e o

Regearsh Dirsctor

Ftor 2 Flivep, T

é:%téchment : ) N
Proposal ’

Distribution:
Uriginel Crly
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lase

- P - -

T - The resaarcn to be undertaden during the twelve month, _

‘

»

: partad Far whtch Firancicl supporﬁ 1s reguested will be devoted

to e continued anclysis of the nsural and endocrtne mechanten
o strsss and the chemtcal agants thet influence t3. The screening
procedurgs are baged largslg upon @ f¢rZE€r aralysis of phases of
atress acnd the injlugnces of this phystolagic behavior complex

upon both body and skin temperaiurss o8 detailed in LAz CCCOMTONYw= -.
T DAy

ing repart.
Iﬁe chertccl synthasts of new compounds will be con tnugd

, under the s¢pervuston of

at thed

under the supervision

N Ry

_Theée chemical apents wlil be soreaned Jor

thelr capaclty to provoke §brgss 25,?? suppress the stress reaction
in Lis Goude or chrontc vhases. Antmal testing mézl tnclude rharma-
cologic scresniny and proper toxictty studtes oF ihese comyounds Gs

herstofore. ' . . —_—

_ Chemteccl ogents ihat hove peen. Found ccitve ornd within a
suttable toxlciiy ra;gg_g;lzk§e subjected to cjtntcci‘screenﬁng on
appropricte poilents, the tnitilael screening beilng corried out on
edvanced cancer patienis. The amount of money <devoted o chamteal

gsynihests, howerer, has Efmn further redLCﬂd. Chemicol compounds

availokle Ffrom bleleglc sources ¢S well gs those synthestsed in 34
. project will be acregnad, pariticulariy those that are ective in

either raising or lowering dody tempzrature.
As herztofore Cny 4genis which prove to be of inTeres %

I R A Sarh oan tran9flant
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3

ts, i’hi,s cancer ,h.cse ofr tﬁa
cmd on ccr'cer' patten
a.ntmal zﬁwrwrs

112 2e cansidgred @ By=-product of the major et jecttioe,
* praject w )
hich mll be- df.rected to the vrob’em of stress,
w

-.!" _—

‘.,-WARMNG NOTICE :
SENMSIM IR TEDEIG -
SUURCES SAND WETHODS !HVOLVED 7

3
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MEMORANDUM FOR: THE RS CORD

SUBJECT .= -

qgntinué.tibﬁ of MEULTRA, Subpraject Mo,

1, The scope of this subprgect includes all those activities

TSh A0 .
ander the direction of TSSFED with the exception of those cutout

functions spe-;:ifice.lly meationed in connection with other MEULTRA
subprojectsT In geue;::-al, the reseé.rr:h effort under this subproject
wili continue along the lines laid down in previous years, These
involve the synthesis and pharmacalogical and clinical evaluation
“of campoﬁnds of those chemical fa.milies known to have appl_icat'ioﬁ
in the psych$cbemical and "K' fields. During the past year important
progress has been made in ’chu; area related to stressor compounds
and the relationship of these raterials to the‘_physi-ological pathwéys
throt;gh thch both stress ana the reaction to it are mediated in
buman beings.!| As is indicated ia the a:ttq.ched pmposal; the work
of the past year haé progressed to the point where more deficitive
experiments ou the stress reaction caa be ;:arried Ol;lt. Primarily
this v-vlas brought about by the c-hara.ctarization of Qevefal new
material; which prc;iuce-str.es-s reaction in humans and the applica-
tion of some new clinical n_‘fethods of measuring the extent of the
disturbance produced. Durirg the next year proport‘ionall‘; more

effort will be expended on the problem of the development of vew
7 = :
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T kno KL ane St Eypos oF Aagents oince progrosa hay booo slower than
‘i3 desirable in this direction and because a new approach to the

problem has baen worked _out./{ - ) ) T

i also serves as a general consultant to

the Agancy, provides services of 2 gensgitive nature on an ad hoc

basis, and serves as a cut-outi in procurerment problema.,

3.. The total cost of this project for a period of one year
L3, T an -
will not exceed $71,500,00. Charges should be made against

Allotment 0525-1009-4502,

bas been requested to submit a summary

accounting or a copy of the Fuad's ancual audit report for the

sponser’s inspection, Also, it has besu Tequested that any unexpended
funds shall be returaned to the Agency.
5. Title to any permanent equipment purchised by funds

&y shall be retained b

-

£, in lieu of ﬁighe;— overhead rates, __ __

Y

6, It was mutually agreed tkat documentation and accounting

for tra.vl expenses which are normally reimbursable by §5™

Fund,

groded tos DOUEIDENTIAL

Vi

veowlt
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HEMORANTUM FOR: THE RECGRD - ST

Tk

SUBJECY ¢ Continustion of MKULTRR, SUbPrdject No. E5 — —

- —
. A . .

£

' Ew/é'nésged in by St - - R w TR L, o B B

~  under the directicn of TED/FB with jahé'rs_x_cepﬂaﬁ of ‘those eutout——-
functiopa specifically mentloned in connection with other MKULIRA
s'ubpro,je.:‘t;s. In gensrsl, the research effort under this su'npro;jeci:. -
will continue along ‘t.he lines laid down ic previous years. Thess -
involve the‘ aynthesis snd pharmecoioglerl and cliniesl eva.luatic;n o
ecompeunds of those chemical families kaown +o have application In the
paychochemical and "K" fialds. During the coming year it is planned
to coneentrate more directly on the mre nractical aspects of the
"mockout” problem. Enough pew potent substsnces have become avallable
lately to make such & chenge in-ewpbasis worthwsile. In commection
with this change it should be moted 3bat certain findings made In

< SRR rroject at@which canngt e further exploited at

B that facility will ve pursued st EEENSEN in the future, For this _
reason it may bel necessery t¢ supplement the frd':n.t.'lif..tlgaj of thisz subproject :
frem time. +0 time during the year due to incresses of seope.

Fa 2. malsc serves as a gemeral consultant to the

Agency, providas services of a aensiti:.re pature cno en ad noc tasis,

ard serves as a cutout in procuresment problems.
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3. The totel ccat af this project for a Pperdcd of ong y=ar will

. : . H
not exceed $50,000.00. Charges should be made against Allotment

2125-1390-3502, ) I -
_ % Lag been requested to subamit a summary -

i .
accounting or & copy of the Fund's annusl audlt report for the

sponsor's inspecticn. Also, it has been requested that any unexpended

funds shall be returned to the Agency.

i

5. ‘Title t0 any permanent equiprent purchased by funds grented

N shell be retained by T, s e e A T

in 1ieu of higher overhead rates.

6. It was mutually agrecd that dccumentatior and acccunting for

ST travél expenses which are normally reimbursable by josekiEs

shall conforn with the accepted practices of the Fund.
- - ’

T ' ' Chief
) TSD/Reseerch Braanch

APPROVED FOR OBLIGATION oF FUNDS:
) -

. 32 = 3 ﬁ,—
T .es brecr ' N d
Date :_'-_-'.ﬁ*:;'-'_" '
ttachment: Proposal and Budget o }

Distritution: Original enly .
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i

s
o 4!
i

DRAFT N RCCa

e

24 January 1364/ P

NEMORANDUM FOR : THE RECORD

SUBJECT : MKULTRA, Subproject 149
. . ] o e &5, :
1, This subprojsct ig being established for the purpose .;!°/
. s ol S ._f
of supporting realistic tests of certyin development items and
_——— . 7 . 7 ;

Jima]

delivery systems of interest to TSD/BB.

2, During the course of de%eiopment it is sometimes

foqgﬁ_thaﬁlcertaih very necessary experimeﬁts or tests are ﬁpf
suited to ordinary laboratory facilities. At the same timé,
it would be difficult if ﬁot impossille to conduct such tests
as coperatigazl field tests. This preoject is designed to pro-
vide a ecapability and facilities to fill this intermediate
requirement, : —

3, The‘acti§ities under this subproject will be con-

an individual in the impart and (:, -

ducted by Mr.

export business, in BT  Nr. AU holds 2 TOP - -
SECRET Treasury Department cleafiicg and a SECRET Agency ' g
approval, He is completély witting of %he zims and goals 5f =
his activities. _

C:_ 4, AMr, f B possesses unigue facilities and personai Tz
abilities-which makes him invaluable in this kind of festing
operntién, M. beecause of_his péculiaxmialenishand [ —
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o

capabilities as well, as his excellent connections with all of

the local law enforcelent agencies, w:.ll prov1de a unique and

essent1a1 capabll:.ty. Beca.use Mr, mls no longer re-C_,
sident of the g

area, it is pecessary that a
suitable replacement be provided in order that a capability

for continuance of cur activities be maintained.

5, The estimaied cost of the preoject is $10,000,C0 for
a period of one year, Charges should be made against Allotment

Number £125-1350-390Z2. Reimbursement will be made for services

.rendered, e e C S e

6. Accounting for funds advanced and any equipment under

thls»suLprOJect w111 he in accordance with aCCOLntlng p“oce-

ures established by uhe*:r‘

7. A memorandum of agreement along lines estazb

previous audit recommendations in like situations will be

A

executed,.

Diztribution:
Original only
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SUBJECT: Reguest for Support of Research on the Mechanism of Brain Concussion

1. This is a requést for financial support for researchn on the mechanism of
brain concussion for the period i Feb 1956 to 1 Feb 1957.

2. The resonance—can‘catioﬂ theory upon which this research ,.s to bs based
6 has been presented in the propesal submitted to thereny S
E dated 27 March 1984, il

J. The program as originally submitted estimated the duration of the program
to be from three to five yesars reguesiing a tetal of $72,109 for the initial
year., . .

a3 reduced budget was submitted.

amounting to $24,925, was then awarded to the
e Lo support this program from 1 Feb 1955

6. The progress made to dat.e under the c.bOVE contract can be surmarized as

follous:
 A. RESEARCH F.&CiLITm
( ’ The following research facilities have been established Ffor the
.,nvest*.ga‘t,.on of the very diverse aspects of the problems teing
i -s‘f:.ud:l.e -

1 of 2500 square fest of laboratory and office sgpace
ecuippad with muack of the diversified machirnery and apparatus
pecessary for rescarch in this fisld. '

b. Blast Bzngs ' i -
A blast range hsg been established ats & located
s +
approximately ¢ of the main laboratory. This
area is ovined b—_,r the and is closed to the publie,

hman cadavers.

WARMIN M

( NS EITE LLIGENCE .
J,g eSmrD METHZDS m"c' VED . )
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B. PERSONNEL - - ST e
Both full-time techrical personnel and part-time professional
research personnel have been acguired and :.ndoctr:.na‘ted relative
to their specifie function, :

G. TECHNIGAL PROGRESS N

Followmcr is the technlcal progress made u.nder the current
oy contractz .

i

. i . -
a, Speeialized instrumentation and numercus testing technigues
have been develcoped to obtain the desired dymamic data.

b. Considerable data has now been ckbtained supporting the
resonance-cavitation theory of brain concussion.

¢. Preliminary acceleration threshold data hes been obtained
for a fluid-filled glass simulated skull,

d. Data pas been cbtained on the natqre and the magnitude ‘of -
" pressura fluctuations within a glass simulated skull subject
. ta eitb.=r j_z-lpact or sound waves propagated in air,

o. Initi al studies have 'been made on the similated glass 3kul7
' attenpting to establish the cawvitation patterns for varicus

types of impact.

7- The proposed method and progream plan remain the same as stated in the
original proposal, except for the temporary deletion of the irmersion

blast stucly

8. The current level of activity on this pfoject can be indicated by the
mast recent billing to the% for the month of Hoverbier, which amounted
to $4, 034 &1, C - :

9. In the interest of efficiency and econemy it is requested that at least
this level of activity be maintained for the coming year,

|.L”G1-_ ICE
b METHODS IRVOLVED

—— . —
—_—
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-—'_'__mmnn. am:mr;um o s nmmu: Finplioe ;
Trotter. W. defines brain concussion a8  "an essentially
translent. state due to head injury which is of instantanious
onset, manifests widespread symptoms of purely paralytic
kind, does not as such comprise any evidence of struecturzl
caerebral injury, and is alweys followed by amnesia for the
actual moment of the sccident,m -

TN e

10,2 The impliecation of the underlined portion of the sbove statement
is that if a technique were devised to induce brain coneuwssion
without giving either advance warning eor causing external physical
trauma, the person upon recovery would bs unable to recall what
had happened to him, Undsr these conditicns the same technigue
of preducing the concussion could be reuused many times without
diselosure of its pature.

10.3 First, considering the possibilities of direct impact to the
head or body, it should be possible. from the findings of this
research program to determine the following:

: a, Optimum desizn of impacting devices. .

b. Optimun points of impact on skull or body

for the specific effects desired.
c. Intensity of the blow for the effect desired.
" + .
10.% TIn regard to the potential impacting devices, thers are certain
design requsitessthat are apparent at this time: .

a, The impzact should be delivered Witbout
advance warning.

b..The area of impact and force distribution
should be such that surface trauma does
not occur,

¢. The intensity of the 1npac+:.nrr force and
its durztion should be such as to obtain
the desired effect.

d. The device should be as small’ and as silent
as possible., .

10.5 The specific impacting de:lces ngh‘ ta¥e the form of any of

the following:
a. & pancake type black-jack giving a high peak
impact forece with a low unit surface pressure.

b. Concealed or camouflaged spring-leaded impzeting
devices that trigger upen contzet with the head,

(Original and sola copy :aqm)
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el ... e A Projectile t¥De impactar aitah an oA
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uaing a small shot fillied sack fox a p:-oja‘::‘;.gla.
. - } E

d. An explosive pad detonated in contact with the
head or the body.

- _'E
10.6 Let us now consider the possibilities of exciting the rasonance
cavitation directly without impact., There is copnsidersble evidence
that resonance cavitation can be induced directly in the following
WEYS 2 ' i
a. A blast wave propagated in air, (Blast Concussion)
b. Physical excitation with a mechanical driver
or horn, tuned to the resomant frequency of
the head. . i
10.7 A single blast pressure wave propagated 1n alr must have considerable
intensity in order to preduce brain concussion, howaver, there is
considerable evidence (Carver & Dinsley) that medification of the
pressure wave can produce profound effacts. -

50.8 Excitation of tHe rescnance cavitation by using 2 tuned driver
at this time appears to be well within the reim of possibility.
The neurotic-liks manifestations normally assoclated with blast
concussion couid possibly be induced by this method., Use of
this metnod,however, would require actual physical contact with
the 4rivers. " .

10.9 Excitation of the rescnance cavitzilon by tuned sournd waves also
appears to be a rzasonable possibility, Corcentration of the sound-
rield at some remote point could be effected with accoustical lenses
‘and reflectors. The blast duration would be in the order of a
tenth of & second, Masking of a noise of this duraticn should not
be too dificult. . :

11.0 Tt would pessibly be advantageous to establish the effectivness
of both.of. the above methods as a tool in brain-wash therapy.
A FTull knowiedge of the methed and the rgsulting sequela snould be
of aid to any person forced to submit to sach treatment.

12.0 Possibly the most significant potential aspect of this study would
te in the development of practieal means of giving & person lmmunity,
even though temporary, to brain concussion. One techrnique that appears
to have potentialities involves the intreduction of a small quantity
of gas, approximately 1 ce, into the spinal cord. This gas bubble
would thenm normally migrate to the ventiricles loceted ot the cenirun
of the-brain., The ability of this bubble to expand ander dyramnic
lezding would be most effeclive in prevéfiiting rasonance gavitation

Irom ocouring. .
3

{Original and sole copy :agm)
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MATERIAL FOR THE RECORD
MKSEARCH. OFTEN/CHICKWIT

MKSEARCIH was the name given to the continuation of the MKULTRA pro-
gram. Funding commenced in FY 1966, and ended in FY 1972, Its purpose was to
develop, test, and evaluate capabilities in the covert use of biclogieal, chemical,
and radioactive material systems and techniiues for producing predictable human
hehavioral and/or physiological changes in support of highly sensifive operational
requirements. .

OFTEN/CHICEWIT

In 1967 the Office of Research and Development (ORD) and the Edgewood
Arsenal Research Laboratories undertook a program for doing research on the
identification and characterization of drugs that could infiuence human hehavior.
Rdgewood had the facilities for the full range of laboratory and clinical testing.
A phased program was envisioned that would consist of acquisition of drugs and
chemical compounds believed to have effects on the behavior of humans, and
testing and evaluating these materials fhrough laboratory procedures and toxi-
cological studies. Compounds helieved promising as a result of tests on animals
were then to be evaluated elinieally with human suhjects at Edgewood. Substances
of potential use would then be analyzed structurally as a basis for jdentifying and
synthesizing possible new derivatives of greater utility.

The program was divided into two projects. I'roject OFTEN was to deal with
testing the toxicological, transmisivity and behavioral effects of drugs in animals
and, ultimately, humans, Project CHICKWIT was coneerned-with acquiring infor-
mation on new driug developments in ¥urope and the Ovient, and with acquiring
samples.

There is a discrepancy between the testimony of DOD and CIA regarding the
testing at Edgewood Arsenal in June 1973. While there is agreement that human
testing occurred at that place and time, there is disagreement as to who was
responsible for financing and sponsorship. (See hearings before the Bubcommitiee
on Health and Seientific Research of the Senate Human Resources Committee,
September 21, 1977.)
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THE DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL WNTELLIGENCE

WASHINGTON, D. C. 20505

Office of Legislative Counsel 2% Bacember 1977

Honerable Daniel XK. Inouye, Chairman
Select Committee on Intelligence
United States Senate

Washington, D.C, 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

During Admiral Turner's 3 August 1877 testimony
before your Committee and the Senate Human Resources
Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research, vou asked
whether any Agency employees had been terminated because of
their participation in MKULTRA Subproject 3. Admiral
Turner indicated he did not believe any employee had
been terminated, but would have Agency records searched
on this question. OQur records have been searched and the
results confirm the Director's testimony that no such
actions were taken.

1ncerely,

Geoééi L. Car;Ej

egislative Counsel
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QKHILLTOP DEFINITION

QKHILLTOP was a eryptonym assigned in 1954 to a project to study Chinese
Communist brainwashing technigques and'to develop interrogation technigues.
Most of the early studies are believed to have been conducted by the Cornell
University Medical School Human Ecology Study Programs. The effort was
ahsorbed into the MKULTRA program and the QKHILLTOP cryptonym hecame
obsolete, The Society for the investigation of Human Eeology, later the Human
Bceology Fund, was an outgrowth of the QKHILLTOP.



